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RESPONDING TO THE DRUG CRISIS IN
NORTHERN CALIFORNIA

MONDAY, MARCH 6, 2000

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON CRIMINAL JUSTICE, DRUG PoOLICY,
AND HUMAN RESOURCES,
COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT REFORM,
Woodland, CA.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9 a.m., in the Yolo
County Board Chambers, 625 Court Street, room 206, Woodland,
CA, Hon. John L. Mica (chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Representatives Mica and Ose.

Also present: Representative Herger.

Staff present: Sharon Pinkerton, staff director and chief counsel,
and Mason Alinger, professional staff member.

Mr. Mica. I would like to call this hearing of this Subcommittee
on Criminal Justice, Drug Policy, and Human Resources to order.

Good morning. I am John Mica, chairman of the subcommittee,
which is a subcommittee within the Government Reform Commit-
tee of the House of Representatives. We are in California today,
and appearing here with this hearing at the request of Congress-
man Doug Ose, who is one of the most active members on our sub-
committee and the Government Reform Committee, and has been
a leader in attempting to help us develop a strategic and effective
national drug policy.

I was speaking with one of the supervisors just before we began
started today, and he was telling me that this area has had signifi-
cant problems with illegal narcotics, just like the rest of the coun-
try. My area, which is central Florida, has had a record number of
heroin overdose deaths, primarily with the young people.

In fact, a recent headline in our newspaper proclaimed that her-
oin overdose deaths now exceed homicides in central Florida. And
I know this area has been hit by its own unique problems with ille-
gal narcotics, and hopefully our subcommittee, through Representa-
tives Ose and others’ efforts, can assist us in responding and work-
ing with the local and State officials in doing a better job with this
horrible problem.

This is an investigations and oversight subcommittee of the U.S.
House of Representatives. Our format for this hearing will follow
our Washington format. We will have opening statements by Mem-
bers, and they will be recognized. We then will have today two pan-
els. We will hear from all of the witnesses on the first panel and
then have a round of questions, and then will go to the second
panel and do the same. That will be the order of business today.
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I will start with my opening statement and then yield to commit-
tee members. Our subcommittee is conducting this oversight field
hearing as part of our need to understand fully our Nation’s drug
crisis and how it impacts different parts of our Nation, and what
effective drug control efforts are underway, and which of these
should be supported by Congress.

Today, we will learn about the impact of the manufacture, use
and trafficking of illegal drugs in northern California. We are privi-
leged to have with us today congressional leaders who strongly
support efforts to protect our communities from the ravages of ille-
gal narcotics. As I said, I know that Mr. Ose, who invited us to this
community, and who is a member of our subcommittee, has been
very active in our subcommittee drug control oversight and policy
issues.

We also are very privileged to have with us Mr. Wally Herger.
I believe he is a member of the Ways and Means and Budget Com-
mittee of the House of Representatives from the neighboring dis-
trict just, I believe, north of here. And I want to thank him for his
continued efforts to ensure that the drug problems of north Califor-
nia are efficiently and effectively addressed.

I wish to thank all of the Members and participants for their
presence here today. Mr. Souder has come from Indiana. He is also
a member of our subcommittee. I welcome and thank him. I appre-
ciate your dedication to this issue, which is of critical importance
to our Nation.

We are very honored to have testifying before us today a number
of regional and local officials and citizens who are actively engaged
in responding to the drug crisis and the terrible consequences of
this epidemic on a daily basis. These individuals serve on the front
line. They are preventing drug abuse in our schools and commu-
nities. They are enforcing our laws and are most in need of our ef-
fective and efficient support in the systems.

This subcommittee is particularly interested in how communities
and regions are dealing with the critical responsibilities of imple-
menting successfully not just the Federal, but our national drug
control strategy. After all, law enforcement and drug control are
primarily State and local responsibilities. In Congress, we try to
ensure that the Federal Government is doing everything possible
to assist you, both in reducing the supply of drugs in our commu-
nities as well as the demand for drugs in our communities.

In a recent hearing of the subcommittee, we learned that the es-
timates of Americans in need of drug treatment range from 4.4 to
8.9 million. Yet, less than 2 million people have reportedly received
treatment. It is our intention to see that this gap is addressed. Our
subcommittee will continue its oversight in this area and seek to
improve our Federal programs that support both State and local
drug treatment prevention efforts.

Today, we are focusing on regional challenges and threats facing
northern California. As we will hear, illegal drug production, use
and trafficking pose special dangers and challenges to schools and
communities and law enforcement and public officials in this area.

This region of California continues to be a primary manufactur-
ing, distribution and consumption area for methamphetamine. But
in the last several years, this area has experienced dramatic in-
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creases in the number and scale of clandestine methamphetamine
manufacturing labs. These labs are operated by multi-drug traffick-
ing organizations we know that are based in Mexico, but which
now infest many areas of California. These organizations tend to
locate their labs and so-called super labs in close proximity to the
State’s precursor chemical supply and also closely located to the
companies that produce this on the major interstate highways in-
cluding California’s Interstate 5 and Highway 99.

Large scale sophisticated methamphetamine labs are set up long
in advance of use, are well concealed, heavily guarded, and can
produce from 20 to 200 pounds of high purity product per cooking
cycle. In response to this growing methamphetamine problem as
well as continuing problems with a host of other illegal drugs, part
of central California has been designated by the White House Na-
tional Drug Control Policy as a High Intensity Drug Trafficking
Area, commonly referred to as HIDTA. Under Federal law and ei-
ther designation by Federal legislation, specific legislation, or
under a general law, an area can request and become part of a
High Intensity Drug Traffic Area, which makes it eligible for sub-
stantial Federal assistance and better coordination of antinarcotics
efforts.

Our subcommittee is responsible for authorizing and overseeing
the Office of National Drug Control Policy and the HIDTA Pro-
gram. Today, we will learn more about the effectiveness of the
neighboring HIDTA, which covers nine counties, including what
progress the HIDTA has made in combating drugs in this area, and
how it may help others in northern California even more.

I applaud the continuing dedication and professionalism of our
witnesses today, and their willingness to share their ideas and
needs with us. I can assure you that this subcommittee and your
local representatives here today will do everything possible to as-
sist you in ridding your communities of these deadly menaces, and
in fact doing everything they can to protect your loved ones.

We all recognize that this drug crisis demands full utilization of
available resources in close cooperation and a comprehensive re-
gional approach. After all, that is what HIDTA’s are designed to do,
and it is our job and responsibility in Congress to monitor and en-
sure their success. If obstacles are identified, then we must move
decisively to overcome them. This community and this region of
California and this Nation cannot afford to wait or delay. The drug
crisis demands promising approaches and decisive action, and the
time to act is now.

I want to thank all of our witnesses for appearing before us
today, particularly again I thank Mr. Ose for requesting this and
for his tremendous service on our subcommittee, not only as a local
and regional leader in this issue, but a national leader who I have
counted on as a close ally as chair of this subcommittee.

So with those comments, I am pleased now to yield to the gen-
tleman from California, our host here, Mr. Ose.

Mr. Osk. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. First let me express my ap-
preciation to you for coming out here. I know that you have prob-
ably endless demands on your time, and for you to take the oppor-
tunity to come is something that we all appreciate here in the 3rd
District. Your leadership, as you very briefly covered in your open-
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ing remarks, is remarkable. You picked up where Danny Hastert
had ended his service as chairman of this committee, and there has
been no drop in the intensity or continuity. I just want to make
sure that you understand that we all appreciate that.

I also want to make note of the hosts here. We have supervisor,
Tom Stollar, who joined us. The Yolo County’s Bill Oden has been
very kind in letting us convene here. Mayor Woodland is also with
us and Donald Soya is here. I appreciate your great hospitality.
One of Tom’s colleagues is in the back of the room. She is so quiet,
but she gets so much done. That is Lanelle Pollack in the back. So
thank you, all three of you. I also want to make mention of three
other people, a couple of whom will be testifying. We have three
sheriffs with us today. Clay Parker has come all the way down
from Tehema County, in the back. We have Jim Denney from the
Sutter County. And we have someone from Yolo County and Glenn
County in the back also. Gentlemen, I appreciate you guys coming.

I also want to extend my appreciation to Mr. Souder for traveling
all the way from Indiana. Mark is—you don’t see Mark in the
media or in the paper. He just gets stuff done. It is really a pleas-
ure to work with you. And my good friends from the north and
east, the gentlemen who plays the drum for us. That is Congress-
man Herger. You have some folks from Butte County here, and I
appreciate your taking the time to come down also.

Mr. Chairman, the reason I am focused on this is I am not quite
sure of a more pressing or compelling concern for which people run
for Congress than to try and find some means in bringing a meas-
ure of relief to this issue. Each year, drugs kill 15,000 Americans.
That is not our figures. Those are figures from Barry McCaffrey of
the ONDCP, the Office of National Drug Control Policy. 15,000
Americans are really dying of drugs every year. In every commu-
nity across America, there are drugs. We need to face up to it. They
are destroying our youth and our communities. They are derailing
academic achievement that we all so desperately want for your
children. They are breaking up families and these drugs are con-
tributing to crime.

In this region, the largest problem is methamphetamines. It re-
flects the excellent transportation corridors we have in the larger
rural areas that are immediately available to some of the cities.
Meth is particularly a dangerous drug with significant disastrous
side effects. Violent crime, domestic and child abuse, and interest-
ingly marked severe environmental damage are just a few of the
impacts that come from the production of methamphetamine. Lo-
cally or at least in this area, we have seen the effect of
methamphetamines here in the last few weeks. We had an instance
here—I meant to mention Dale back there, the chief of police here.
We had an instance here in Woodland with a tragic outcome traced
largely to drugs. We have a situation up in Shasta County that I
think Congressman Herger is more familiar with in terms of some-
one in a position of respect and trust that may be involved in dis-
tributing methamphetamines. I won’t even cite the name involved.

Today, I look forward to hearing from our witnesses. I know you
all took time out of a busy day to come down and visit with us. You
all have had first hand experience dealing with the challenges of
drugs amongst our youth and in society. I do appreciate it, because
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I know how hard it is to come out of your normal regime to come
over here and testify. This is an important hearing and I appre-
ciate you taking the time. With that, I will give it back to the
chairman.

Mr. MicA. I would like to yield to the gentleman from Indiana,
Mr. Souder, at this time.

Mr. SOUDER. I thank the chairman for holding this hearing, one
of the most valuable things we do in this committee and have been
doing over the last number of years. And we were concerned about
the lack of focus in Congress and oversight function on the anti-
drug issue. Chairman Mica and I have been involved in this, both
as staffers years ago on the Senate side, and then since the Repub-
licans took over the House and he in particular pushed for over-
sight hearings and getting out into the field. We have been down
in central Florida a number of times and in Dallas, TX after they
had a number of the heroin overdose problems there. Down in
Nogales and Phoenix, on the border there, and basically around the
country as well as the East and the Midwest. It helps not to just
hear and read in the paper in Washington. Congressman Ose and
Congressman Herger are going to aggressively advocate the Cali-
fornia interest. But to be here and hear firsthand in more detail.
Furthermore, we are not being buzzed to go running to 18 million
votes and hearings, so we can actually sit through and all be here
to listen and appreciate that. Congressman Ose has not only been
a leader in Washington in making sure that California is heard. He
went with the chairman and myself and some others down to South
America to look firsthand at where the cocaine and much of the
heroin and the hardcore marijuana was coming in. But as he and
I well know, in Indiana the interdiction efforts that have been so
destroyed over the last few years, which is why we saw the surge
in cocaine and heroin purity go up and the price go down—as we
get that up, methamphetamines are our grassroots threat all over
this country because it is something that can be done domestically.
Wherever you have national forests or wherever you have a lot of
open land, it is very easy to get the labs that produce and send to
the rest of the country. So it is good to be here focusing on that.

We also know that wherever you have HIDTA, that while the
focus is intense there, it spreads to the areas around that. In the
Midwest, I have Chicago and Detroit on each side and the more
pressure you put there, the more it squeezes out the counties
around that don’t necessarily have the manpower or the intensity
that you would have right in the heart of the HIDTA, and we have
to figure out how to not have it corrupt all the youth and the com-
munities around it as well. So we are looking at hearing that im-
pact here.

I also want to pay tribute to Congressman Herger, who thought
I was a little too conservative when I came to Congress, so he tried
to make me a little bit more moderate. But I really appreciate his
conservative Republican leadership in Washington in making our
conference. We work not only on the anti-drug issue, but a lot of
other issues of very much concern to the West. He has been one
of the leaders in our conference in trying to make us more aware
and more sensitive to Western concerns, and we appreciate that
very much.
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Mr. MicA. Thank you. Now I would like to recognize a gentleman
who is not a member of our subcommittee, but we are delighted to
have him here today. He has been a leader on this issue in the
Congress and a very good personal friend.

Mr. Herger, you are recognized.

Mr. HERGER. Chairman Mica, I want to join in thanking you for
leaving your Florida district and coming out

Mr. MicA. Where it is much warmer and sunnier.

Mr. HERGER. But coming here and having this hearing on this
incredibly and crucially important issue to those of us who live
here in northern California. Congressman Souder, I am not sure if
I ever thought you were too conservative. Actually, I think you
voted just right. But I thank you for your leadership, and again
journeying out here from Indiana. We are all very grateful to you.
And of course to my very good friend and colleague and my neigh-
bor, Congressman Doug Ose, thank you. You are, of course, the one
who talked to Chairman Mica and persuaded him to have this im-
portant hearing here which is so important to all of us here in
northern California. Thank you very much.

I, as many of you may know, represent 10 rural counties in
northern California directly north of here that border the Nevada
and Oregon border basically from Marysville, Grass Valley north.
And we would like to think that our beautiful, pristine commu-
nities in northern California did not have a problem with narcotics
or with illegal drugs, and specifically with methamphetamine,
which happens to be the drug of choice in our area. We wish that
were not the case. The fact is that it is. And one of the most impor-
tant reasons that it is so important to be having this hearing, this
congressional hearing here, is to make people aware of just how se-
rious this problem is even in our own beautiful, rural, pristine com-
munities. This is not just a problem of the inner city. It is not just
a problem of Los Angeles, New York, Chicago. This is a problem
even here in northern California. So I want to thank each of you,
particularly those who have come out from our counties here just
to the north, to help not only this committee, which ultimately will
give recommendations on hopefully expanding the HIDTA Program
into our other areas here in northern California, but also to the
Congress and also to our own communities of how serious this chal-
lenge is. So that we can all begin more working together unitedly
to take this incredible problem—take the bull by the horns and
begin to turn it around.

So with that, again I thank you, and I look forward to our wit-
nesses and to the hearing.

Mr. MicA. Thank you for your opening statement and comments
from all of our Members this morning. We are going to turn now
to our first panel of witnesses. The first panel is Ms. Raelyn
Ruppel. She is an El Dorado County resident. Dr. Jorge Ayala, su-
perintendent of the Yolo County Office of Education. Ms. Susan
Webber-Brown, coordinator of the Drug-Endangered Children Pro-
gram. And we have—is it Lieutenant Larry Saunders?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes.

Mr. MicA. And he is the tactical commander of the Narcotics
Gang Division. In a minute, I will yield to our members for intro-
duction of these individuals.
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Ladies and gentlemen, this is an investigations and oversight
subcommittee of Congress. In that capacity and for that respon-
sibility, we do swear in all of our witnesses. So if you would please
itan(il at this point. Please stand and be sworn. Raise your right

ands.

Do you solemnly swear that the testimony you are about to give
before this subcommittee of Congress is the whole truth and noth-
ing but the truth?

Witnesses answered in the affirmative.

I might also point out in addition to swearing our witnesses as
an investigative panel, we do have a procedural method that we
follow in conducting these hearings. We allow you approximately 5
minutes for your oral presentation. Upon request, we will by unani-
mous consent submit for the record, and it will be part of the
record in this congressional hearing, additional lengthy statement
and background material or data that you think is pertinent to the
hearing today. So that is how we will proceed as we begin. We will
also suspend questions until all of you have given your opening 5-
minute verbal testimony to this subcommittee.

At this point, for the purpose of introduction, let me yield to my
colleague, Mr. Ose. I think he is going to have some comments of
introduction on the witnesses. Mr. Ose?

Mr. OsE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am a little curious about
something. I saw a group of young people come in here. Is there
a high school civics class in the room? Welcome. I saw some sitting
here along the wall. I am very pleased to have you before our sub-
committee today, particularly the students. Hopefully, this will be
a good experience to see how the government does operate. Thank
you for coming.

First of all, I want to introduce Raelyn Ruppel, who is a former
user of some of the material we are going to be talking about. I
want to make sure she understands that we appreciate the chal-
lenge that you faced up to, and we welcome you today.

Dr. Ayala has been a good friend. He is the superintendent of
Yolo County Office of Education. He and I have visited a couple of
schools together and had the opportunity to interact with young
people across this history. He is responsible and has oversight—it
is interesting, everybody has got oversight here. We have oversight
at the national level. Dr. Ayala has oversight in terms of the coun-
ty school districts as well as the—you are involved with the Drug
Court Program too, if I am correct.

Dr. AYALA. To some degree.

Mr. OSE. Ms. Webber-Brown has come down from Butte County,
if I am correct.

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. That is correct.

Mr. OSE. She is actually a constituent of Wally’s. I am kind of
stealing your thunder here, Wally. She has some very striking tes-
timony, if you will, about the impact of drugs on young children in
particular. You have a video you are going to share with us?

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. Hopefully someone has it here.

Mr. Ost. OK. And the program that she runs, the Drug Endan-
gered Children’s Program, provides a comprehensive system to help
children who are basically existing within a drug environment. She
coordinates with law enforcement at both the State and local level,
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interacting with District Attorneys and fire departments and social
service agencies. So we certainly appreciate your coming.

My good friend Lieutenant Saunders from Sacramento. I cannot
say enough—I mean, I want to make sure I explain this correctly.
My interaction with the Sacramento County Sheriff's Department
has been remarkable. These are the people who put their lives on
the line every day. They go into situations to try and cure a prob-
lem that you and I would more than likely shrink from, and they
do it day after day after day. Lieutenant Saunders and his people
in the Narcotics Bureau are just doing a remarkable job, and I cer-
tainly appreciate it. I may have told you that Sheriff Blanas, who
is on his way—I don’t see him in the crowd. When he gets here I
want to—if he is able to join us, I want to make sure I recognize
him too. So, Larry, thank you.

Mr. SAUNDERS. Thank you.

Mr. Ose. With that, Mr. Chairman, I will give it back to you.

Mr. MicA. Thank you for the introductions. I would now like to
recognize our first witness this morning, and that is Ms. Raelyn
Ruppel, a resident of E1 Dorado County. Welcome.

STATEMENT OF RAELYN RUPPEL, EL DORADE COUNTY
RESIDENT

Ms. RuPPEL. Hi. My name is Raelyn Ruppel, and I am 19 years
old. I have been in recovery since February of-

Mr. MicA. Ms. Ruppel, you might pull that microphone just a lit-
tle bit in your direction. Thank you so much.

Ms. RUPPEL. I have been in recovery since February 1997. I am
16 months clean and sober. I started drinking in eighth grade
when I was 13 years old. Alcohol was easy to get, because I stole
it either from my parents or from my friends’ parents. I had older
friends who would also buy it for me. I could also buy it from the
liquor store off Madison Avenue in Orangevale. They never asked
for ID from anyone.

I got into drugs in my junior year at Oakridge High School in
El Dorado Hills. I smoked pot and did acid a few times. I could get
drugs every day at any time. I bought it at school on a daily basis
from people I knew who dealt. It was incredibly easy to buy drugs
at Oakridge. Just look around the quad, find the guy, walk over
and hand him money, and he slips you a bag.
| Smoking weed became an everyday occurrence for me very quick-
y

I started getting in trouble from school authorities and from my
parents on a regular basis. I also started getting incredibly de-
pressed, to the point of being suicidal. My parents started sending
me to a therapist and they got my school counselor involved be-
cause at this point I was failing my junior year. I was diagnosed
as being clinically depressed. I was prescribed Prozac and started
taking that on top of all the drugs and alcohol I was already con-
suming.

I was put into a special program at school for emotionally dis-
turbed kids, and this enabled me to get rid of a bunch of detentions
and Saturday schools that I had accumulated. I was able to change
my classes into easier ones and erase all of my failing grades.
Being labeled as clinically depressed, I had an excuse for all of my
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out-of-control behavior. I never related what was happening in my
life to my drug use. Nobody knew about my drug use, and they
never pushed the issue because we had an answer to the problem.
I had clinical depression.

I kept doing drugs and I kept getting worse. One day, I tried to
commit suicide. A friend called the cops and I was taken to Herit-
age Oaks Mental Hospital in Sacramento. There, I was diagnosed
as being bipolar. My parents transferred me from there to a rehab
in San Diego called Vista. It was there that I was introduced to Al-
coholics Anonymous and Narcotics Anonymous. I stayed in that
rehab for about 2%2 months. I turned 17 there. I came home and
went to AA and 4 months later I relapsed. I had known some peo-
ple in AA who had gone to treatment at this place called the Mes-
senger Clinic. I decided to go there because I knew I needed some-
thing more than just AA and NA. My parents paid for it, and I
went for 2 years from September 1997 until I graduated in August
1999. I went 4 nights a week for 3 hours a night, Monday through
Thursday.

The director of the clinic, Tom Hills, suggested that I might not
be bipolar. He urged me and my parents to get me off all the medi-
cations I had been taking. I got off all the medications I was taking
and I was fine. I was misdiagnosed as being bipolar. I did not have
that disease at all. The bottom line is I am just a drug addict. I
had been taking all sorts of medications that I never needed. I have
seen this a lot in addicts and alcoholics being diagnosed with men-
tal disorders that they do not have, all because society would rath-
er have someone be bipolar or have depression than be addicted to
crank or heroin or marijuana. It is more socially accepted.

I had been at the clinic for 6%2 months when I relapsed again.
I relapsed with a friend of mine that was also attending the clinic.
This time I started doing crank. Crank was also easy to get. My
friend had friends who dealt it. One phone call and about 30 min-
utes to an hour later and we would have a sack. I could get it
whenever and as much as I wanted. It was so easy that one time
my friend and I were calling our dealer from a pay phone in Rose-
ville and this guy overheard us talking about drugs. He asked us
if we were looking for coke, and I said, no, crank. He told me he
knew a house where they sold it and he got in my car and took
us there. I bought $100 worth of crank that night.

My friend and I ran away that night and went to Bakersfield. My
friend used to live there and she had a few connections down there.
Not knowing the town, I could still just as easily as if I were at
home get drugs. Anything I wanted from pot to prescription pills
to acid to heroin I could get. I stayed down there for a week and
came back home. I got back into the clinic in recovery.

I relapsed one more time, 6%2 months later. This time I started
doing coke. A friend of mine knew some coke dealers and we
dropped by their house and got hooked up. Coke was as easy to get
as any of the other drugs I had ever done. Another example of the
accessibility teenagers have to get alcohol is this. One night, my
friend and I drove to a bar and my friend talked to some guy who
was totally drunk and told him we would give him a couple of
beers if he would come with us to 7-11 and buy us alcohol. The
guy got in the car, we drove to 7-11 and he bought us a couple of
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12 packs. We gave him two beers and drove him back to the bar
and we were set for the night.

About a week later, I got back in recovery and have been clean
and sober ever since. That was October 24, 1998. I was able to get
treatment for my disease pretty easily. I had parents who were
willing to pay for it. It is not that easy for a lot of people. I mean,
there are quite a few treatment facilities in the Sacramento area,
but only a handful that are really good. But they all cost a lot of
money. If you do not have money or health insurance that will
cover it, you have only one resource, AA and NA. Don’t get me
wrong, AA will work. But the thing is, I am a chronic relapser. I
needed more of a strong foundation and intensive treatment than
AA has to offer. AA is what I do to stay sober now, but the Mes-
senger Clinic is what gave me my foundation.

Staying in recovery is not always an easy thing. I have had a
pretty difficult life for the last 16 months. I had two roommates
who went back to using while they were living with me, and I
ended up having to kick them out. My mom was diagnosed with
cancer a little over 2 years ago, and 2 months ago she passed away.
I have stayed sober through her being very sick and her dying. Re-
covery has been the best thing that has ever happened to me and
the greatest accomplishment. Many addicts and alcoholics do not
make it. They die out there. I just happen to be one of the chosen
ones. Thank you.

Mr. Mica. Thank you for your testimony, Ms. Ruppel. I would
like to now turn to Dr. Jorge Ayala, who is superintendent of the
Yolo County Office of Education. Welcome and you are recognized.

STATEMENT OF DR. JORGE AYALA, SUPERINTENDENT, YOLO
COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION

Mr. AvAaLA. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the com-
mittee. Thank you for the opportunity to address this congressional
field hearing on drug trafficking, interdiction efforts and efforts to
reduce drug abuse among teenagers. On behalf of the Yolo County
Office of Education and the Education System in Yolo County, I
want to welcome you to our community and to thank you for your
commitment to and interest in this subject of primary importance
to all of us.

As a lifelong educator, teacher, vice principal and principal and
now superintendent, I will focus my remarks on drug use among
the young. With more than 20 years of experience in our public
schools, I have seen firsthand the damaging effects of drugs and al-
cohol abuse among our young people.

Two factors have remained constant. Drug use among youth as
a trend has not significantly diminished despite the good intentions
and funding of any number of programs. If anything, the problem
has become worse. And two, the deleterious impact on the lives of
young people and their families has proven time and time again to
be damaging, destructive and at times deadly. Studies on domestic
violence, teen suicide and juvenile crime draw parallel conclusions.
Ironically and sadly, our Nation mourns the death of one young
first grader in a related situation in Michigan. One lost her life and
the other is scarred for life.
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I will summarize in three sentences what I am going to speak
about. We need to have comprehensive and sustained programs
that address the child’s developmental stages, culture and gender.
Programs that are monitored for continuity and connectivity that
incorporate the family. Drug and alcohol abuse and use are most
often symptoms of deeper problems rooted in a lack of self esteem,
dysfunctional family environments, peer group influence, and inap-
propriate societal pressures, including the mass media. Because of
the clear relationship between drug and alcohol abuse and other
factors in a child’s life, it is essential to select methods of preven-
tion, intervention and treatment that are holistic in nature and
provide a child with tools necessary to resist destructive impulses
and behaviors. Part of the selection process should be to mesh pre-
vention and treatment agencies and strategies with development
stages, culture and gender of a child.

The DARE Program, which is Drug Abuse Resistance Education,
is primarily in the elementary level. Beyond the elementary level,
there is a patchwork of different programs that are available with-
in Yolo County through the State.

But consider some of the evidence. Teen focus groups in Yolo
County recently identified drug and alcohol abuse as the greatest
problem facing local youth. A local Healthstart grant survey re-
cently identified drug and alcohol programs for teens as a primary
issue. The California Safe Schools Assessment recently published
by the California Department of Education demonstrates the cor-
relation between substance abuse and age.

But what about our adolescents? What happens after the pri-
mary grades? We have State of California requirements which are
providing different programs to bring drug awareness to ninth
grade primarily. Beyond that, we have a hodgepodge of different
programs. We have the Friday Night Live Program, which has suf-
fered from erratic program quality and is now almost non-existent.
We have Every Fifteen Minutes by the California Highway Patrol
which focuses primarily on teenage drinking and driving.

Youth in Conflict courses at Woodland High School are vol-
untary. Woodland Reaching Out and Karing, called WROK locally,
is an excellent program, but it is small in nature, 130 students per
year. It does bring in the family, which is important to any drug
rehabilitation. The counselor has found that when kids suffer se-
vere and direct penalties from their first offense and subsequent
interventions, this can significantly have positive results reaching
nearly a 90 percent success rate. However, the same counselor re-
ports that increases in drug referrals have been paced by increases
in the tolerance level of such behaviors. Amazingly, much of the
tolerance resides in the child’s home atmosphere, where parents
often look the other way as the child indulges in alcohol and other
drug use. This lack of support undermines programs in schools.
Zero tolerance policies at school are often marred with inconsist-
encies and lack of alternatives for behavior changes.

We do have at the Yolo County Office of Education, in conjunc-
tion with the courts here in Yolo County, the Drug Court Program,
in which students are directed to take specific courses in drug pre-
vention. We have the Yolo Youth Academy, which is a partnership
with the National Guard in which students participate in a variety
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of different activities, not necessarily directed to drug prevention.
We are able to connect with youth.

There is a multitude of remaining programs that exist, a patch-
work in fashion. Tracking their success rate is difficult because
there is no logical interface between them and school, and there ap-
pears to be virtually no outreach that is conducted in a systematic
fashion for teens.

Minority youth are disproportionately the majority in alternative
schools, handed harsher sentences and dealt different consequences
for the same offenses, meaning the school and community systems
are not reaching these youth.

There are community service programs. The Woodland Police De-
partment has a diversion program which is in place today.

Recommendations. I have 14 listed in my document. I am not
going to go over the 14, but I would like to highlight 3.

Bring into the home prevention strategies and emphasize the
need for everyone in the family to avoid substance abuse. Rely on
comprehensive approaches that recognize the interrelationship be-
tween substance abuse and other issues in the child’s family. Effec-
tive methods would include a combination of information, skill de-
velopment, community service, an emphasis on academic progress
and achievement, mentoring, intervention and counseling.

There is a use of overlap of approaches. Universal, those that
reach the general population. Selective, those that specifically tar-
get at-risk kids. Indicated, those that are designed for youth al-
ready engaged in substance abuse or indulging in risky behavior.

Obviously, any approach or initiative will take a sustainable
commitment of time and dollars to be truly effective. Where we
spend our money dictates our priorities. Fortunately, in this chaotic
sea of modern life, there are many children who acquire the resil-
iency characteristics that allow them to wedge through these com-
plexities into healthy, balanced and successful adulthood. What are
these characteristics and how can we capitalize on the influence?
We do have that knowledge. Creative, relevant and safe structures
are needed to connect with all youth, especially the high risk chil-
dren. Strategies must be flexible and have high and doable expecta-
tions. We must generate results from a small to large scale. We
must apply some intensive services with differentiated approaches
tailored to the child’s strengths and needs.

We know what doesn’t work. We have scientific knowledge for
what can work. By working together, we can make real progress
on an issue that should be foremost on our national agenda. If chil-
dren are our greatest asset, then why is the funding not there to
save them. I encourage you to act in the interest of our youth, in
the interest of our families, and in the interest of our Nation.

Thank you.

Mr. MicA. Thank you for your testimony.

Now I would like to recognize Ms. Susan Webber-Brown, the co-
ordinator for the Drug Endangered Children Program. Welcome
and you are recognized.
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STATEMENT OF MS. WEBBER-BROWN, COORDINATOR, DRUG-
ENDANGERED CHILDREN PROGRAM

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. Thank you. Thank you for inviting me to
speak at this very important hearing. I have been a DA investiga-
tor for 17 years, for the past 9 years on a special assignment as
a detective with the Butte Interagency Narcotics Task Force. Dur-
ing this time, I have participated in over 200 meth labs investiga-
tions and arrested hundreds of persons for meth related violations.
This testimony is a summary of the detailed statement you have
before you.

You have very knowledgeable experts here today who will each
tell you of the methamphetamine plague in the North State. They
will say it is an insidious drug that is taking over the country.
They will state that over 80 percent of the crime rate involves
methamphetamine, and there are thousands of users, distributors
and manufacturers who go undetected or who repeat a criminal be-
havior upon release from jail, and they are right.

What I am here to talk to you about are the children, from new-
born to teens, who have been lost in this country’s drug epidemic.
In particular, I am speaking of the children that are found by law
enforcement at the scene of a drug house or meth lab who have
never been recognized as the true victims of this drug war. For
years, children have been overlooked as victims and simply dis-
carded as an inconvenience to deal with. Generally when law en-
forcement were at the scene of a drug raid and children were dis-
covered, they would simply be viewed as a hindrance by those offi-
cer attempting to deal with arresting and incarcerating their par-
ents. It was and still is to a great degree easier for the officers to
give the children to a neighbor, relative or friend.

When first assigned to the task force, I would see children living
in homes with drugs and needles and syringes lying about, no food
in the house, dog feces everywhere, and oftentimes numerous con-
tainers of hazardous chemicals used in the manufacturing of meth-
amphetamine. All over the State, children who are virtually eating,
sleeping and playing in a meth lab are left unattended with no con-
cer;ln for their medical or psychological needs. No risk assessment
is done.

In 1993, the Butte Interagency Narcotics Task Force took a bold
step forward in dealing with children from drug homes and labs.
As a matter of protocol, we started a program which was later
named the D.E.C. Program for Drug Endangered Children. This is
a multi-agency team to ensure the safety and well-being of drug-
endangered children. Simply, the narcotics unit has a CPS worker
and part-time deputy district attorney assigned to the team.

In a county where the seizure of meth labs has increased from
23 labs in 1993 to 45 labs seized in 1999, per capita we rank each
year in the top three counties statewide for lab seizures. Of the
more than 601 children we have detained, 162 of those children
were removed from meth labs. In November 1994, we began obtain-
ing urine screens obtained on all children detained from drug
homes; 14 children tested positive for methamphetamine during an
18-month time period; 8 of those kids, and the remaining 6 were
from secondhand meth smoke.
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From the start of the D.E.C. Program, our goals have been to
rescue children from unsafe environments, improve the safety and
health of drug-exposed children by providing appropriate services,
hold parents accountable for their actions, improve the community
response to these children, and establish a consistent response
from law enforcement and Social Services. With the exception of
Butte County, the concept of children as victims of the meth-
amphetamine epidemic was not addressed until 1997, when the Of-
fice of Criminal Justice and Planning issued grants to four counties
to implement the D.E.C. Program modeled after Butte. In May
1999, three additional counties were funded for a total of seven
funded D.E.C. response teams. They are Butte, Los Angeles, Or-
ange, Riverside, San Diego, San Bernadino and Shasta. And of par-
ticular note, these grant funds enable one team in each county to
work D.E.C. cases, but those funds are not sufficient to adequately
address the problem. And these grant funds terminate September
30, 2000, this year, with no anticipated continued funding.

The life of a drug-endangered child, of the 600 children’s names
and faces that I have seen, all are different. But each story is the
same. One would think that 9 years later with hundreds of sus-
pects arrested and countless doors kicked in and the writing of
thousands of reports that I would grow callous. But upon entering
the bad guy’s house again and seeing those small round innocent
eyes look up at me saying finally someone came to save me, I turn
to marshmallow. I don’t have to make up stories or use the same
photographs or tell the worst of the worst. They are all bad. The
yard is covered with garbage, old bicycles, toys and rusted car
parts. Three or four dogs run into the house or aggressively ap-
proach. Inside, the house is dark with no electricity. The stench of
rotten food, animal urine and feces and soiled diapers permeate the
house. Chemical odors irritate my nose and eyes. We fumble down
hallways and bedrooms, stepping on filthy clothes and debris. The
children are startled when a flashlight shines their way. They are
sleeping on soiled mattresses with no sheets or blankets. They
slept in their clothes for the third day in a row, haven’t had a bath
in days and can’t remember when they last ate. They rarely attend
school due to lice infestations, and cockroaches have become their
pets. The children draw pictures for me of mommy’s methamphet-
amine pipe and show me bruises where mom’s boyfriend hit them.
The oldest child comforts the oldest sibling and is obviously trying
to parent. None of the kids cry or for that matter show any emotion
at all. They exhibit a classic attachment disorder. Methamphet-
amine packages and small clear baggies are lying on a corner table
next to a methamphetamine pipe with residue and scales. The old-
est girl asks if she can take a bath and wash her hair when she
gets to a new home. She starts to cry when she asks if her brother
and sisters can all be placed together. Because of their environ-
ment and drug exposure, these children have learning disabilities,
are behind in school, are laughed at and ridiculed because of their
appearances, and they are the school dropouts, drug and alcohol
users, physical abusers, and most have lifelong problems. This is
learned behavior. It will be repeated behavior and it will produce
our future felons if we don’t make a difference in their lives. The
problems are society-based now, but often stem from influences
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from the home. Children’s struggles in schools often stem from
problems in the home. Where parents spread their criminal con-
duct into the lives of their children, the parents conduct must be
addressed as would any other crime. Whether it is use, sales or
manufacturing, methamphetamine destroys children’s lives, future
and health. Children living with methamphetamine users and
cooks cannot compete in school, are inhibited socially and learn
criminal behavior. To improve their chances, intervention must
occur. Cooperate efforts from law enforcement, CPS and prosecu-
tion protects the welfare of these children while ensuring public
safety and benefit the community as a whole.

Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Webber-Brown follows:]
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Thank you for inviting me to testify at this hearing on Responding to the Drug Crisis in Northern
California. I have personally witnessed the epidemic use, sales, and manufacturing of
methamphetamine spread throughout the north state. This insidious drug plagues all ages as it
infiltrates our schools, attracts young adults and results in scores of parents who place their
children in atrocious, filthy, and uninhabitable dwellings. T am here to share with you the
environment in which these children live. We started the Drug Endangered Children’s Program in
Butte County to save the children from the dangers caused by exposure to methamphetamine use,
sales, and manufacturing.

I am an investigator with the Butte County District Attorney’s Office. I have been assigned to the
Butte Interagency Narcotics Task Force for nine years. This is a Department of Justice (DOJ),
Bureau of Narcotic Enforcement (BNE) Task Force'with a State Special Agent Supervisor
overseeing seven local officers. I have been second in command for five years, and coordinate a
response team for children found in drug homes.

Conducting criminal investigations, dismantling methamphetamine laboratories and rescuing
children are part of my duties. I also make presentations on drug issues to law enforcement,
social services, foster parents, civic groups, and local high schools. Each day, investigation after
investigation, search warrant after search warrant, I see helpless children with little hope for a
future. Then, at the conclusion of twelve hour days, I return home to my own three children, two
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of which are teens, and hear them tell of the drugs they can purchase in high school and how easy
it is to buy crank.

ESCALATING METHAMPHETAMINE USE AND MANUFACTURING

Since 1991, methamphetamine use and production has skyrocketed. Once manufactured by
outtaw motorcycle clubs who kept their recipe under lock and key, methamphetamine recipes are
now at your fingertips on the Internet. Many of the 32 various chemical ingredients can be easily
obtained from a local grocery store. Most often called “crank” on the street, methamphetamine is
also known as “ice”, “crystal”, “speed”, and “go fast”. It is highly addictive, affects the central
nervous systen, and delivers prolonged euphoria. Compared to the price of cocaine,

methamphetamine is cheap and easy to make.

As told to me by hundreds of teens and adults, “crank” is affordable, always available, elevates
your mood, enhances energy, and reduces sexual inhibitions. Teens and college students take
crank to stay up all night studying or partying. Women initially report the drug allows them to get
more done at home, i.e., laundry, chores, house cleaning and is a great appetite suppressant.

Methamphetamine is a highly psycho-active drug that most often leads to addiction. It also
causes depression, insomnia, paranoid aggressive behavior, and uncontrollable fits of rage.
Methamphetamine users are often irritable, irrational, confused and have nervous periods called
“tweaking”. Chronic use, or large doses, produce schizophrenic like symptoms that can result in
death or severe injury to themselves and others. Experience of domestic violence and child abuse
are high among methamphetamine addicts, many whose partners are methamphetamine dependent
as well.

Society’s biggest threat is a methamphetamine addict manufacturing methamphetamine in a
residential neighborhood. Methamphetamine abuse impairs a parent’s judgment rendering the
parent unable to provide the very basic care and supervision children need. And, drug sales have
known hazards from potential gun fire. But methamphetamine manufacturing poses the greatest
threat to the safety of children residing there.

The corrosive and carcinogenic chemicals used in methamphetamine production emit hazardous
gases and fumes toxic enough to burn lungs, cause brain, spleen, and liver damage. These
chemicals pose other dangers which include cancer, developmental problems, chemical burns,
immune system deficiencies, heart problems, and respiratory problems. This danger is potentially
worse for children because their immune system and physiological development is not as strong as
an adult.

In home based laboratories where children reside, the chemicals are most often cooked or stored
inside a structure where children eat, play and sleep. Gallons and gallons of chemical waste are
dumped outside where children walk, ride their bikes or play. Manufacturers often use household
dishes to cook their methamphetamine thereby exposing the children to contamination.
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In rural Northern California, children found in those methamphetamine environments are
increasing at an alarming rate. In Butte County alone, with a population of 200,000,
methamphetamine laboratories seizures have increased from 23 in 1993 to 45 in 1999. Per capita,
Butte County ranks third statewide for laboratory seizures.

Just south of Butte, in Yuba and Sutter Counties, the Narcotics Task Force seized 44
methamphetamine laboratories, over twice what was seized in 1993.

METHAMPHETAMINE KIDS ENDANGERED AND ABANDONED

The Drug Endangered Children Program (D.E.C.) was developed because of a serious problem

- with children being endangered by drugs or chemicals and left abandoned by law enforcement.
Throughout the State of California, and possibly the country, narcotic officers within police
departments, sheriff offices, and state agencies are encountering children at drug homes and
methamphetamine laboratories almost daily and not turning the children over to child protective
services (CPS). Those few officers who do call CPS report social workers will not respond to the
location. In most instances, those who do respond are not educated in the serious dangers of
drug and/or chemical exposure to the children. Often CPS places the children in a relative's home
without medical evaluation for drug exposure. Most officers are giving the children to friends,
neighbors, and relatives. We know children ingest methamphetamine from second hand smoke
and are not being medically tested. In addition, they are not being chemically tested for any organ
damage as a result of living in hazardous conditions from chemical exposure to the
methamphetamine lab. These children are endangered, forgotten, and never assessed by child
protective services.

When first assigned to the task force, I would see children living in homes with drugs and needles
and syringes lying about, no food in the house, dog and human feces everywhere, and oftentimes
numerous containers of hazardous chemicals used in the manufacture of methamphetamine.

Children throughout the state are found by narcotic agents living in filthy, deplorable conditions,
with drugs (specifically methamphetamine) accessible to them and child protective services was
not called. Hundreds of clandestine methamphetamine labs are found throughout the state in
homes and on property where children reside, yet all of these children are turned over to the
suspects' friends, neighbors, or relatives. i

Narcotic agents had, and still have, tunnel vision, only seizing the drugs and arresting the parents.
There is no state-wide protocol between narcotic officers and child protective services to take
care of the children. Agents report, "Why call CPS, they never respond and when they do it's
hours later".

Children turned over by officers to family, friends, or neighbors are often in the same situation.
Upon the return of the parents who often bail out of jail, the children go back to the same
hazardous conditions. '
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‘When entering a methamphetamine lab, agents certified in hazardous materials wear full
protective clothing, rubber gloves, and respirators. Suspects are decontaminated and also put in
protective clothing before transporting them to jail. However, children who are virtually eating,
sleeping, and playing in a methamphetamine lab are left unattended with no concern for their
medical or psychological needs. No risk assessment is done. )

In 1993, I helped develop Butte County's "Drug Endangered Children" (D.E.C.) program. To
our knowledge, it was the only program of its kind in the State of California, or possibly the
country. This is a cooperative effort with the Butte Interagency Narcotics Task Force (BINTF),
Children's Services Division, and the Butte County District Attorney's Office. Butte County's
children are now properly cared for, but what about the rest of the state.

In recent years and on a rare occasion when officers did call CPS, social workers chose not to
respond or were so untimely that officers were frustrated and now don't bother to call.

Butte County is small compared to most other counties in the state. Since 1993, the D.E.C.
program has enabled us to detain 601 children from drug houses. One hundred sixty-two of those
children were detained from methamphetamine labs.

In November 1994, we began obtaining urine toxicological screens on all children taken from
drug homes. Fourteen children tested positive for methamphetamine during an 18 month time
period. Eight of those from clandestine methamphetamine labs. Imagine how many children
throughout the state have been contaminated with caustic chemicals and methamphetamine
poisoning.

In late 1995, L.A. Times newspaper staff reporter Dan Weikel began writing a story after three
children were left to burn to death by their mother when a methamphetamine lab exploded in Los
Angeles. His story brought him to Butte County and our successful D.E.C. program. His front
page story on Easter Sunday 1996, caused quite a storm in the political arena.

In September, 1995, Mitch Brown, who is now Assistant Chief of the Department of Justice,
Division of Law Enforcement in Sacramento, California, researched and wrote a paper for the
California Department of Justice entitled "Child Endangerment and the Environmental Health
Hazards Caused by Clandestine Methamphetamine Laboratories." This publication led to changes
in policy for the California Department of Justice with regard to the manner in which children, at
the scene of clandestine laboratories, are treated.

DRUG ENDANGERED CHILDREN (DEC) RESPONSE TEAMS

The first Buite County DEC Response Team established in 1993 is a multi-agency, cooperative
effort to ensure the safety and well-being of drug endangered children. The team is comprised of
law enforcement, a social worker and part-time Deputy District Attorney. Our goals are:

1) Rescue children from unsafe environments,
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2) Improve the safety and health of drug or chemicaily exposed children by providing
appropriate services,

.3 Hold parents accountable for their actions,

4) Improve the community response to these children, and
5) Establish a consistent response from law enforcement and social services.

With the exception of Butte County, the concept of children as victims of the methamphetamine
epidemic was not addressed until 1997 when the Office of Criminal Justice and Planning issued
grants to four counties to implement the DEC program modeled after Butte. In May, 1999, three
additional counties were funded for a total of seven funded DEC Response Teams. They are
Butte, Los Angeles, Orange, Riverside, San Diego, San Bernardino, and Shasta.

Note: These grant funds enable one team in each county to work DEC cases, but the funds are
not sufficient to adequately address the problem. (These grant funds terminate on September 30,
2000 with no anticipated continued funding).

DEC RESPONSE TEAM PROCESS

1.

Law enforcement members of the DEC Response Team — the Sheriff’s Department, the
Police Department, the state Bureau of Narcotics Enforcement and the Drug Enforcement
agency — call the team leader when they encounter a child at a scene involving drugs,
hazardous conditions, negative living conditions or the arrest of the child’s parent. The
team leader immediately pages the social worker assigned to the DEC Team, who
responds immediately.

DEC Response Teams investigate two separate cases when a child is found in a lab,
distribution or use site — the narcotics case and the child endangerment case. Children
previously released to relatives without evaluation or assessment are now immediately
taken into the care of Children’s Protective Services (CPS) to assess the child’s health and
well-being and determine proper placement. The social worker and law enforcement
officers assess, document and photograph the conditions of the house and children and
interview the parents and children. The social worker detains children in all cases where
drugs and/or chemicals are found accessible to. children.

The social worker transports the child to the hospital for a medical assessment, which
includes test for child abuse, lice, neglect, physical damage due to toxic chemicals and
drug exposure. Butte County was the first of the seven California pilot sites to obtain a
court order from the Superior Court requiring hospitals to take blood and urine samples of
drug endangered children to test for drug exposure and other chemical damage. Hospital
staff formulates guidelines for examining children who have been exposed to drugs and
identify their long-term needs.

The social worker follows the DEC case for a minimum of 18 months post lab-seizure to
ensure that necessary medical and therapeutic services are provided to the child. With
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some variability based on the county’s local child welfare practices, most children found in
Level One cases have been typically placed with relatives or foster care families. In certain

, circumstances, offending parents may regain custody of their children while on tightly
supervised parole or probation and while participating in drug treatment and therapeutic
services for their children and to rehabilitate their roles as parents.

5. The District Attorney is responsible for prosecuting cases where children are endangered
by exposure to labs or subjected to neglect and abuse as a result of illegal drug use,
manufacturing or distribution. The commitment of the DA to prosecute child
endangerment cases is an essential part of the DEC initiative. Child Endangerment laws
have been changed in recent years to include stiffer penalties. “New laws reflect the
growing realization of this problem and the need to respond to it with criminal charges,”
explains Butte County Deputy District Attorney Clare Keithley. “It is more than a drug
violation it is criminal conduct against a child.”

DRUG ENDANGERMENT MEANS TOUGHER SENTENCES

In the last few years, California’s child endangerment laws have been made more stringent and are
being applied by prosecutors to drug abuse, distribution and manufacturing cases. To apply child
endangerment laws, prosecutors must prove that the environment was a potential harm to children
subjected to the situation. No actual harm must occur for felony endangerment laws to apply.

Felony child endangerment carries a sentence of two to six years, to be determined by the severity
of the case. For cases where children are found in a methamphetamine lab, the sentence is two
years in state prison for each child present and must be served in consecutive sentences. For each
child injured as a result of drug manufacturing, the sentence increases to five years in prison for
each child. The death of a child in a methamphetamine lab is a second degree murder charge and
carries a sentence of 15 years to life imprisonment.

These sentences are accompanied by narcotics sentences, which accumulate to deliver a heavy
punishment for the endangerment of children. Child endangerment charges can apply for a range
of crimes, from driving while intoxicated with a child in the car, to exposing a child to the toxic
chemicals used in drug manufacturing. Misdemeanor child endangerment charges can be
redirected to incarceration alternatives to better facilitate reunification and recovery.-

IN THE LIFE OF A DRUG ENDANGERED CHILD

The 601 children’s names and faces are different. But each case and story is the same. One
would think that 9 years later, with hundreds of suspects arrested, countless doors kicked in, and
the writing of thousands of reports, that I would grow callous. But upon entering the bad guy’s
house again and seeing those small round innocent eyes look up at me saying, “Finally someone
came to save me,” I turn to marshmallow.
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1 don’t have to make up stories or use the same photographs or tell the worst of the worst.
They’re all bad.

The yard is covered in garbage, old bicycles, toys and rusted car parts. Three or four dogs run
under the house or aggressively approach. Inside the house is dark with no electricity. The
stench of rotten food, animal urine and feces; and soiled diapers permeate the house. Chemical
odors irritate my nose and eyes. We fumble down hallways into bedrooms stepping on filthy
clothing and debris.

The children are startled when a flash light shines their way. They are sleeping on soiled
mattresses with no sheets or blankets. They slept in there clothes for the third day in a row,
haven’t had a bath in days and can’t remember when they last ate. They rarely attend school due
to lice infestations and cockroaches have become there pets.

The spoiled food stored in an ice chest in moldy, there’s no running water and the
methamphetamine laboratory is all over the kitchen.

The children draw pictures for me of mommy’s methamphetamine pipe and show me bruises
where mom’s boyfriend hit them.

The oldest child comforts the younger siblings and is obviously trying to parent. None of the kids
cry or for that matter show any emotion at all. They exhibit a classic attachment disorder.

The domestic violence is obvious with holes kicked in doors and walls. A loaded firearm is found
next to the couch and another under the bed, both where children had access. Pornographic
magazines are throughout the house and sex toys next to the bed.

Methamphetamine packaged in small clear baggies are lying on a corner table next to a
methamphetamine pipe with residue and scales.

The oldest girl asks if she can take a bath and wash her hair when she gets to a new home. She
starts to cry when she asks if her and her brothers and sisters can all be placed together.

Oh, I forgot to tell you, they already had one previous child detained a few years back, it’s the gt
day of the month, and their Welfare money and food.stamps are gone because they spent it on
chemicals for their next cook.

Because of their environment and drug exposure, these children have learning disabilities, are
behind in school, are laughed at and ridiculed because of their appearances. They are the school
drop outs, drug and alcohol users, physical abusers and most have life long problems.

This is learned behavior, it will be repeated behavior and it will produce our future felons if we
don’t make a difference in their lives.
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These children were lucky, we rescued them before they were injured, maimed or killed. The
newspaper clippings I collected from all over the state, and even a few other states tell more
horrific stories.

. 15 month old overdoses on methamphetamine. Rancho Cordova

. 5 month old tests positive for methamphetamine and succumbs to death with 12 rib
fractures, a burned leg and scared feet by methamphetamine addict. Los Angeles,
California

. 13 month old dies of heart trauma, broken spine and broken neck by methamphetamine

addict. She was also raped and sodomized. California High Desert

. 25 month old Oregon toddler overdoses on methamphetamine.

. 2 month old dies with methamphetamine in system. San Jose, California

. 2 year old eats methamphetamine from a baby food jar. Twenty Nine Palms, California

. 14 month old drinks lye in water from parents methamphetamine laboratory. Hospitalized

permanently with sever organ damage. Fairfield, California
. New baby dies from mother’s breast milk laced with methamphetamine. Orange County

. 8 week old, 11 pound boy, dies from methamphetamine poisoning found inside baby
bottle. Orange County

. 8 year old watches and hears mom die in methamphetamine laboratory fire. Oroville,
California
. 6 month old overdoes, semi-comatose, seizuring, hospitalized. Drank methamphetamine

from bottle. Oroville, California

. 4 year old tests positive for methamphetamine. Beaten and hair pulled out by mom’s
boyfriend. Chico, California . .

. 8 children exposed to methamphetamine laboratory in day care center. Southern
California

. Mom’s methamphetamine addicted boyfriend drowns 2 year old in bath tub. Sacramento,
California

The problems our society face now often stem from influences from the home. Children’s
struggles in school, often stem from problems in the home. Where parents spread their criminal
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conduct into the lives of their children, the parents’ conduct must be addressed as would any
other crime.

Whether it is use, sales, or manufacturing, methamphetamine destroys children’s lives, future, and
health. Children living with methamphetamine users and cooks, cannot compete in school, are
inhabited socially, and learn criminal behavior. To improve their chances, intervention must
oceur.

Cooperative efforts of law enforcement, CPS, and prosecution protects the welfare of these
children, while ensuring public safety and benefitting the community as a whole.
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s

Open containers of chémiea on counter in
5% wheel where child found.
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Alan Carnevale. Father of 8 mo. old and 2 year old.
In meth lab with 2 yr. old.
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in home

*¢7:00 am.
search warrant

 Slept in dirty -
clothes

¢ Found in room"
next to 1/2
pound of crank
on floor

* No electricity
/ gas

= No running
water

* Food rotten

* Wood stove
with no fire
wall next to
propane tank
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Slept in bed
with Mom
No shests
Filthy mattress. -
1of 4 dirty
diapers with
exposed feces
{E-coli)
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Newborn, 3 year-oid, and 8 year-old live with :
. Mom in this home. Note chemicals in
containers that a child woulid grab.

hicken wrapped in foil tested positive for meth.
Three containers of liquid with meth in solution.
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Meet the Victims,

months old taken to hospital by 18-year-old mother
« Seizuring ‘

s Semi-comatose
* Tested positive for meth

Up Close and Personal

Search warrant served for Mom’s house

= In addition to normal dope / pay-n-owe records,
packaging and scales - search warrant also
included all baby items, i.e., pacifiers, toys,
biankets, and baby bottles

« 12 bottles seized - 1 tested positive for meth
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* Mom got 3 years prison

* Mom admitted putting
meth in bottle because
he was crying - she
thought he was going
through withdrawais
because she used meth

; while pregnant

N « Life-flighted to UCD

Medical Center

* Four days later released

{o foster home - later
adopted

Shaquile with social
worker after release
from hospital
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Meet the Victims
'17 yr. Old — Assistant Lab Cooker

Did Not Go To School

. Had no clothing or shoes fit to wea
public ‘

‘Had very few friends, was embarras

. -, Was ashamed of his lifestyle and
parents

Up Close and Personaﬂ

micals & drugs in every room of the house
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bedroom with three children

Labin

Idren

for the ch

Easy access
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‘warned .

Tt received 2 calls -
- By Cynthia Hubert and Yvoxme Chiu. - ,A:

" calls of doncern shout little Rebecea Meza and: her

. ing that she had made progress. §

.who had been lving with Kauf- . :
1" man and her children, plunged Rebecca Meza
- her head under water "until she was nearly 3 -

‘the case and pointed to the mother’s drug abuge and

* had been living with Kaufman and the cluldxe na
poorly kept apartment in Ranche Cozﬁova

- man of the-coumty Board of Supervxsom :
., Nevertheless, cmmt.y officigls promxsed a !’u m‘
- vestigation.

- the murder of young Adrian Coriway 15 months dgv
» last week were dramatically improving the way the

* equtity handles child neglectand abuse cages. TR
" County authorities said the campanson was unf
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;;mal, IsSLALIRLLY
ches on $80 mil- Plense see NATOMAS, backpaga, A8 @ Sy

_ tpoog
1 Suog
9y

Agcncy

before death of gir

Bcﬁsta{f riters

Chﬂd Pmtecnve Services received at least {wo

. had “extensive” involvement with the gir] m@i

Traci Elizabeth Kaufman, who had been accuge

neglecting her five children numerous txmes, anﬁ’xet-
ities said. But CPS dlosed its case
file on her in December, conclud-

and her children were not in im-
minent danger.

Rebecca, who was to' turn 3 |
next month, died shortly before
noon Monday, two days after po-
lice said Joseph Carlos Engle,

lost consciousness. Police weren't
notified until nearly an hour after the incidens, when
a neighbor found the girl lying face down on the floor
of & bedroom, authorities said.

CPS officials said they followed proper pmtocol i

her involvemeént with Engle, a.convicted: felon who |

“No program:in this: county o any other can.pru»
tect childven ail of the time,” said’ Danntmh gham

For some, ﬂie girls death was a tragic remmder of

That case sparked reforms that authorities reported
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.| tors for‘mood elevation; as a

| ;.Meth abuse- damage
{both body an

Yoo Mcthamphetaminc' is.
‘"chemically - produced” stimu:-
lant used legitimately by doc

geed crank 0T me} is mis-’.u
{used by drug abusers as-a ‘meth
“feeligood drug ‘It is.smoked: ‘tim

. community because-they ca
cﬁ:en suffer fcom. '

. q C V- . o
lAddmonal side effects - of ranges;in
] _;ovemsp inciude nervous- tan.Itisusua

Phﬂiips ‘sai psychological j' 1
=1 effects of meth are that users

Users' bo esi' “terid totsuf-  pe
fer after prolonged use as
Well, Ph,ﬂlips said The most‘
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) Continued trom pnga 1A

Butte County If his guess l 4
t, th mo!

dang
g the lives u[ law enforce- -

ment ‘petsornel,’ childyen

- and nelghbors, while conta-

minating the land with waste

; angd the eomminity with poi-
son.

" "Most labs

ounty, which are capable of |

. producing - multiple ounce

quantities’ each month, are

small in comparlson to those

all

generally run by Mexican
nationals, are supplied by
chemicals and equipment
brought up from Mexico,
Krampitz said. Locals, he
said, have limited funding
and Jess availability to chem-
icals.

“{Other counties) may
have bigger labs, but I don't

- know about more,” Krampitz
" sald. "If you compare us per
caplta. we aré right up
there.”

Compute those 45.labs
that were discovered with a
populatlon of dpproxiniate]

;195,000 and. that equal
% about one lab for every 5,01
i residents, ' 9

pprmdmately
! obe lab_fbi every 5 000
dents, Shasta

: s irtore (han $56 mil:
E llo of a'$75 miilion Bureay
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" of.. Narcotics 'Enforcement

budget, That déesn't include
moncy spent by county or

ction is in other
des and the product.is
ed ‘in,”" Van-Winkle
n those cages nar-
cotics ‘agénts were forced:to
investigate ‘dealers. “With
meéthamphetamine, - there
wag a realization a couple of
years ago that you can make

mn  Butte: \, & difference if you go after

the labs.”
But the. financial costs.

pale in comparison to the toll
taken on the children who
live, within the "culture - of
meth abuse.

In the first 8 months of
1999, 1,530 labs were bust-
ed statewide. Living at 360 of
those labs were 670.chil-
dren. Van Winkle said -it is
“not uncommon to find chem-
icals and. lab materials sit-
ting along side kid's toy
boxes.

“The worst pnes are those '

parents who are cooking up
an ounce or two and dop't
even have any food in the
., house for the kids,” Van
Winkle said.

Ini.thioge . pages - the, ch;l-

ratee- " al

District  Attorney Mike
Ramsey said in 1997, 105
children .were tiken from'
their: homes to protect them.,

get their children. back’
- the parents had to prove that

they had gotten off meth and

were, responsible and I

suppm’t their children.
“Only 15 made it hnme

Ramsey said. *“The ‘other 90

‘had ‘parents that _chose

drugs over them. But at the-

least, here's 90.kids that
10w have an‘opportunity.”
In 1999, 45 children were
rescued from the local meth
labs they lived

The problem, hoy
not enough of the babf
tested. She said the testy ate
done at random. The hogpy!
tal that reported that 7 p
cent of the babies born thers
tested positive for ° meth
admitied that only .15 p

“cent of mothers were evén

tested.
Di¢lran said babies born
ethampheta-

tense -and donfg tend to
“shuggle in” ltke non-addict-
ed babies.

, ‘according

a1di a baby. who instead: ol
cudiiling and snuggling in s
Stiff and tense, it creates a
problems whes; we look

ding and attachment

es, sald currently
igshasiabout 70 cases,
She Said although - the
resdarch is limited, there is
dence to show that
I who “are " born
addicted to. the ‘drug will
have behavioral problems as
they mature.
Toucnstone a county~
funded program to help drig
addicted’ mothers  with

d infants and young children,

to Sue Webber-Brown, a
BINTF  detective and Drug
Endangered Children project
‘cgordinator. Statewide,
almost 30 pexrcent of the labs
discovered. :last. year had
hildren lLivin
e

Some children, however,
don't even get the chance to
start life clean,

Anne Dickman, a nurse at

the Butte County Health'

Department, said that in
1993 every balbiy born in
Buife County was tested for
methamphetamine and 14
percent came back positive,
She ‘assuines the numbers
are ‘the - same in
gh nn such test has
been done

1999

runs two intake groups. —
one in Orovillé:and one in
Chico. Every thrée months a
new group of 15.t9 20 drug
addicted mothers” join the
program, At least twice as
many are referred to the pro-
gram.
~“We - always ' have more
people than - spots,” one
Touchstone worker noted.
Butte County Sheriff Scott
Magk :

‘ent
although ‘he isn't ready to
pack up ‘and move away, it
does make him wonder abouit
his own family's security.

“It bothers mie that there
are’ so many drugs in' Butte
County, especially metham-
phetamine, “and . with chil-
dren — ‘I have' children —
and they have an opportuni-
ty 1o be'exposed to that.”
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- thén, he said, he let someone
get high in: his bathroom and

; thatwasthebegmningofﬂlef

énd. Soon he was using and
cooklng again
1. thought' I could “handle’
B it he said. “But ['was wrong.”
«~Ron LaFevers understands
the struggle’ Sposito speaks
of .
Thé 36- year-old used meth
o and off for 14 years.
He’s been clean. for about
‘16 months now but it wasn't

easy.

- “(Using meth) becomes a.

way, of life;” LaFevers said.

“It's hard'to find new thirigs to

do and. new people to hang

out with.”

. He cut his. ttes with his old

' group of friends because-all of

thiem were users.

'_.up«and.get.hjgh each morn- ;
g . ’

ppy without"
for twoor three years. But:

. vantages, like your lack of pri:

"Everyone has ﬁ:ee will but.
_yow gut 1o choose for your~

. “When he was uslng heavﬂy
. LaFevers said.-he- smoked
crank - daily. He would walke

- Now La.Fevers spends his-
'days working as a glass blow— B

“Theres a lot of enjuyabl
things ahout (mheth),” he said
“L inean. that's: why people dc

“it; but there’s a:lot of disad

oritles.”
- Now he is focused on those ,

“priorities;” his job. and chil-
dren and-he said the kids will: 2
hear about. his: struggle with *wo:
‘thé drug when. they are- old- -
enough.

-1 tell, them the' good and'
the bad about it and. Il te
them the reason-why not to.”
- He said getting off the: diug
hasn'tbeen easy, but he does

't buy it when .people’ sa
they can’t break their habits,

“Anyone can gquit; you jus
‘have. to do it,” he -said
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Conﬂnued from page ‘IA

~ ‘“g " he

“You have “to. 'adopt. the
view that

vthe ‘plea at that time ande

enters the individual into: th
Drug Court- program. If they
graduate the charges are dis-
' missed, if not, they go.to jail
or prison.

Saving e kids

‘When Sue Webber-Brown.
goes into: a dru, lab and sees.
the cook's. playing:
amongst the filth and danger-
ous chemicals;- she - gets
angry. So angry in fact she
wanis to DEC the parents. -

-DEC, the Drug Endangered:
Children’s. ‘program; - which
_started ln 1991, provides. a:

- law ;gnforcement

1o protocol for
chjldren disccv—

it; Childs
i Distﬁct Attorney's- offi
ed-hands and: created

by program

“oftice *Against the' for:
chﬂd endangerme:ﬁ. The kids
_are often put into foster care.

until if and when the parents
clean-up.

“The whole cf) ose is to.-
break the cycle ese  kids.

) grow up in,” Webber-Brown

= Otherwise she  said,- pot.

‘knowing: any better, « they

would grow up to be just like' -

their parents.

Clare.Keithley;. deputy dis-
trict attorney~ assigned- to
DEC, said kids out of
their parent's lives is. not the
end of the world: .

- daid.- “They," s:

‘Their beds, ifthey have them,
are usually nothing " niore.
“than' ¢ mattresses tossed

- and” clgarette Durttsis: Th
* basie medical: “and ‘entaI

.derice- photos: of used:meth

syringesnext to dolls and oths -
ers. of . homes. where human: :

waste' is splattered on the
walls.

Often, she said ’rhere is Ht- -
tle-or no_food in. the- house -

- and the-kids are embarrassed
.. when: the school bus, pulls up:

and, the other Kids see here

“They don’t cry: The
beg to see their parents M

she

1 love my

mom- but I’ dont want to- live
‘that way anymore.” . -

‘Webber-Browil is- passion

‘ ate about . “rescuing:- thes

s, Idds.” When she talks-abou

545 just:in: 1999;"
id: Allofwhomamina

program ‘was: déveloped other

‘grant money, and’
Webber-Brawn is  concerned

‘because the money is:‘set to:

run out in September. |
“H the politicians came with
us. and saw what we see

everyday there would not be a’

qiestion of where the money.
- should. be.

Risin, above the .

One day Détiie il
hﬂﬁ by something more p;

“Weve rescued over 600"

substance abuse. classes and |
: 5! . Mitléi

* stafes. have:

-program

. for society- toainderstanid diu

: sﬁesaid'.

- "My first: thought. was
my God,” Millet remembi
My second . though
have to get drunk
sothe dop

mee g :
* *I.sald: stop

to getoutl” - ° ;
That first mee’dng Ied her to

Touchstone.‘ & countywide™
. program;. - administered-

-through “Einloe: Hospital in -
Hico; that works withs drug: |
and. aldohal addicted mothers: |
- to-teach theiy:the: ne maq

year—lcng' -prograuy,
the parenting' classes; . the ¢

minglessomsl ‘she' said:
These days. Millér is attend—
ing Alcohol-anrd Dry, Services |
“¢lasses: at Butte College: She!
‘wants. to be a counselor 80}
she can help people in’ the%
saine situation; as she was. |
Touchstone: ¢ase' manager !
" Dede Brooks_said’ whiat siie
sees most coming ‘out of the i

“K hope thi s :
a’different’ ¢uitiwe. ot climate i

Caddiction is

dical pxoblem ‘

an a-line: of. the: purest .

crank she ever snorted..
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Mr. MicA. Thank you for your testimony. I would like to recog-
nize our last witness on this panel, Lieutenant Larry Saunders,
who is the tactical commander of the Narcotics and Gang Division.

Welcome, you are recognized, sir.

STATEMENT OF LARRY SAUNDERS, TACTICAL COMMANDER
OF THE NARCOTICS AND GANG DIVISION

Mr. SAUNDERS. Thank you, Chairman. We at the Sacramento
County Sheriff's Department are committed to do whatever is nec-
essary to reduce the effects illicit drugs have on our communities.
We see on a daily basis that manufacturing and trafficking in these
substances increases crimes in our communities and pose a great
risk to our youth.

I have personally and professionally witnessed the tragic effects
of methamphetamine. As the tactical commander for our agency, a
large percent of our squad and the hostage negotiator call-outs that
we respond to involve the use of drugs, mostly methamphetamine.
Many of the suspects involved in these crises are in fact under the
influence of illicit drugs, mostly methamphetamine. Many times
these call-outs involve children who are being subjected to violent
behavior that the suspects display during these type of situations.
Sometimes the children are used as hostages as these drug users
try to escape capture. We have seen too many children seriously
hurt and killed by people under the influence of illicit drugs.

It is only through prevention, education and aggressive, no-toler-
ance policies in our communities that we can be successful in our
efforts.

The Sheriff’s Department is happy to be the lead agency in a
Central Valley HIDTA team. This team named SAINT, for the Sac-
ramento Area Intelligence Narcotics Task Force, will concentrate
their efforts on identifying methamphetamine and other drug traf-
fickers and trafficking organizations. They will then pass along
that intelligence in a partnership with other local investigative
teams.

This past weekend, the SAINT HIDTA team did exactly that, re-
sulting in the disruption of a major methamphetamine operation in
Sacramento County. The results were the confiscation of 13 pounds
of methamphetamine, $55,000 in cash, numerous weapons and the
arrest of at least five suspects. We are encouraged by this oper-
ation and look forward to the HIDTA Program as a viable method
to stem the transportation and distribution of illicit drugs into the
Central Valley. An expansion of the HIDTA program further north
would be an asset to the Central Valley if additional funding could
be appropriated. I encourage all of you to explore this option.

Along with the HIDTA Program, the Sacramento County Sher-
iff's Department and the Board of Supervisors of Sacramento Coun-
ty has instituted three outstanding and effective programs in an ef-
fort to forge positive ties with our youth in several areas.

The first program is the School Resource Officers Program. These
officers work on the high school campuses Monday through Friday
in a non-traditional law enforcement method. They mentor stu-
dents, form positive relations with staff and school children.

The second program is the Youth Services Officers that we have.
They are assigned to the patrol districts and work in concert with
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the School Resource Officers on matters such as truancy, child
abuse, and other issues that contribute to the kids’ failure to at-
tend school.

Training for both these programs involves at least a 40-hour
comprehensive course with emphasis on interacting with students.

Our third program that we have that is very effective is the
State Schools Program. The Sacramento Sheriff's Department has
enjoyed a longstanding relationship with the San Juan Unified
School District to provide traditional law enforcement to all respec-
tive campuses in the San Juan District in grades K through 12. All
programs emphasis a “no tolerance” policy involving drugs and al-
cohol on campus.

We look forward to this cooperative effort to make our commu-
nities a safer place in which to live. Thank you.

Mr. MicA. Thank you. We have a video I think that was going
to be played now by Ms. Webber-Brown. Without objection, we will
play that and also make a transcript of that a part of the record.
So ordered.

Mr. Ose. Mr. Chairman, if I might interrupt here for a moment.
There are a couple of distinguished visitors from——

Mr. MicA. Let me go ahead and play the tape first and then we
will make the introductions.

Mr. OsE. OK. Sure.

Mr. MicA. Thank you.

[Video tape is played.]

Mr. MicA. Thank you. I would like to now recognize Mr. Herger
for the purpose of an introduction.

Mr. HERGER. I would like to recognize several that are in the au-
dience. One that will be on our next panel, our district attorney
from Shasta County, Mr. McGregor Scott, who has been a leader
on working in this area in Shasta County in the northern area.
And also we have a Sheriff from Siskiyou County, which is up on
the Oregon border, Sheriff Charlie Byrd in the far back. Charlie,
if you would raise your hand up real high. Anyway, thank you both
for being here. I am sure there are other constituents from our dis-
trict. I am sorry, I am not recognizing you, but I want to thank all
of you for being here at this very important hearing. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Mr. MicA. Thank you. I'd like to begin our first round of ques-
tions. I might say again for the witnesses, this is—maybe you have
seen how we operate on C—Span in a congressional Hearing. But
the purpose of this hearing, again, is to come out into this commu-
nity and this area of our country and try to gain from you some
insight as to the programs that we have at the Federal effort, our
efforts, and how effective they are and how they can be improved.
So that is the purpose of the hearing. Then take this back and try
as an oversight and investigations subcommittee of Congress to see
that those positive changes are made.

With that in mind, first of all Congress is now spending some-
where in the neighborhood of $1 billion on a media education pro-
gram. Ms. Ruppel, have you seen any of those ads that we have
on television or radio or newspaper?

Ms. RUPPEL. For the methamphetamine abuse?

Mr. MicA. Well, any anti-drug abuse?
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Ms. RUPPEL. Yes, I have.

Mr. MicA. You have. What is your opinion of them? Be honest
and candid. This is important to us.

Ms. RUPPEL. They are striking, but I don’t think that people——

Mr. MicA. Would they make any difference?

Ms. RuppPEL. Well, the people that are using drugs, I don’t think
that you can scare them out of it. You know? So I don’t know if
they are necessarily making a difference to people who are already
using methamphetamines.

Mr. MicA. You testified that you—and I think your words were
that there were a handful of good programs, treatment programs?
Ms. RUPPEL. There are a handful of good treatment programs.

Mr. MicA. How would you determine what is—one of the things
is that we have basically doubled the amount of money in treat-
ment in the last 6 or 7 years. We are spending more than $3.2 bil-
lion on treatment programs just from the Federal level, and we are
not certain what works and what doesn’t. In your estimation, what
works and what doesn’t? What are the good programs that you
have seen?

Ms. RUPPEL. There are, I believe, in-patient programs, 28-day to
3-month programs around the area that seem to be helping people
out.

Mr. MicA. Did you experience private and public programs or
just public operated? Both?

Mr. Mica. AA and NA are public, I believe. The outpatient place
I went to is privately owned, but it was a very well run outpatient
program.

Mr. MicA. Which is the most effective for you?

Ms. RupPEL. I needed both. I needed both.

Mr. MicA. And how would you describe any of the programs that
aren’t effective?

Ms. RUPPEL. I was living in a halfway house kind of transitional
living called the Madison House. It was for people who were in re-
covery. A lot of parolees lived there. And this place didn’t have any
rules. It didn’t have any rules. It didn’t have the funding that it
needed to have in place so that drugs were coming in and out of
there on a daily basis. It was supposed to be the place where I was
supposed to live in a safe environment, and it wasn’t. You know,
there are a couple of different transitional living places like that
in the Sacramento area.

Mr. Mica. Thank you. Dr. Ayala, you mentioned the two 6-year-
olds, one a victim, that we read so much about last week. From the
information I have received, that 6-year-old that found the gun
came from a split home. The father, I think, was in jail. And the
living conditions were appalling. It was also, I guess, the site of a
crack house. We just saw a very vivid portrayal of a 4-year-old
being scalded to death through the violence of a methamphetamine
situation. And you testified that the family—we have to have com-
prehensive programs for the family. I know you are a public educa-
tor, but how in heaven’s name do we turn this thing around where
these young people—this witness has testified that there were 600
children you dealt with. In what geographic area is that?
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Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. That is just in Butte County. That is just
by seven agents that are assigned to the task force. It doesn’t even
encompass the entire county.

Mr. MicA. With those figures for one area, and we see conditions
that these children come out of, how in heaven’s name does a local
school district or State government or Federal Government deal
with the deterioration of family to that degree?

Mr. AYALA. It is a very complex question, and one that I don’t
have one answer to. But I do strongly feel the family needs to be
included in any type of drug prevention rehabilitation program. As
Ms. Ruppel said earlier, her family was involved. I think it is im-
portant that when we do create programs that a unit within those
programs is incorporated dealing with family and educating family,
not only on drug abuse but also how to understand and how to
communicate with their children. You mentioned earlier the TV
ads or the media ads. I think they address adults more than they
address children. Children look at them and see that the adult is
not reacting to the media message that is there and pretty much
ignores it. I think what we need to have is a community-based pro-
gram that reaches out to the parents. It is only a beginning with
the DARE program in the elementary schools. But the stressful sit-
uations for children are beyond the elementary into adolescents
when they are trying things out and experimenting. The support
system kind of fades in the transition from elementary to middle
school. And you can see the trend increasing in drug use as they
go up the grades. I think we should not drop the ball. I think we
need to have programs that do address children at every level.
When I say comprehensive, I don’t mean just drug-oriented pro-
grams. I also mean community-based programs where activities
that are diversions to drug use are created. There is a connectivity
with the community. They could be teen centers. They could be ac-
tivities that are provided by the community with an emphasis on
having the family and the child communicate.

Mr. MicA. As a superintendent with education responsibilities, I
think you are aware that we have tried to turn this situation
around at the Federal level, where we have mandated and regu-
lated so much that very little money actually got to the classrooms
and the student and the teacher. We do have problems, I think,
with the new majority in mandating additional programs. If we
gave funds, additional funds, which is probably the best thing we
can do to States; we are trying to get away from providing a lot
of strings attached. What assurance do we have that this money
will ever reach the local level for these programs that you talk
about to avoid the patchwork approach?

Mr. AYALA. I think there needs to be an agreement to how the
program is to be assessed between the local entity and the govern-
ment. And there needs to be some dialog about what the commu-
nity consists of and the issues within the community. I think that
needs to be tailored to the community versus a one-program-fits-
all that this government wants to provide. Accountability is a key
factor. Once the agreement is made, then there needs to be a meas-
urement. What is the results? What is the impact on the children?
What is the impact within the home and in the community?
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Mr. Mica. Ms. Webber-Brown and Lieutenant Saunders, it ap-
pears that this region has a serious meth epidemic. From what you
have described, we are looking at a very serious situation here, is
that correct?

Mr. SAUNDERS. That is correct.

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. Yes, that is correct.

Mr. MicA. And I am not sure of the geographic area of the cur-
rent HIDTA. I know Mr. Herger and Mr. Ose have talked about ex-
panding that into this area. What do we have, about nine counties
currently in the HIDTA?

Mr. OsE. Mr. Chairman, there are eight or nine counties, the
northern most of which is Sacramental County. There are no coun-
ties north of Sacramento that are presently included in the Central
Valley area.

Mr. MicA. Both of you would support expansion of the HIDTA to
include the areas to the north?

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. Yes.

Mr. MicAa. What type of money does the current HIDTA get?
Lieutenant Saunders, are you aware?

Mr. SAUNDERS. I believe it is between $1.2 and $1.6 million. And
I feel that to increase the counties north, which I definitely sup-
port, I think would take more appropriations than we currently
have.

Mr. MicA. I heard someone, and I am not sure—I was trying to
look through my notes—80 percent of the crime is meth-related.
Was that you, Ms. Webber-Brown?

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. Yes, that is correct.

Mr. MicA. Is that 80 percent of the crime—where, in this region
or country or what?

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. In Butte County.

Mr. MicA. In one county?

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. In Butte County. As well 90 percent of the
referrals that come into Children’s Services Division in reference to
children with general neglect issues are drug-related, specifically
methamphetamines related.

Mr. MicA. That is an astounding figure.

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. It is astounding.

Mr. MicA. Well, I have no further questions at this time. Mr.
Ose, you are recognized.

Mr. Osk. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Raelyn, I want to come back
to your testimony. I have two specific questions that I need to ask
from you. As a parent—if we look around this room, there are a
lot of parents here. How do we help our kids when they are moving
from elementary to middle school and from middle to high school
and they are asked, “Do you want a joint” or “do you want a hit”
or “do you need blow?” How do we help them?

Ms. RUPPEL. I think my parents did the best that they could. But
I think more attention needs to be paid toward kids in that area.
Kids are either going to turn to drugs or they are not. I am not
exactly sure how—I think more involvement in your child’s life.
More programs that you bring your kids to. I am not real sure.

Mr. OsE. The other issue I wanted to talk to you about was the—
Judge Mica mentioned it. The programs that are successful, what
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differentiates those, in your experience, that are successful from
those that aren’t?

Ms. RUPPEL. It could be the people that run them. I think that
the outpatient clinic I was in was run very well. The transition liv-
ing place I was involved in wasn’t run very well at all. It is mostly
who is running it and how they are running a program.

Mr. OSE. Dr. Ayala, I know that you are going to submit for the
record the 13 recommendations that you mentioned. You talked
about an increased tolerance on everybody’s part of inappropriate
behavior. It is not just the public, but people accepting giving a kid
a drink or what have you. Could you expand on that a little bit as
it relates to your experience?

Mr. AYALA. In my experience with high school and the “continu-
ation”—alternative—high schools, there is a degree of acceptance of
behavior. “That is the way it is. We can’t help it. There is nothing
we can do. It is a family situation, not a school situation.” Those
types of thinking or those dimensions of thinking really create or
increase the problem. And when we talk about zero tolerance here,
one dimension is zero tolerance and the other dimension is turn the
other way. When you have zero tolerance, there is also a skeptical
belief that there is nothing to support it. There are no teeth in
what happens with that child once that child is caught. And as one
of the counselors mentioned in my report says, if we can make sure
that that child is thrown the book at and the parent along with it,
90 percent of the time you will have a chance of success. Now turn-
ing the other way happens at home as well. When a child comes
home stoned or a child comes home under the influence—stop it or
don’t do it anymore will not work. There is a lack of communication
happening at the home. The same as at school. There is a lack of
communication if the message is out there for zero tolerance and
stop it, and there is nothing there to support or there is nothing
there to connect with that student. I think what was said earlier
kind of exemplifies it. It is who is on the other end providing the
help that needs to make that connection and needs to understand
the child and needs to understand the circumstances and provide
concrete measurable types of programs or assistance that will bring
that child in through incremental steps out of the drugs and into
something more productive.

Mr. OseE. When you have a family where you have a child who
is using drugs of this sort and the child comes to school, do you
have any statistical information about the impact in a classroom of
having a child who is under the influence actually in the classroom,
whether it be added costs or added time requirements? I am going
to ask Ms. Brown the next question, which is if it is manifesting
itself in the schools, her testimony about needing some degree of
intervention to be much more readily available—I am going to
segue from your answer to that question of hers. I tell you why I
ask that question, if I may. It is that I have sat in on some of these
truancy hearings where the child has a pattern of truancy and the
law now exists where the parent can be held accountable for that
child not going to school and actually prosecuted, if you will. And
I am not trying to open the door or lead you in any particular way,
but I wonder whether or not that is a fact that offers some measure
of relief.
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Mr. AYALA. If a parent is held accountable for the child’s behav-
ior, as they should, then if there is a program to sustain that as-
sistance by the parent and by the school system, then I think it is
money well spent. Too often, though, there is only a program that
is very limited. It addresses the issue at the moment and it looks
like it has been solved. But if we take a look at how long this took
for that moment to occur and how long it takes for us to solve that
problem, there is quite a discrepancy between both moments. I
think there needs to be sustainability, and through that there
needs to be a connection with the child and the child’s develop-
ment.

Mr. OSE. Ms. Brown, what about an intervention? When you talk
about 601 kids and the 8 that tested positive versus the 6 that
don’t.

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. Actually, they all tested positive. It is just
that eight came from meth labs and the others came from the sec-
ondhand meth smoke or meth environment. And I add that scores
of kids have tested positive since that time from various scenarios.
With methamphetamine residue on coffee tables and nightstands,
with babies picking up meth pipes and putting them in their
mouths. The intervention part of that for me is a lot different, com-
ing from a different perspective. In conducting the criminal inves-
tigations, the majority of the time are because of the parents who
are meth users and abusers. And we are taking these children out
of the home as victims. With the program that we have currently,
we are able to handle those children that we are currently detain-
ing within our task force, but not county-wide. And that interven-
tion is whereas before parents would be arrested for the drugs,
they are now being arrested for child endangerment on every single
case where we can prove and we are able to collect enough evidence
of that. And that is where in my opinion as a law enforcement offi-
cer that parents need to be held accountable. So instead of just ar-
resting them for the narcotics violations or the stolen car they have
in their backyard or the illegal weapons they have, is to charge
them with felony child endangerment. Detain those children and
place them appropriately, hopefully with a relative. In Butte Coun-
ty, about 50 percent of the children are placed with relatives and
about 50 percent of them are in foster homes. And then those chil-
dren remain out of the house for at least a year. And during that
time period, it enables Children’s Services Division and Probation
to work together to try to reunify. Many times that doesn’t happen,
but the goal is to reunify. And that is that parents have to drug
test clean once a week. They have to go to parenting classes. They
have to go to Narcotics Anonymous. They have to go to inpatient
counseling, and they have to follow all the rules of the probation
status, which works together with Children’s Services. So the hope
is that we return these children to drug-free families. And if not,
then they are in a better place.

Mr. OsE. Butte County operates clearly under State law as it re-
lates to family reunification.

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. Correct.

Mr. OSE. Are there things we could do to improve that law? Obvi-
ously, I am a Federal officer, so to speak. But suggestions that you
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might make that I could carry to some of my friends who serve in
the State legislature?

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. Actually, I think the new existing laws that
were just placed with the fast tracking if there is ongoing criminal
behavior, you know lengthy criminal behavior and they have had
prior children detained if the children are under certain years of
age. I don’t really think, to me, that part of the program is working
well. The biggest obstacle is having enough foster homes to place
these children in. And then the other one is in most of the State
of California, as well as across the United States, because 1 have
been to at least five others doing training on drug-endangered chil-
dren, is you don’t have a good working relationship between law
enforcement and Children Services Division. And that is primarily
because law enforcement obviously have a completely different
background than Children’s Services. There has been a lack of re-
sponse on Children’s Services part. And because law enforcement
is so strapped for financial dollars to pay overtime and so forth and
just not enough dollars for law enforcement, you now have law en-
forcement on the scene of a meth lab or a drug home at 3 a.m.,
with three officers waiting 2 or 3 hours for a CPS worker to re-
spond. And that was the whole purpose of assigning somebody to
our team. They paged out when we paged out.

Mr. Ose. Mr. Chairman, you have been very generous with your
time. I want to make sure and compliment Lieutenant Saunders
for the great work that the Sacramento County Sheriff's Depart-
ment on this recent meth bust, and I want just a short yes or no
answer. I want to make sure I understand. The Sacramento County
Sheriff’'s Department supports an expansion of the HIDTA north if
sufficient resources can be found to fund it properly?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Yes, that is correct.

Mr. Osk. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. MicA. I recognize the gentleman from Indiana, Mr. Souder.

Mr. SOUDER. I have a series of questions as well. Lieutenant
Saunders, could you tell me are most of the labs you deal with,
meth labs, small labs in the homes like were referred to or large
labs?

Mr. SAUNDERS. In Sacramento County at least, most of our
labs—we did over 30 labs this past calendar year—they are of the
smaller variety. Occasionally, we get to the mid-level lab. I don’t
think we find all our labs, though. I am sure there are several
large labs out there. This last year we just didn’t find any. But we
had over 30 labs and most of them were small.

Mr. SOUDER. Is a small lab basically self consumption and small
income? What constitutes where you would cross over?

Mr. SAUNDERS. No. When I am talking about small labs, I am
talking about one that in one cook they can make 1 to 2 pounds
of methamphetamine. So it is being distributed at that level.

Mr. SOUDER. I don’t have a concept. Does that mean it is regional
within a section of Sacramento? Can that go beyond? Another ques-
tion is how much is consumed within your HIDTA and how much
is exported?

Mr. SAUNDERS. Those smaller labs are being consumed on a re-
gional basis. This particular case I mentioned earlier was not in-
volving a lab. That was involving a trafficking organization prob-
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ably from Mexico. And we do have a substantial problem in that
area in addition to our lab problem.

Mr. SOUDER. Could you explain that once? When you say traffick-
ing, are they trafficking in—are they converting it or are they just
being a distribution point?

Mr. SAUNDERS. They are using it as a distribution point. And
also what we found in this one last weekend with the 13 pounds
of meth, that a subsequent search warrant revealed a location that
had extensive packaging material and the cut to dilute it and then
it would be distributed from there. At this point, we are not exactly
sure where all that methamphetamine was going, but that is what
they were doing with that particular case.

Mr. SOUDER. Do you know whereabouts it came from Mexico?

Mr. SAUNDERS. From talking to the supervisor on this thing, we
feel it did have Mexican ties, yes.

Mr. SOUDER. Thanks. Ms. Webber-Brown, on the—how many—
you said parents are—they have a drug testing once a week and
parental counseling and the goal is family reunification. How many
parents successfully do this?

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. Out of 35 families last year, only 4 families
reunified with their children at the end of the year.

Mr. SOUDER. What is the primary reasons for failure? Is it the
drug testing part or is it the failure to——

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. That is a big—part of that, and a number
of other things. Their drug is more important than their children
or than reunifying with their children. Many of these parents had
already lost children previous to these kids in Butte, some in other
counties, adjoining counties. The methamphetamine has a hold on
them, and it is just much easier to continue to find their next bag
of dope than to go through all the steps necessary to reunify.

Mr. SOUDER. Is there a process where rights become terminated
so it can move to adoption?

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. That is correct. The majority of our chil-
dren are permanently adopted, especially all the children—I have
had a number of children who have been seriously injured as a re-
sult of methamphetamine. They have long term learning disabil-
ities, and the majority of those children have been adopted.

Mr. SOUDER. I mean not likely. I know the answer probably to
my question. But you said some of these parents have had this
occur before where they have lost their children.

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. That is right.

Mr. SOUDER. Does Child Protective Services notify a county when
a child checks into school that a parent—they get the parents ad-
dress that this is a potential problem coming?

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. No, that is not happening.

Mr. SOUDER. Is tracking possible? Is there that sophisticated a
system? I mean after it happens, clearly you've found out.

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. That can happen if the parents obtained
the necessary transfer papers for the child when they left that
school district and went to the other school district. Or if there was
a way in which the schools communicated, yes. Certainly that could
be accomplished.

Mr. SOUDER. I have a few questions. I want to start first with
Ms. Ruppel before I move to the superintendent. We are in the
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process within the next 30 to 60 days of moving through the Edu-
cation Committee the Safe and Drug Free Schools Bill as part of
the Elementary and Secondary Education Act. We have been work-
ing on this for a couple of years, and it is very controversial and
very difficult. We had the original Drug-Free Program, which has
had mediocre success. We added it to Safe and now we may add
21st Century Schools to this as well and include mental health.
The question is, is there any anti-drug program left? But first, let
me ask you, did you ever go through any anti-drug program at
school? Any kind of prevention programs? Did they have school as-
semblies? Did they have the DARE program? Did you do any?

Ms. RupPPEL. I went through DARE in sixth grade. That was the
only program that I can remember in school going through.

Mr. SOUDER. That is the only thing you remember in anti-drug
education?

Ms. RUPPEL. Yes.

Mr. SOUDER. What kind of impact did that have on you? Obvi-
ously you have had problems since then. But do you believe that
would have worked better had you had a junior high and high
school followup? Did it not have much impact at all? Did you think
that is what square kids do?

Ms. RUPPEL. I can’t say that the DARE program had any impact
at all. The next year is when I started doing drugs and drinking.

Mr. SOUDER. Did you get any signals out of your school that
there would be any consequences? One other thing that struck me
is you said you could get drugs every day at any time. Were any
of those from students?

Ms. RUPPEL. Yes, that was from students.

Mr. SOUDER. On school grounds?

Ms. RUPPEL. Yes.

Mr. SOUDER. Had there been a drug testing program at your
school, what do you think you would have done?

Ms. RUPPEL. If there had been a drug testing program?

Mr. SOUDER. Yes, there is—we allowed in the 1989 Safe and
Drug-Free Schools Act an amendment that—at that time, I was
working for Senator Dan Coates and we put that in. And every sin-
gle school in the country that has put that in, while it is not an
ultimate solution, has had a dramatic drop in drug use each year.
And I wondered what you would have done had you had a drug
testing program that was random at your school.

Ms. RUPPEL. I probably would have gotten caught and somebody
would have found out. There would have been some sort of inter-
action between my parents and the school. Because my parents and
the school officials never found out that I was using drugs until I
went into a mental hospital because of it.

Mr. SOUDER. That was an extraordinary thing because at one of
the high schools in my district, I meet with high school seniors
whenever I can. And the student council president and vice presi-
dent were very much against drug testing. Then some students
started speaking out for it. When we got done, the superintendent
and principal told me that every single student that had spoken
up, several who had self-acknowledged that they had a drug prob-
lem and everybody against the drug testing hadn’t had a drug
problem. But the kids who had spoken up for drug testing, one of
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them got caught in an athletic program and it changed his life. The
problem is that many people who are against drug testing have
never abused drugs. It is one of the frustrations here. It is not to
be mean. It is to try to figure out who needs the help. Twice you
said that you came back after you had gone through the first treat-
ment program and then you had—the first time you went away for
3 hours. Let’s see, the first time you fell, you came back. What
caused you to come back?

Ms. RUPPEL. My parents intervening.

. 11\1115 SOUDER. Was that the same thing the time after Bakers-
ield?

Ms. RUPPEL. Yes.

Mr. SOUDER. Did you get—when you say your parents inter-
vened, how did they find out?

Ms. RUPPEL. The last time I relapsed and came back, I was going
to get caught in a drug test. Inside, I was dead. So I knew that
I wasn’t happy using it and I wasn’t happy not using it. But I was
worse using drugs, and I couldn’t do it anymore. I came back on
my own, but I also got drug tested that week and it came up posi-
tive for cocaine a day after I had told people that I had been using.

Mr. SOUDER. If there hadn’t been a drug test, do you think you
would have told them?

Ms. RUPPEL. Yes.

Mr. SOUDER. You were clearly wrestling with this, and you said
now you have actually—that is terrible about your mother and that
is a very moving story and you deserve tremendous credit for mak-
ing it through this period. What other things happened that you
haven’t relapsed? What is different this time?

Ms. RUPPEL. Yes, it is different. I started becoming honest. I
started doing the things that other people in rehab suggested.

Mr. SOUDER. Why?

Ms. RupPEL. Because I was tired of being sick. I was tired of
using drugs. I was tired of relapsing and getting kicked out of my
parents’ house and trying to find places to live until I could move
back in. I was tired of getting in trouble. I was tired of the way
that drugs made me feel.

Mr. SOUDER. Do you think we can actually be successful in treat-
ing until the person is tired and really ready to make a commit-
ment?

Ms. RUPPEL. Sometimes. I think that if you have a teenager in
your house who is using that parents have a lot of different options
that they can take to help steer their child away from drug use.

Mr. SOUDER. I thank you. I found your misdiagnosis extremely
depressing myself in how it was used and I may do some written
followup with you. Because as we try to zero in on this, you have
raised so many different questions that challenge our assumptions
of how we do that. If I could yet, I wanted to ask Mr. Ayala, you
made several statements in your—I read through your written
while you were also giving the verbal. It is something that I have
raised for a long time. I think we do a great job of concentrating
for the most part on anti-drug education when the kids are totally
agreeable. Yes, I won’t ever do drugs. And it is before they do jun-
ior high. Now partly we have done that because the junior high
and high school programs weren’t working very well. And when
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you get these negative stats back, then your funding gets cutoff.
But in fact, I know we do, so this is a leading question—give
schools this option? In other words, we don’t say you have to use
it for first to sixth currently. Why don’t more schools use it for jun-
ior high and high school? And I grant in my district that most of
it is driven down to junior high or below junior high.

Mr. AYALA. I think you touched upon it, which is that we find
success there. And also you can prove to some degree that you have
reached students. But again, I think, that that is an age that would
be agreeable anyway, and they are not into it primarily. They may
live within a home that does have drugs, but the utilization of
drugs at that age is not really happening. It is when they reach
the secondary level. The transition becomes extremely difficult
from a self-contained environment to one where it is fragmented in
different disciplines. Just as a point, I think when those students
who do get caught, that is just the tip of the iceberg. If you mul-
tiply the number who get caught times 1,000, you are probably
more accurate. I think the stats when you survey students are fair-
ly accurate. You find more students utilizing drugs at every level,
particularly it increases as they go higher up into education. The
zero tolerance you mentioned and the drug testing, I think it is a
great idea. But I think the parent needs to buy into it. I think drug
tests need to be made available at no cost to parents who wish to
help their children. It is extremely expensive to go through drug
testing every time. Having it at school as a rule is another one of
those one-fits-all systems. I think that the family needs to be
drawn in as a critical component. The family is not in the school
itself. And for the most part, particularly secondary, there aren’t
that many family members participating there. The numbers dwin-
dle once they are beyond elementary.

Mr. SOUDER. Well, first let me say I actually had a number of
amendments that have become law on family involvement, and I
am really strong for family involvement. What we just heard,
though, is only 4 of the 35 in her case that family members were
really at all interested in the kids versus the methamphetamines.
One of the big problems that we have here is that while we should
encourage that and certainly exhaust it, the fact is that as the fam-
ilies break down in our society, the schools become the local par-
ents even more. Schools are very uncomfortable with that. Your
primary goal is education, but it is tough to educate if the system
is broken. And one of the difficult things—without getting—I want
to move to one other question, so I don’t want to get on drug test-
ing heavily here. But it is random. You can’t do uniform drug test-
ing unless it is random. And in fact then once you have a history
of a problem, you can do the drug testing. One of the most con-
troversial things happened in Michigan, and you have eluded to it
in about two or three different ways in your testimony. It is how
can you simultaneously target but not discriminate. Because high
risk populations tend to be concentrated in places where either
there is an education level lower or there is a family composition
area that is different or a past criminal record that is different.
Now in different areas, that will mix out differently as to who that
impacts. But it is certainly a targeting question. In Michigan, they
didn’t want to label the child who was the killer. You have a ref-
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erence in here that in fact kids are treated differently in court
based on minority background often from those who are of an
Anglo background. Often, quite frankly, because of either some-
times discrimination, which I will grant, and maybe even more
than sometimes. But other times because of family composition and
income levels, where the parents actually will come and do an in-
vestment. It is not just discrimination. How do you and the super-
intendent propose that we try to get into this problem. Because the
buzz word is target, yet targeting means making decisions that in-
volve the word discrimination. Not necessarily racial. I am not talk-
ing about that. Income, education and so on. How do we balance
how to target without discriminating?

Mr. AvarA. I think when you are dealing with at-risk families,
that when the target is to assist them, that it becomes a commu-
nity effort versus one component, which may be the courts, law en-
forcement or education and the schools. It needs to be unified. I
know in Yolo County some of the courts are working on family
unity. When they bring in a youth, they also bring in the family.
The family is involved in a variety of different malfunctions. It is
a difficult question you've asked. I don’t have an answer for it. But
I think that we need to truly believe that these families can be
helped. And I think that if we turn the other way, as sometimes
happens in schools and in the family, and say “that is the way it
is” and “they are never going to come out of it, there is no way.”
I think we are shooting ourselves in the foot when we come to that.
The family unit is an important component, but it is one portion
of it. The other is in the school systems themselves there are excel-
lent programs run by individuals who have their heart in the right
place. Who have the energy beyond their school day to do other
types of activities for youth, knowing that that is connecting and
that is bringing them in. Even though the family may be dysfunc-
tional. And these are the programs I think we need to support and
bring to the limelight. I think we need to unify more readily those
typeil of programs that are there that are working for individual
youth.

Mr. SOUDER. Thank you very much. And just for the record,
while I propose zero tolerance in the regular school system, I voted
against legislation that results in mandatory expulsion and just
turning these kids on the street. We have to have alternative
schools and alternative solutions. Because putting them on the
street doesn’t solve anything.

Mr. AvALA. If T may comment on that. I believe zero tolerance
is the first step. What happens after that is the most critical part.
And I don’t think we have enough programs to sustain zero toler-
ance. Thank you.

Mr. MicA. I now recognize Mr. Herger for questions.

Mr. HERGER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I think we are begin-
ning to get a feel for the magnitude of this problem. It is a major
issue. I served for several years on a then Select Committee on
Narcotics Abuse and Control, and I think it is becoming more ap-
parent that so much of our challenge is just trying to get hold of
this, trying to determine the scope of it. Then we need to find out
or identify those programs so we can begin to make a difference.
And I think certainly, Dr. Ayala, you have mentioned several of
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them that I have noted. Just connecting and bringing in the family
and doing all of these areas are certainly what we have to go after.
And reminding ourselves, we are never beat until we quit. Again,
this problem seems so overwhelming. It is real easy or comfortable
for us, I think, to try to put it under the carpet and not think about
it. But the fact is we have to be aware of it and we have to be
thinking about it.

So I thank you.

Mr. AYALA. You are welcome.

Mr. HERGER. Ms. Webber-Brown, I want to thank you for your
involvement and the time you spend. I believe just a week ago we
spent about an hour in my office in Chico on a Saturday afternoon,
you and your husband. I thank you for sharing with me at that
time. As you mentioned then, really the program that you are
working on, as I understand it, is really just a pilot program. It is
not something that would seem so basic as working with these chil-
dren and as horrendous as this filmstrip that you showed us, the
video.

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. Correct.

Mr. HERGER. And the incredible dangers that we see and the
horrendous life of the young children that are living within these
homes is really an aspect that in the past I don’t know if we have
been that much aware of and dealing with. It is more the interdic-
tion as it comes in and treating it when it is here or education. But
the fact of trying to work with these young children was really an
eye opener to me. If you could just tell me how you feel the success
rate has been in this Drug-Endangered Children program that you
work in. If you could tell us a little bit about that and how it is
working and what it looks like in the future for this program that
you are involved with.

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. It is extremely successful for rescuing the
children. And that was my whole goal when I started it in 1991 un-
officially. And then 1993, it became official and was to me real sim-
ple and something that should have been done across the country,
similar to domestic violence. When domestic violence became such
an issue that it was across the Nation. The same thing with these
children. And we are not really just talking about children in meth
homes but all drug homes who were easily left behind. And the
reason for that in my opinion was myself as a police officer having
tunnel vision. Being trained to go in and look for drugs and para-
phernalia and assets and evidence and seize those things. And chil-
dren were a nuisance initially. And it was easier to pass them off
to a friend or neighbor or relative. And then when realizing that
we would be back there in 6 months or 3 months or 2 weeks and
those kids would be back in the same filthy conditions and the
same environment, and we were doing nothing to help them. So for
Butte County, the program has been extremely successful.

In short, we went to the Office of Criminal Justice and Planning
in 1995 and said Butte County is real small compared to the rest
of the State and we have a small number of meth labs compared
to the rest of the State—L.A., San Bernadino and a number of
other places. There must be thousands of children left in these
homes with nothing being done. And a study was conducted by the
Department of Justice and that in fact was occurring. And Office
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of Criminal Justice provided moneys from their Burn grant funds
from OCJP to help participate in funding these seven counties—
four initially and then the other three. But my concern now is that
those moneys go away in September, and that we are not going to
abandon our program certainly, but we are not going to be able to
do what we have been doing with it because we won’t have the re-
sources in order to do that. And then we are being inundated with
requests from other States that are having huge meth problems as
to what to do with their children that they are finding and how do
they implement that with no resources available.

Mr. HERGER. So this program working with the children within
these families where the meth labs are is something that was pret-
ty much started with Butte County?

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. Yes, it started in Butte.

Mr. HERGER. And I think you mentioned that you have actually
been asked to go to some other States to share the program with
some of them?

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. Right. Oregon, Washington, Nevada, Utah,
Washington, DC, and several others that I just haven’t had the
time to go to.

Mr. HERGER. Well, thank you. Something else I was concerned
with when we were visiting was your pointing out that this is a
problem that really we are not that much aware of. That we are
becoming more aware of it, at least to the degree that it is a prob-
lem. And I believe you mentioned that if we had programs like this
in some other areas that we would see how widespread it perhaps
is. I think you used the number of 600.

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. Right.

Mr. HERGER. And was that just for Butte County?

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. Yes. 601 actually as of last week.

Mr. HERGER. Would you think there would be a corresponding
number for adjoining counties if we had a program like this?

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. I am certain of that. In the adjacent coun-
ties—for instance, Yuba and Sutter Counties just to the south had
44 labs in 1999, this past year. They have no Drug-Endangered
Children Program in place. They do not have a CPS worker as-
signed to their narcotics officers. And they do not have a protocol
in place. And just as an example, a year ago we had a meth lab
in Butte County which led to search warrants in Yuba County, just
over the line. We had 10 kids in two structures in a meth lab that
were not detained and no program in place in that county in which
to deal with those children.

Mr. HERGER. And unless there is future funding, this program
will terminate in September.

Ms. WEBBER-BROWN. Or diminish a great deal.

Mr. HERGER. Lieutenant Saunders, my colleague and friend,
Congressman Ose, asked a couple of times some questions about
perhaps a need that we have of expanding the program that you
are doing and working so well on and leading in some of the coun-
ties to the south of us perhaps in our northern California areas. I
have a sheriff, Charlie Byrd, who I introduced earlier. I was just
in a meeting with him as a matter of fact in Yreka here just on
Saturday evening. The sheriff made it a point to come up to me
and mention, even though he wasn’t testifying here, of how impor-
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tant this was up in their county. That he knew of the program
going on in Shasta County and Butte, but that he wanted—he was
asking that we not forget about him and not forget about them and
their families and their problem up there. I am sure that he is
speaking for all our adjoining counties. So I am wondering if—I be-
lieve you mentioned you have a budget of—I forget, $1.6 million or
whatever that you mentioned. Do you have any idea what it would
take to expand it up into Congressman Ose’s—I believe he has 8
counties and I have 10 counties up to the north. Any ballpark?

Mr. SAUNDERS. You know, we just started a program within the
last few months, so I would think it would take at least that much
money to go to the next level to the north, and I certainly support
that. Because the drugs—we have seen a lot of them coming from
Mexico and the distribution points are all over the State. It seems
to me in my opinion that if we are effectively going to fight this
problem we have, that we would have to do it not only statewide,
but even up into Oregon and Washington or north of that. And I
would think that it would take at least as much money to do the
next northern counties up there as we have down here.

Mr. HERGER. And again, I am asking the questions. I am sure
you are just getting going in your own program. But just off the
top of your head, would you think maybe an expansion of the cur-
rent HIDTA we have or an additional HIDTA for that area? Do you
have any——

Mr. SAUNDERS. I think if you are looking at eight counties, I
think a new HIDTA up there would be fine. If not, an expansion
of the current one down here with the appropriate funding for that
HIDTA would work. And once again, I think our budget from our
HIDTA currently in Sacramento is about $1.2 to about $1.6 million.

Mr. HERGER. Very good. Thank you very much. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Mr. MicA. I would like to thank each of our witnesses for appear-
ing on the first panel today and also providing this insight testi-
mony to our subcommittee. I will yield a second to Mr. Ose.

Mr. Ost. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would like to move that
the witnesses written testimony be made a part of the record.

Mr. MicA. Without objection. So ordered.

Mr. OSE. And then also would it be possible to leave the record
open for 2 weeks for additional questions?

Mr. MicA. Without objection. So ordered. And we may be submit-
ting additional questions to the witnesses or if we have additional
testimony or information that you would like submitted to the
record upon request, that will be so ordered.

I would like to again thank each of the witnesses, particularly
you, Ms. Ruppel. I am sure your mother would be very proud of you
in hoping to take what has been a family tragedy and turning it
into something positive for your future. And also hopefully today,
you helped affect the lives of other young people who are facing
this challenge. So we are very pleased that you joined us and gave
your personal testimony. Thank you so much and we wish you well.

And to the other witnesses, we thank you for your information.
If there is background you would like to submit for the record and
we may have additional questions and we will do that. So at this
point, I will excuse this panel and call the second panel.
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Staff will go ahead and give out the name tags. The second panel
today consists of Mr. McGregor Scott, the district attorney at Shas-
ta County. Another witness on that panel is Sheriff Clay Parker of
Tehema County, CA. We also have Sheriff Jim Denney, sheriff out
of Sutter County, CA. Another sheriff is Gerald Shadinger of
Colusa County, CA. A personal witness, Mr. Bill Ruzzamenti, and
he is the director of the California Central Valley HIDTA. Also tes-
tifying is Mr. Gilbert Bruce, Director of the Drug Enforcement Ad-
ministration located in San Francisco, CA, and Mr. Paul Seave, the
U.S. attorney for the Eastern District of California.

As I explained to the other panelists we had in our first panel,
this is an investigations and oversight subcommittee of Congress,
and we do swear in our witnesses. So if I could ask the witnesses
to please stand and raise your right hands. Do you solemnly swear
that the testimony you are about to give before this subcommittee
of Congress is the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

Answered in the affirmative.

I would like to welcome each of the witnesses on this panel. It
is a rather large panel. We are asking that you do limit your oral
presentation to the committee to 5 minutes. If you have additional
lengthy statement or documentation you would like to be made
part of the record upon request, it will be entered into the record.

With that, I am pleased to recognize the first witness today, Mr.
McGregor Scott, who is the district attorney of Shasta County. Mr.
Scott, you are recognized.

Mr. ScotrT Right here, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. MicA. Yes, sir. Thank you. Welcome, and you are recognized.

STATEMENT OF McGREGOR SCOTT, DISTRICT ATTORNEY,
SHASTA COUNTY

Mr. ScoTT. Thank you. I want to thank the members of the sub-
committee for coming to the North Valley to hear this testimony
today about the epidemic of methamphetamine in our communities.
I have submitted to you a formal statement with specific informa-
tion and statistics. In particular, my formal statement provides you
with details about the Shasta County Methamphetamine Task
Force, a community-based coalition, which I believe can serve as a
model for other communities in the battle against methamphet-
amine.

In addition, my formal statement provides you with the details
of the high level of cooperation and teamwork which exists between
local law enforcement agencies and State law enforcement agencies
in the methamphetamine fight.

The points I wish to convey to you today in this brief opening
statement are fourfold. One, we have a tremendous problem with
methamphetamine in the North State. Two, we as law enforcement
are all working aggressively to combat the problem. Three, we
come from communities which are committed to working together
to combat this problem. And four, we need the help of the Federal
Government in this fight.

There are two specific actions which I believe the Federal Gov-
ernment can take to join in the fight. First, a regional office of the
Drug Enforcement Agency should be opened as soon as practical in
the North State. Second, the Central Valley HIDTA should under-
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take an additional initiative to expand into the North State. I look
forward to our dialog here today, the result of which hopefully will
be these two actions.

Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Scott follows:]
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McGREGOR W. SCOTT, SHASTA COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

THE HOUSE GOVERNMENT REFORM COMMITTEE’S SUBCOMMITTEE ON
CRIMINAL JUSTICE, DRUG POLICY, AND HUMAN RESOURCES

| want to thank the subcommittee members for coming to the northern valley to
hear first hand from law enforcement leaders about the epidemic of methamphetamine
in our communities.

In this statement, | will discuss two issues: 1) the Shasta County
Methamphetamine Task Force; 2) Law enforcement efforts in the North State regarding
methamphetamine.

I have been the district attorney of Shasta County for nearly three years. When |
took the job, | knew there was a methamphetamine problem in Shasta County. But |
had no concept of the breadth and magnitude of the problem. Obviously, in law
enforcement, we see the meth epidemic every day on the streets and in the courts. -But
this is an issue which touches many other areas of our community than just law
enforcement. The medical field, the business community, the schools, and the social
services all see the impact of meth on our community on a daily basis.

Because meth is a problem which touches so many areas, we in Shasta County
in the fall of 1987 formed the Shasta County Methamphetamine Task Force. Our Task
Force is composed of leaders from the medical, business, education, law enforcement,
and social services fields. It was and remains the collective determination of our Task
Force that meth is a community-wide problem requiring a community-wide solution.
Members of our task force include the emergency room doctors from our two primary
hospitals, several nurses from those hospitals, the president of the Greater Redding
Chamber of Commerce, several other business leaders, the county superintendent of
schools, several other educators, the county public health director, the alcohol and drug
rehab director, the county social services director, the child protective services director,
the sheriff, chief probation officer, chief parole officer, our two chiefs of police, the state
Bureau of Narcotic Enforcement chief responsible for the North State, and myself.

One of the first things our Task Force did was make thé determination that we

needed to quantify in specific statistics the meth problem in our county. We spent
some time compiling those statistics from a number of areas. Some of the highlights
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from those statistics include:

1. From 1990 to 1996 the number of meth related arrests in Shasta County grew
by 150%

2. From 1984 to 1997, meth arrests accounted for 76% of the total arrests made
by the Shasta Interagency Narcotics Task Force

3. In 1997, of those persons on probation in Shasta County who tested positive
for drugs, 72% were positive for meth

4. From 1981 to 1996, the number of persons seeking treatment for meth
through the county Drug and Alcohol Program increased by 400%

5. Of the 775 mothers referred to Shasta County Public Health Nurse care for
substance abuse from August, 1995 through December, 1997, 47% identified
meth as their primary drug of choice

6. An average of two babies per week are born in Shasta County with meth in
their blood

(This is the number of babies actually born with meth in their blood at the time
of birth and is a dramatically conservative number in relation to the number oﬁ
fetuses exposed to meth during pregnancy) ) .

7. Emergency room physicians estimate that 40% of all persons treated for
traumatic injuries are injured as a result of meth ingestion

8. Of those persons on parole in the North State who test positive for drugs,
98% test positive for meth (North State is defined as Glenn, Lassen, Modoc,
Shasta, Siskiyou, Tehama, and Trinity counties)

9. Approximately 40% of the homicides committed in Shasta County from 1994
to 1998 in some way involved meth

10. A very high percentage of the overall crime rate in some way involves meth
when the drug cases, the theft cases where someone steals to get money for
drugs, and the violence cases arising from meth consumption are added up

In response to these statistics, the Task Force developed a several-pronged plan
to combat the meth epidemic:

1. Prevention through Education: we have initiated a program whereby medical
and law enforcement professionals go to the middle and senior high schools and
provide information to the students about the dangers of meth. To date, hundreds of
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such presentations have been made. It is our belief that éducating our young people
provides the best hope for a long term solution to the meth problem.

2. Sober Businesses: we have reached out to the business community to
educate small business owners about the impact of meth use by employees upon their
businesses. We have provided information on drug testing policies and presentations
to staff about the dangers of meth use.

3. Prosecution and Punishment: we have focused our prosecution efforts upon
those people who poison our community by manufacturing and selling meth. On ali
cases involving the manufacture of meth, the sales of meth, or the possession for sale
of meth meeting certain criteria, the District Attorney’s Office demands state prison for
the perpetrator. A renewed effort to fight the battle against manufacturing meth in
Shasta County has been undertaken by state and local law enforcement agencies. The
level of cooperation between state and local law enforcement agencies on the meth
front is superb.

4. Treatment: at the same time, the Task Force has worked to expand resources
available to those who are addicted to meth and need help. It is the Task Force's belief
that a distinction must be drawn in punishment between those who manufacture and
sell meth and those who are addicted to it only.

5. Public Education: we have launched a very aggressive public education
program through the media. Professionally prepared TV, radio, and newspaper spéts
have highlighted the message of the threat of meth to our community. This public
education program has been hugely successful. The theme of our media spots has
been “Not in Our Town”. Our community in general is now very much aware of the
meth problem we all face. In large part due to our public education campaign, dozens
of citizens have volunteered to help us with our efforts.

Some additional accomplishments of the Task Force include:

1. Establishment of an 800 number for the Task Force (1-800-4NOMETH)

2. Widespread dissemination of bumper stickers reading “Not in Our Town”

3. Widespread dissemination of posters with information about the negative
effect of meth on our environment and babies

4. Work on a web page is ongoing

5. Over 100 presentations about the dangers of meth given to local service and
other organizations

6. A series of town hall meetings, each addressing the impact of meth on a part
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of our community (schools, businesses, etc.)

[ believe through the Shasta County Methamphetamine Task Force we have
provided a community response to the community problem of meth which can serve as
a model for other communities around the state.

Next, | wish to address the multi-jurisdictional law enforcement efforts to combat
the meth problem.

In a nutshell, the level of cooperation between state and local law enforcement
agencies on this issue is outstanding.

In Shasta County, we have a state Bureau of Narcotic Enforcement (BNE) task
force called the Shasta Interagency Narcotics Task Force (SINTF). The mission of
SINTF is to investigate narcotics offenses at the street and lower-level dealers levels.
The commander of SINTF is a state BNE officer. The SINTF staff is composed of
officers from Redding Police Department, Anderson Police Department, the Shasta
County Sheriff's Department, the county probation department, the state parole office,
and the district attorney’s office. The investigator from my office assigned to SINTF
comes from the welfare fraud arena and provides a whole new field of information and
enforcement support. Information acquired by this investigator through welfare and
school attendance records recently led SINTF to a meth lab described by the SINTF
commander as the largest he has ever seen. In addition, a deputy district attorney from
my office is assigned full time to SINTF to facilitate the investigation and prosecution of
meth cases. The level of cooperation among the various state and local agencies in
supporting the efforts of SINTF is excellent.

The state BNE has an office in Redding independent of SINTF. That office is
responsible for 10 counties in the North State, including Modoc, Siskiyou, Del Norte,
Humboldt, Trinity, Shasta, Lassen, Tehama, Glenn, and Plumas. In the meth fight, the
BNE office has principal responsibility for meth labs. The two BNE lab teams work very
closely and cooperatively with SINTF. Many times the initial contact which leads to a
lab comes from SINTF, who then turns the case over to the BNE lab team. In addition,
a deputy district attorney from my office is assigned full time to the Major Narcotics
Vendors Program (MNVP) and works on a regular basis with the BNE agents, focusing
on the investigation and prosecution of meth lab and major dealer cases. The MNVP
program is a grant funded through the Governor’s Office of Criminal Justice Planning.
Again, the level of cooperation between state and local agencies is superb.

The major north-south axis of travel in the North State is Interstate 5. Not
surprisingly, I-5 serves as a major route for the interstate trafficking of drugs (including
meth) between Portland and Seattle and the Bay Area and Southern California. The
California Highway Patrol (CHP) has in recent years conducted a highly effective
interdiction program which has resulted in the seizure of very large quantities of meth,
cocaine, and heroin on I-5 in Shasta County where the driver was coming from the Bay
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Area or Southern California and headed to Portland or Seattle. CHP worked very
effectively with both SINTF and BNE in the investigation of those cases. My office had
prosecutorial responsibility for those cases. In these cases, the costs of investigation,
prosecution, and incarceration of interstate drug traffickers has been borne by the
locals. Again, the level of cooperation among state and local agencies was excellent.

Through the District Attorney's Office, Shasta County was awarded a grant from
OCJP entitled the Drug Endangered Children (DEC) Program. There are only seven
counties in the state which have received this grant, including Butte County. The
purpose of the DEC Program is to remove children from highly dangerous meth
situations. The team in Shasta County is headed by a registered nurse working on a
contract basis for the District Attorney’s Office, a Child Protective Services (CPS) case
worker, a deputy district attorney, and an agent from SINTF. The program has been
an unmitigated success in its eight months in existence. Again, the level of cooperation
between the various agencies involved has been outstanding.

In summarizing this presentation, | have three points | want to make. First, there
is a great level of cooperation and teamwork between all of the various state and local
agencies involved in the meth fight, from law enforcement to social services. Second,
we have a true community based organization dedicated to the eradication of meth
from our community. The members of the Shasta County Methamphetamine Task
Force have demonstrated that they are committed to working very hard to eliminate
meth from our community. Third, there is tremendous teamwork and cooperation in
Shasta County between local and state law enforcement agencies on the meth front.
With commitment of money, personnel, and other resources, state and local law
enforcement agencies have demonstrated that they are dedicated to working together
on the meth problem. Fourth, the federal government has been conspicuous by its
absence from the meth fight in the North State. We need the help of the federal
government in this fight. There are two specific actions which should be taken. First, a
regional office of the Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA) should be opened in Redding. A
federal law enforcement presence dedicated to narcotics is essential to our long term
success. Second, the Central Valley HIDTA should be expanded to include the north
valley counties. As is set out above, there is a very strong state and local commitment
to meth eradication. We can offer dedicated, hard working state and local partners in
the North State to the federal government in the meth fight. Expansion of the HIDTA to
the North State is the best means to accomplish this partnership. | strongly encourage
this committee to take action to make these suggestions a reality.



70

Mr. MicA. Thank you, Mr. Scott.
I now recognize Sheriff Clay Parker of Tehema County, CA.

STATEMENT OF SHERIFF CLAY PARKER, TEHEMA COUNTY, CA

Mr. PARKER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And I also want to
thank all of you for allowing me to testify here today before you
to discuss a problem that as you can see doesn’t just face northern
California. It is a national problem as well. I want to take this op-
portunity to provide you with information on the North State and
what we have been doing for the past 20 years regarding the meth-
amphetamine problem.

I appear before you not only as the sheriff of Tehema County, but
as a past narcotics officer and task force commander, and I have
actively been involved in methamphetamine investigations for the
last 10 years and actually methamphetamine cases for the last 20
years.

I have seen the adverse effects of persons making, using and
dealing methamphetamine, and what it does to the families and
communities. I do need to make something very clear at this point,
though. And that is that the problem is not limited to a select few
gounties in the North State. This is a problem of the whole North

tate.

Before I came to you, I thought what we needed to do was point
out what we have done on a local level, and what we have done
is, as you have heard already, we have had DARE programs and
there is curriculum now in the middle schools and high schools
which we are expanding up in our counties already. We have done
undercover operations, childcare programs, reverse stings, asset
forfeiture, and Mr. Scott just mentioned about a DEA office up in
the North State. Right now mainly when we do asset forfeiture
cases on the Federal level, the DEA doesn’t handle it. An IRS agent
out of Redding does. And we personally would like to see a North
State office of DEA be added.

On a local issue, in 1990 we didn’t have a sustained effort
against methamphetamine and other drugs because none of the
local agencies had the manpower or resources to put it together. So
in 1990, we formed a local task force, which consisted of the Sher-
iffs Department, Probation, DA and all the police departments in
the county. As we worked that task force, we saw that there was
a major problem with the kids, and the kids’ access to drugs
throughout the community, and we also saw that a lot of the par-
ents in our communities were ignoring the problem and in fact say-
ing there was not a drug problem in our local schools.

Well, in 1995 and the first part of 1996, we did an undercover
buy program in the Red Bluff Union High School District, and we
ended up arresting 52 people that were dealing and using the kids
of our schools with methamphetamine. It was an extremely suc-
cessful program and it kind of woke up our communities. The other
thing through that time is that we have seen that it is just not a
local county problem or a North State problem. We see with Inter-
state 5 and 99—again, this has all been brought up—that a lot of
these narcotics and methamphetamine are coming from the major
metropolitan areas such as San Francisco, Los Angeles, San Diego.
And again, it is more of a regional problem. When I talk regional,
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I am talking about this Central Valley HIDTA that needs to be ex-
tended into the North State.

Currently, we have in Tehema and Glenn County what is called
TAGMET, which is the Tehema and Glenn Methamphetamine En-
forcement Team. And what we did was we saw that we couldn’t
just do it on our own in counties. We then formed TAGMET, and
now we have the California Department of Justice Bureau of Nar-
cotics Enforcement, an agent in charge, and then we have the
Sheriff’s Department and Probation Departments, DA’s from Glenn
and Tehema on this, along with the CHP, California Highway Pa-
trol from Willows and Red Bluff, and the local police departments
from Red Bluff, Corning, Willows and Orland. And we have seen
that that has been very beneficial. In 1999 alone, the TAGMET
agents seized 27.5 pounds of meth, 4.5 pounds of cocaine, 48
pounds of marijuana, and 4,300 marijuana plants, 5 grams of her-
oin, and 124 liters of meth in solution, which probably would have
worked out somewhere between 45 and 85 pounds of finished meth-
amphetamine. The street value of these substances seized was in
excess of over $10 million if it actually had made it to the street.

The other thing you have to look at when I give you these stats,
compared to larger counties it doesn’t sound like much. But you
have to remember that Tehema County is 55,000 is our population.
Glenn County is 27,000. So this per capita, there is definitely a
major problem.

We are constantly in contact with special agent in charge, Jack
Nair, the California Department of Justice Bureau of Narcotics En-
forcement, and Jack is here. He has 10 northern California coun-
ties including Tehema. He has got Lasson, Modock, Pumas, Glenn,
Trinity, and Siskiyou also. He can validate and talk to you about
the problem we have in the North State and how we need to get
Federal intervention to help us.

We believe through our cooperative efforts at this time that we
have done everything possible that we can do on a local level. And
again, what I am requesting and what we are requesting in the
North State is that a DEA office be opened in the North State,
hopefully in Redding. And that at some time that we also be con-
sidered in probably expanding the Central Valley HIDTA into the
North State.

We talked about the education of the youth, and I preach this
every time I go to a school or anything else. And that is that the
youth of today are our leaders of tomorrow. So we need to do every-
thing in our power today to help them so that they will become pro-
ductive members in the future. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Sheriff Parker follows:]
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Honorable Chairman and Committee Members,

Thank-you for allowing me to testify today regarding a problem that faces not only
California, but the nation as well. I want to take this opportunity to provide you with
information regarding the North State and the problems associated with the production,
sales and use of methamphetamine.

1 stand before you today not only as the Sheriff of Tehama County, but also as a past
Narcotics Officer and Task Force Commander who has dealt with the methamphetamine
problem for over ten years. I have seen the adverse effects of persons making, using and
dealing methamphetamine and what it does to families and communities.

However, I do want to make one thing clear, the problem is not limited to a few select
Counties, but is the problem of all North State Counties.

In 1990, the Tehara Interagency Drug Enforcement Task Ferce (TIDE), was formed
because no single agency had the necessary resources or manpower to maintain a
sustained effort in combating drug related crimes.

In 1995-1996, the TIDE Task Force conducted an undercover narcotics program in the
Red Bluff Union High School District which resulted in the arrest of 52 persons involved
in the sales of illegal drugs to local teenagers. The program was a huge success and
ultimately the TIDE Task Force received the “Case of the Year” award from Region VIII
of the California Narcotics Officers Association.

A vast majority of methamphetamine and other controlled substances are transported into
and through our counties via automobiles on Interstate 5 which originates in major
metropolitan areas including the San Francisco bay area, San Jose area, Fresno area and
the Los Angeles/San Diego areas. Statistical data maintained by TAGMET and the
California Highway patrol substantiate this conclusion.
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It became quite obvious that narcotics distribution in the North State was not just limited
to the boundaries of each of our counties. Further ways to combat the narcotics problem
were discussed and it was agreed upon that multi-jurisdictional task forces needed to be
formed.

Currently, Tehama County is a member of the Tehama and Glenn Methamphetamine
Enforcement Team (TAGMET) which was established in June of 1998. Agency
members of the Task Force include the California Department of Justice Burean of
Narcotic Enforcement, the Tehama County and Glenn County Sheriff"s Departments, the
Tehama County and Glenn County Probation Departments, the Tehama County and
Glenn County District Attorney’s Offices, the California Highway Patrol Willows Office
and Red Bluff Office, The Red Bluff Police Department, the Corning Police Department,
the Willows Police Department and the Orland Police Department.

In 1999, the TAGMET agents have seized approximately 27.65 pounds of
methamphetamine, 4.55 pounds of cocaine, 47.65 pounds of marijuana, 3,347 marijuana
plants, 5 grams of heroin and 124 liters of methamphetamine in solution. The street
value of the controlled substances seized by TAGMET is estimated at far in excess of
$10,000,000.00. Both the Tehama County and Glenn County Sheriff’s Departments have
their own Marijuana Eradication Teams and their seizures are not included in this
statistical data.

Additionally, the TAGMET Agents arrested 26 suspects for manufacturing and
possession of precurser chemicals to manufacture methamphetamine, When in the
finished process stage, the methamphetamine is used locally and also shipped elsewhere
in the State for distribution.

We are constantly in contact with Special Agent in Charge Jack Nehr of the California
Department of Justice Bureau of Narcotic Enforcement who is responsible for 10
northern counties including Lassen, Modoc, Plumas, Glenn, Tehama, Shasta, Trinity and
Siskiyou. Mr. Nehr will validate the problem we have in the north state and will point
out that the problem is national rather than local. To bolster their efforts, the Agents
under Mr. Nehr’s control have interstate cross designation so that investigations can be
carried into the States of Oregon and Nevada.

Through our cooperative efforts, we believe that we have done everything within our
control and limited funding to aggressively enforce narcotics laws. We are now
requesting that the Office of National Drug Control Palicy (ONDCP) consider our local
problem at the national level and assist our communities with the addition of a Drug
Enforcement Agency Office in the North State. Ultimately, we would also request that
the counties in the North State be considered for inclusion in a High Intensity Drug
Trafficking Area (HIDTA).

One of the most important aspects in dealing with the proliferation of drugs in our
communities, is public education and teaching our kids to refuse to become involved with



74

drugs. Part of the time spent by TAGMET Agents is in our school system educating the
youth on the dangers of drugs. =

In closing, remember that “The youth of today are the leaders of tomorrow” so let’s give

our youth all the help we can today.

Clay D. Parker
Sheriff
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Mr. MicA. Thank you for your testimony.
We will now recognize Sheriff Jim Denney of Sutter County, CA.
You are recognized, sir.

STATEMENT OF SHERIFF JIM DENNEY, SUTTER COUNTY, CA

Mr. DENNEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Good morning. My
name is Jim Denney. I am the sheriff, coroner, and public adminis-
trator of Sutter County. For your information, Sutter County is a
small rural county, probably one of the smallest counties in the
State, located in the heart of the Sacramento Valley and imme-
diately north of Sacramento County. The county encompasses 608
square miles and holds nearly 77,000 residents. The county has an
agriculturally based economy and unemployment runs as high as
18 percent during the non-growing season. Our county seat is Yuba
City, which is located on the west side of the Feather River, di-
rectly across from the city of Marysville, which is the county seat
of Yuba County, population 69,000. Combined, both cities make up
the twin cities for the Sutter/Yuba County region.

This region shares many services, which includes a two-county
drug enforcement task force known as the Narcotic Enforcement
Team or NET-5. The team is comprised of law enforcement officers
from the two sheriff's departments and two police departments in
the region and is supervised by an agent from the California De-
partment of Justice, Bureau of Narcotic Enforcement. NET-5 is
one of the oldest DE task forces in the State of California, and I
have two deputies assigned to that unit.

I am here today to present to you from my perspective the meth-
amphetamine problem in the Sutter and Yuba County region of
northern California, and what I believe is needed to address that
issue. My expertise in this issue is that of a career law enforcement
officer with 28 years of experience, the last 24%% years with the
Sutter County Sheriff's Department. From 1987 through 1989, I
was assigned as a detective sergeant to the NET-5 task force as
second command of that unit.

The methamphetamine problem has been a longstanding issue in
Sutter and Yuba Counties since early 1980’s. Back then it was
manufactured by mostly outlaw motorcycle gangs like the Hell’s
Angels and loose knit associates with little or no organization.
Rarely was large quantity manufacturing occurring on a regular
basis, and most seized methamphetamine labs consisted of quan-
tities measured in ounces.

Today, organized Mexican crime groups have largely taken over
the major manufacturing of methamphetamine, moving chemicals,
finished product and money back and forth across our border with
Mexico. Back in 1988, NET-5 seized a total of five methamphet-
amine labs in the Sutter and Yuba County region. Fast forward 11
years to when NET-5 seized 43 meth labs last year alone. I might
also add that this year, since January 1st, in the first 2 months of
this year we have already seized 16 labs in the region. At that rate,
we will be up close to 100 labs by the end of the year.

I admit that most of these labs were of the local variety, com-
monly known as Beavis and Butthead labs, but an alarming num-
ber of sophisticated laboratories are emerging. Last year, NET-5
conducted a multi-agency undercover operation known as Oper-
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ation Reunited, which targeted the drug activity in the Sutter and
Yuba region. A total of 16 local, State and Federal law enforcement
agencies participated in the 4-month operation. This intensive op-
eration resulted in 259 arrests, 15 methamphetamine laboratories
seized, and over $43,000 in U.S. currency and two vehicles taken
for asset forfeiture. Nearly 8 pounds of methamphetamine and
three-quarters of a pound of tar heroin was seized during this oper-
ation including a small quantity of cocaine and marijuana. The
combined street value of all drugs seized at this time totaled over
$270,000.

During this operation, a major methamphetamine laboratory was
established in my county by an organized Mexican crime group
from the San Jose area. This resulted in round-the-clock surveil-
lance by various agencies involved in Operation Reunited over a 2-
month period. The surveillance would not have been possible by
local resources had Operation Reunited participants not been in
the area. When the lab was seized, in addition to several pounds
of chemicals and various apparatuses, it included eight 22-liter
round bottom flasks, which are considered to be significant in the
manufacturing of the methamphetamine. This lab was capable of
producing 100 pounds of methamphetamine per cooking operation.
The street value of 100 pounds of methamphetamine after being di-
luted and packaged for sale on the street would exceed $3 million.

The question is how do we fix this? In my humble opinion, what
we don’t need is another task force at the Federal level to which
I would be required to assign personnel from my existing staff. I
presently assign two deputies to the local drug task force in our
area, one of which is funded by the Federal anti-drug abuse en-
forcement funds or the Edward Burn Memorial Fund. The other
deputy is funded out of my existing budget. I do not have the lux-
ury of having another one or two deputies to send to another task
force like a HIDTA unless full funding for these positions is in-
cluded. What I need is additional long-term full funding for in-
creased manpower and resources to address this problem. I am not
talking about a Cops Fast or a Cops More or any other limited
term funding which pays only a portion of the annual salary and
terminates after 3 years. This leaves the local agency with the op-
tion of covering the full cost of the law enforcement officer or laying
the officer off. What I need is permanent funding that pays the full
salary of the additional personnel and is guaranteed to continue for
a long time to come. I also do not need to send local law enforce-
ment personnel to work on a regional task force that involves sev-
eral counties. I have enough problems to deal with in my own coun-
ty and I need all my resources to stay locally to address that prob-
lem.

What I am saying to this honorable committee is that if you want
to address the drug crisis in northern California, then give us the
long-term funding that we need to fund additional personnel to en-
hance our current operation and make it more effective. Addition-
ally, I strongly recommend enhanced funding for programs sup-
ported by the national organizations like Fight Crime and Invest
in Kids, of which I am proud to say that I am a State advisory
panel member. This group advocates increased support for early
childhood and after school intervention programs for at-risk youth
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to deter them from criminal activity later in life. Combined with
strong law enforcement, problems like drug manufacturing and dis-
tribution can be impacted. I thank you for your time and consider-
ation on this issue.

[The prepared statement of Sheriff Denney follows:]
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S UTTER COUNTY

BiLL GROVE
March 6, 2000 Undersheriff
To: The Honorable Members of the Subcommittee on Criminal Justice, Drug
Policy and Human Resources
From: Jim Denney, Sheriff-Coroner, Sutter County (CA) Sheriff’s Department
Subject: “Responding to the Drug Crisis in Northern California” Hearing
Testimony

Good morning (afternoon) honorable members of the subcommittee, my name is
Jim Denney and I am the Sheriff-Coroner-Public Administrator of Sutter County. Sutter
County is a small rural county located in the heart of the Sacramento Valley and
immediately north of Sacramento County. The county encompasses 608 square miles
and holds nearly 77,000 residents. The county has an agriculturally based economy and
unemployment runs as high as 18% during the non-growing season.

Our County’s seat is Yuba City, which is located on the east side of the Feather
River directly across from the City of Marysville, the county seat of Yuba County
(population 69,000). Combined, both cities make up the “Twiﬁ Cities” for the Sutter-
Yuba County Region. The region shares many services which includes a two-county
drug enforcement task force known as The Narcotic Enforcement Team (NET-5). The
team is comprised of law enforcement officers from the two sheriff’s departments and
two police departments in the region, and is supervised by an agent from the California

Department of Justice — Bureau of Narcotic Enforcement (DOJ-BNE). NET-S is one of

1077 CIVIC CENTER BOULEVARD ¢ YUBA CITY, CALIFORNIA 95993

Office: (530) 822-7307 or (530) 822-7312
FAX: (530) 822-7318 * E-Mail: scsherifi @syx.com

JiM DENNEY
Sherift/Coroner
Public Administrator
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the oldest BNE supervised task forces in California. I have two deputies assigned to
NET-5 as investigators.

I am here today to present to yon from my perspective, the methamphetamine
problem in the Sutter-Yuba County area of Northern California and what I believe is
needed to address the issue.

My expertise on this issue is that of 2 career law enforcement officer with 28
years of experience, the last 24 14 years with the Sutter County Sheriff’s Department.
During the years of 1987 through 1989, I was assigned as a Detective/Sergeant to NET-3
as second-in-command of the task force. This assignment included being the Asset
Forfeiture Specialist for the unit. Upon completion of my assignment, I retumed to the
Sheriff’s Depariment Detective Division. In 1991 I was appointed as the Undersheriff by
Sheriff Art Brandwood, where I was assigned to be in charge of Operations for the
Sheriff’s Department for the next 8 years. Sheriff Brandwood retired at the end of 1998
and T was elected as Sheriff, assuming office in January of 1999,

The methamphetamine problem has been a long-standing issue in Sutter-Yuba
Counties since the early 1980°s. Back then it was manufactured by mostly outlaw
motorcycle gangs like the Hells Angels, and loose knit associates, with little or no
organization. Rarely was large quantity manufacturing occurring on a regular basis and
most seized methamphetamine labs consisted of quantities measured in ounces. Today,
organized Mexican crime groups have largely taken over the major manufacturing of
methamphetamine, moving chemicals, finished product and money back and forth across

our border with Mexico.
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Back in 1988, NET-5 seized five meth labs in the Sutter-Yuba County region.
Fast forward eleven years to when NET-5 seized 43 meth labs last year alone! I admit
that many of these labs were of the local variety, commonly known as “Beavis and
Butthead labs”, but an alarming number of sophisticated laboratories are emerging,

Last year NET-5 conducted a multi-agency undercover operation known as
“Operation Reunited” which targeted the drug activity in the Sutter-Yuba Region. A total
of 16 local, state and federal law enforcement agencies participated in the four-month
operation. This intensive operation resulted in 259 arrests, 15 methamphetamine
laboratories seized and over $43,000 in US currency and two vehicles taken for asset
forfeiture purposes. Nearly 8 pounds of methamphetamine and % of a pound of tar
heroin was seized, along with a small quantity of cocaine and marijuana. The combined
street value of all drugs seized totaled over $270,000.

During this operation, a major methamphetamine laboratory was established in
south Sutter County by an organized Mexican crime group from the San Jose area. This
resulted in round-the-clock surveillance by various agencies involved in Operation
Reunited, over 2 two-month period. This surveillance would not have been possible by
local resources had Operation Reunited participants not been in the area. When the lab
was seized, it was discovered that this site contained eight 22-liter round bottom flasks
with heating mantles, 110 pounds of iodine crystals, red phosphorous, 90 five-gallon cans
of denatured alcohol, 30 pounds of processed ephedrine, three S-foot tall hydrogen

chloride gas cylinders, and two 75-gallon separatory funnels.
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This lab was capable of producing 100 pounds of methamphetamine per each
cooking operation, The street value of 100 pounds of methamphetamine, after being
diluted and packaged for sale on the street, would exceed $3,000.000!

The question is, “How do we fix this?" In my bumble opinion, what we don’t
need is another task force at the federal level to which 1 would be required to assign
personnel from my existing staff. I presently assign two deputies to the local drug task
force in our area, one of which is funded by federal Anti-drug Abuse Enforcement
{Edward Byrne Memorial) Funds. The other deputy is funded out of my existing budget.
I do not have the luxury of having another one or two deputies to send to another task
force like a HIDTA, unless full funding for those positions is included.

What I need is additional long-term, full funding for increased manpower and
resources to address this problem. I am not taiking about COPS Fast, COPS More or any
other limited-term funding which pays only a portion of the annual salary and terminates
after three years. This leaves the local agency with the option of covering the full cost of
the law enforcement officer, or laying that officer off due to the lack of ongoing funding.
What I need is permanent funding that pays the full salary of the additional personnel and
is guaranteed to continue for a long time to come.

1 also do not need to send local law enforcement personnel to work on a regional
task force that involves several counties. I have enough problems to deal with in my own
local area and I need all of my resources to stay in the area and address the local problem.

What I am saying to this honorable committee is, if you want to address the
“...Drug Crisis in Northern California”, then give us the long-term funding that we need

to fund additional personnel to enhance our current operation and make it more effective,
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Additionally, T strongly recommend enhanced funding for programs supported by
national organizations like “Fight Crime ~ Invest in Kids”, which advocates increased
sapport for early childhood and after-school intervention programs fo: at-risk youth, to
deter them from criminal activity later in life. Combined with strong law enforcement,
problems like drug manufacturing and distribution can be impacted.

1 thank you for your time and consideration on this issue.
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Mr. MicA. Thank you for your testimony. I now recognize Sheriff
Gerald Shadinger with Calusa County, CA. Welcome. You are rec-
ognized.

STATEMENT OF SHERIFF GERALD SHADINGER, COLUSA
COUNTY, CA

Mr. SHADINGER. Thank you. Honorable Members, good morning.
I appreciate being here. I am largely here to support my neighbor-
ing sheriffs in Sutter today and the Glenn County Task Force. I
come from a little different perspective, and my perspective is this.
I will give a little background. We are a very small county north
of this county along I-5. I have some things that will be passed up
to the Members later, but this is an example of what is in my evi-
dence room right now. These are tubs of methamphetamine and co-
caine that aren’t my problem from a smaller world perspective.
These were taken off of Interstate 5 by our officers, CHP, and the
task force itself made the seizures. But I am stuck with a bill of
$200 a pound to dispose of this stuff and I have got hundreds and
hundreds of pounds in these tubs.

I think largely what should be brought to the attention of this
committee is that the drugs that I do have or that we have seized
are largely an Oregon and Washington problem. North of here, you
have all the freeway systems that come together and that channel
for the next 200 miles to the Oregon border. On Interstate 5, 80
percent of the arrests that we make are from Washington residents
and Oregon residents.

We have been innovative in the past in supporting the task force.
We have actually gotten people to turn around and we follow them
to Oregon and dealt with the Oregon authorities and nothing mate-
rialized to it on the last two occasions. But again, we find a lack
of effort of coordination. And from a small county perspective, I
have to say that we do need a DEA presence in the North State.
I would like to see the Central Valley HIDTA extended all the way
to the Oregon border for the purposes of being able to call the folks
up when these drugs are headed to Oregon and Washington.

To me, that would say it all as far as in a context of this is a
Federal interstate problem. It isn’t necessarily to us a regional
problem in my county.

I will say that in 1993—and the reason I bring this up is a pref-
ace to my next thing—but 1993, was when a couple of sheriffs went
back and visited with Janet Reno when the Burn Fund was at risk
back in Washington. We have these hearings periodically and ev-
erybody wants to know what is funded and we get new Congress-
man and so on. The Burn Fund was at great risk. We met with
the sheriff’'s throughout the southwest to keep the Burn Fund in-
tact. That is the only thing that runs my task force. I am not State
funded. I don’t have a State officer in my task force. It is strictly
Burn Federal money that keeps me currently going.

I think in rural counties what you have to realize is we don’t
have the resources unless the program is funded largely by the feds
and pass-through money to the State of California such as OCJP.
We would be non-existent in any of our efforts. So, therefore, I
have to reiterate that we are asking for a coordinated effort to ex-
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tend the HIDTA to the Oregon border, and that would be specifi-
cally six counties north. Thank you.

Mr. MicA. Thank you for your testimony. We will now hear from
Bill Ruzzamenti.

Mr. Ruzzamenti is the director of the California Central Valley
HIDTA.

STATEMENT OF BULL RUZZAMENTI, DIRECTOR, CENTRAL
CALIFORNIA VALLEY HIDTA

Mr. RuzzaMENTI. Mr. Chairman and distinguished committee
members, I too appreciate appearing before you today to talk about
the newest HIDTA, the Central Valley HIDTA in California. I
would also like to take this opportunity to acknowledge the north-
ern California sheriffs, which were an integral part in making the
Central Valley HIDTA possible. They joined with the sheriffs from
the Central Valley and were very active and instrumental in assist-
ing us in bringing about the Central Valley HIDTA, and for that
we very much appreciate it.

The Central Valley HIDTA is a methamphetamine HIDTA,
which means its sole narcotic focus is the methamphetamine prob-
lem in the Central Valley. And because of that, there are several
unique characteristics to the HIDTA and requirements to member-
ship in the HIDTA that are mandated by ONDCP and which we
deal with in operating the Central Valley HIDTA.

Our initial budget was only $800,000. And we have currently a
supplemental budget of $687,000, which looks good for fiscal year
2000. That is not finalized, but I am very hopeful and it does look
good that we are going to get those funds. However, that being
said, that is still only $1,487,000 to spread amongst nine counties
involved in the HIDTA. We have all the counties, as was said here
before, from Sacramento south to Kern County and all those that
border the 99 and Highway 5 corridor down to Kern County. So the
resources we have are incredibly limited.

ONDCP itself has indicated that their perception of minimal
funding for HIDTA operations is $2.5 million. We are still way
below that, even with the supplemental that we currently have. I
have submitted my testimony and I would be glad to answer ques-
tions when the time is appropriate.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Ruzzamenti follows:]
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Statement of Mr. William Ruzzamenti
Director of the Central Valley, CA HIDTA
Office of National Drug Control Policy

House Subcommittee on Criminal Justice,
Drug Policy, and Human Resources

March 6, 2000

Distinguished Committee members, I appreciate the opportunity to appear before you today to
discuss California and this country’s newest High Intensity Drug Trafficking Area (HIDTA), the
Central Valley of California.

The following information is being provided to the subcommittee in order that you might have a
better understanding of the Central Valley, CA HIDTA.

The Central Valley HIDTA was designated in 1999. The Executive Committee is comprised of
six local, one state, and seven Federal representatives. The geographic area of responsibility of
the HIDTA is California’s Central Valley to include the counties of Sacramento, San Joaquin,
Stanislaus, Merced, Madera, Fresno, Tulare, Kings, and Kern.

The FY2000 budget was originally $800,000 but a $687,000 supplemental enhancement is
currently under final review and looks promising.

Threat Abstract: The nine counties of the Central Valley, California HIDTA area comprise a
major agricultural center for the nation. The region is populated by approximately four million
residents although the population swells seasonally as the need for agricultural migrant labor
fluctuates. The residents of the Central Valley are serviced by two international airports and
hundreds of private airstrips. The Central Valley also contains several major interstate highways
including Interstate S and Highway 99 which are the traffickers’ favored routes of transportation
for moving methamphetamine, heroin, and cocaine from Mexico and the Central Valley to
Northern California and the Pacific Northwest. Additionally, Interstate 80 runs east from San
Francisco directly through Sacramento before traversing the length of the United States through
the Rocky Mountains and Midwestern States and provides a major pipeline for the transportation
of controlied substances headed to the Midwest and Eastern United States. The Central Valley is
also home to rail, bus, cargo, and shipping port facilities.

The Central Valley continues to be a primary manufacturing, transshipment, distribution, and
consumption area for illegal narcotics, and for methamphetamine in particular. Within the last
several years the area has experienced a dramatic increase in the number and scale of clandestine
methamphetamine manufacturing labs operating within the region.
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These labs, most of which are operated by multi-drug trafficking organizations based in Mexico,
now infest the Central Valley. These organizations tend to situate their labs and so called
“super-labs” in the Central Valley due to its proximity to the State’s principal precursor chemical
supply companies and its major interstate highways. These large-scale, relatively sophisticated
labs are set up long in advance of use, are well concealed, often heavily guarded, and can
produce from 20 to 200 pounds of high purity methamphetamine per cooking cycle.

Strategy Abstract: The Central Valley HIDTA Executive Committee is comprised of 14 local,
state, and Federal law enforcement leaders in the California Central Valley HIDTA areas of
responsibility. A unified approach between law enforcement and prosecution agencies facilitates
efforts to reduce the impact of methamphetamine production, trafficking, and distribution in the
Central Valley.

Mauch of the information available for the Central Valley HIDTA region is anecdotal. With the
implementation of the HIDTA strategies in the Central Valley, and with the establishment of the
Central Valley HIDTA Intelligence Center, it is hoped that a more complete picture of the threat
can be framed. With the evidence that is available, it is clear that the Central Valley continues
to be a major manufacturing, distribution, and transshipment area for all types of illegal drugs,
but particularly for methamphetamine. The rates of methamphetamine use in the area are
alarming. The violence associated with drug manufacturing and dealing impacts our families,
neighborhoods, and schools. The Central Valley HIDTA program will utilize an ambitious
cooperative effort to identify, target, and impact the Drug Trafficking Organizations operating in
our area.

Initiatives: The Central Valley HIDTA presently consists of five operational and one
management/administrative initiative as set forth below:

1. Investigative Support/Intelligence Center: The intelligence initiative is a multi-agency,
collocated element with a central office in Fresno, and satellite offices in Bakersfield and
Stockton. The intelligence center is comprised of two sub-units: an investigative support unit
and a technical support unit. Deconfliction is provided by the Los Angeles Clearinghouse with
funding for two analysts supplied by the Central Valley HIDTA.

2. Management and Administrative: The HIDTA staff, consisting of the Director,
Administrative Assistant, and Fiscal Officer, will provide support to facilitate the coordination
and administration of all HIDTA initiatives and related budgets in order to ensure that the
HIDTA’s strategy and subsequent initiatives/budgets are affecting the regional threat, and that
the HIDTA funds are targeting the intended mission as approved by the HIDTA Executive
Committee and ONDCP.

3. Sacramento Area Intelligence Narcotics Task Force: This initiative will focus on
providing operational intelligence, including the identification of methamphetamine and narcotic
traffickers, the prioritization of information for the use of enforcement task forces within
Sacramento, and in other areas of the HIDTA.

Emphasis: Intelligence gathering and targeting of major narcotics traffickers and distributors.
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4, Stanislaus-San Joaquin County Methamphetamine Task Force: This initiative will
focus on the initiation of long term investigations of sophisticated criminal organizations
involved in the acquisition of precursor chemicals, the manufacturing of methamphetamine, and
the distribution of methamphetamine. Information developed from these investigative efforts
will be shared with the other initiatives through the intelligence center.

Emphasis: Methamphetamine and Precursor Trafficking

5. Fresno Methamphetamine Task Force: This initiative will focus on major
methamphetamine manufacturing and distribution organizations, precursor chemical suppliers,
pseudoephedrine tablet distribution organizations operating in Fresno, Madera, and into other
areas of the country. The intent of these investigations will be concentrated on the dismantling
cells and or entire organizations leading to the arrest and prosecution of key members of the
organijzation.

Emphasis: Methamphetamine Manufacture, Precursor Chemical, and Methamphetamine
Distribution

6. Southern Tri-County Drug Task Force; The focus of the task force will include an
intelligence component and an investigative component. The task force will attack all operations
of major methamphetamine organizations including the acquisition of precursor chemicals, the
manufacture of methamphetamine, the distribution of methamphetamine, and money laundering.
Emphasis: Methamphetamine Manufacture, Precursor Chemical and Methamphetamine
Distribution

Currently, plans are underway for FY2001 to increase the number of initiatives in the Central
Valley, CA HIDTA. However the number of new initiatives will be dependent solely on
funding.

The following agencies currently participate:

Federal: Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms, Drug Enforcement Administration, Federal
Bureau of Investigation, Immigration and Naturalization Service, United States
Attorney’s Office (Eastern District of California), U.S. Customs Service, United States
Marshal Service

State:  California Bureau of Narcotic Enforcement, California Highway Patrol, California
Department of Corrections

Other: Sacramento, San Joaquin, Stanislaus, Merced, Madera, Fresno, Tulare, Kings, and Kern
County Sheriff’s Departments, Sacramento, Stockton, Modesto, Fresno, Merced,
Bakersfield, Porterville, and Delano Police Departments, Sacramento County Probation
Department

Points of Contact for further information on the Central Valley, CA HIDTA are as follows:
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Executive Director: William Ruzzamenti
2444 Main Street, Suite 240
Fresno, CA 93721
Phone: (559)487-5402
Fax: (559)487-5287

-0r-

Executive Committee Chair: Paul L. Seave, United States Attorney
Eastern District of California
Phone: (916)554-2706

) &

Executive Committee Vice-Chair: Les Weidman, Sheriff
Stanislaus County
(209)525-7216

This concludes my remarks. 1 want to thank the commitiee for their time and attention. At this
time I will be happy to entertain any questions regarding my presentation and the operation of the

Central Valley, CA HIDTA.
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Mr. MicA. Thank you.

We will now recognize Mr. Gilbert Bruce, Director of the Drug
Enforcement Administration of San Francisco. Welcome. You are
recognized, sir.

STATEMENT OF GILBERT BRUCE, DIRECTOR, DRUG
ENFORCEMENT ADMINISTRATION, SAN FRANCISCO, CA

Mr. BRUCE. Thank you. Chairman Mica, Representative Herger
and Representative Ose and Representative Souder, I too appre-
ciate the opportunity to speak before you today and discuss this cri-
sis in northern California.

With the committee’s permission, I would like to summarize my
rather lengthy testimony that was submitted for the record.

Mr. MicA. Without objection. All of the complete written state-
ments will be made part of the record.

Mr. BRUCE. Thank you, sir. This crisis stems primarily from the
regions sustained growth in methamphetamine production and
trafficking and the continuing abuse of this illicit drug. But meth-
amphetamine is not the only illegal drug adversely affecting Cali-
fornia’ northern counties. There is a robust production and trade
in marijuana, a resurgent trafficking in cocaine and crack cocaine,
and the persistent market for black tar heroin. The consequences
of the abuse, production and trafficking of these drugs is enormous.
Individuals who abuse any one of these drugs usually creates havoc
within families and within our communities as we have heard this
morning. The production techniques of drug manufacturers pose
immediate risks for their neighbors’ health and to the environment.
The often violent tactics of traffickers endangers the safety of all
of us.

Methamphetamine production, trafficking and abuse pose the
most serious drug threat to northern California. The vast majority
of methamphetamine available in the United States is produced
and trafficked by Mexican groups that operate large laboratories
both in California and in Mexico. However, domestic production of
methamphetamine by U.S. citizens is also a significant and grow-
ing problem. The production level of these laboratories, often de-
scribed as mom and pop labs, is relatively low. However, each rep-
resents a safety and environmental hazard.

Methamphetamine is a very simple drug to produce. A recipe can
be downloaded off the Internet. A user can go to retail stores and
easily purchase the vast majority of these ingredients necessary to
produce it. Precursor chemicals such as pseudoephedrine can be ex-
tracted from common over-the-counter cold medications. The pro-
liferation of these mom and pop laboratories has imposed terrible
burdens. There is an increased abuse and trafficking of meth-
amphetamine. There is also the fact that the highly toxic and flam-
mable chemicals involved in making these rudimentary labora-
tories ticking time bombs requiring specialized and expensive
clean-ups.

Each pound of methamphetamine produced in a clandestine lab-
oratory generates up to 5 pounds of toxic waste. Clandestine lab-
oratory operators routinely dump these wastes into backyards,
open fields, sewage systems and streams to cover up the evidence
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of their illegal operations. The poisonous sludge from these sites
seeps into streams, rivers and drinking water sources.

Just in the eastern district of California, 486 laboratories were
seized in 1999. This total includes 9 laboratories in Shasta County,
14 in Sacramento, 18 in Sutter, 21 in Yuba and 32 in Butte County
as reported to the Western States Information Network.

Both production and trafficking and the abuse of methamphet-
amine generate an intolerable amount of violence within our com-
munities. There are thousands of incidents of domestic and child
abuse prompted by one person’s methamphetamine habit. For in-
stance, advocates for children remind us that substance abuse and
in particular methamphetamine abuse puts young children in dan-
ger constantly. And for methamphetamine, as for most every other
type of illicit drug, there is the violence propagated by traffickers
as they conduct their illicit business. This happens at all levels of
trafficking, but most noticeably at the street level.

Marijuana cultivation and trafficking is flourishing in northern
California as well. The region is ripe with indoor and outdoor
growths producing high grade cincemia and commercial grade
marijuana. There is also the continuing influx of marijuana im-
ported from Mexico. This production and trafficking of marijuana
has been propelled in part by passage of the 1996 California Propo-
sition 215. Many marijuana traffickers have claimed protection
from prosecution under this law, despite the fact that under Fed-
eral law where marijuana is listed as a Schedule 1 drug, there is
no basis for distinguishing medical marijuana trafficking from
marijuana trafficking generally. Marijuana trafficking is a violation
of Federal law.

Indoor and outdoor growths of marijuana are found throughout
northern California. DEA helps fund and is a participant in the
Campaign Against Marijuana Planting Program in California. And
in 1999, the CAMP Program eradicated over 3,500 indoor and out-
door marijuana growths and destroyed nearly 1 million marijuana
plants.

With the strong soaring popularity of cheaper methampheta-
mines, some experts just a few years ago heralded the demise of
cocaine. These predictions were overstated. While methamphet-
amine clearly has eclipsed cocaine as the drug of choice, there has
been a recent resurgence in the demand and supply of cocaine and
crack cocaine. Today, cocaine is readily available in much of Cali-
fornia. Cocaine is trafficked primarily by drug organizations based
in Mexico, but there is some direct involvement by Colombian-
based organizations also. Cocaine is primarily being shipped from
Mexico to northern California via Interstate 5 and Highway 99
from the Los Angeles Basin.

There is also a persistent market for Mexican black tar heroin
in northern California. Black tar heroin is the dominant type of
heroin trafficked in the region. Southeast Asia, Southwest Asia and
Colombia heroin are rarely encountered in the area. Black tar her-
oin is usually trafficked by organizations based in Mexico. Much of
the black tar heroin is thought to originate in the state of
Michoacan, Mexico, where heroin processing laboratories are be-
lieved to exist. Sacramento and other northern California cities are
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destination and trans-shipment points for this heroin as it moves
up from Mexico and southern California.

There is an emerging concern over the import of opium from
Southeast Asia also. Between January 1998 and July 1999, more
than 1 ton of opium in or destined for northern California was
seized. The majority of these seizures were made from parcels orig-
inating in Laos or Thailand and sent to California addresses in
Redding, Madeira, west Sacramento and other northern California
cities.

Other drugs threaten the livelihoods and lives of people residing
in the northern counties. Supplies of LSD are available in northern
California. The increasing popularity of this drug among youth re-
mains a significant concern. There is also abuse of MDMA or
ecstacy and GHB, gammahydroxybuterate, especially at grave par-
ties that take place in almost all of our cities.

DEA’s goal is to disrupt and ultimately dismantle the major drug
trafficking organizations operating in northern California. We focus
our energies foremost on the burgeoning plague posed by meth-
amphetamine while continuing to target marijuana, cocaine and
heroin trafficking organizations. In pursuing this goal, DEA contin-
ues to work closely with other Federal, State and local law enforce-
ment agencies throughout northern California through the Orga-
nized Crime Drug Enforcement Task Force, the Central Valley
High Intensity Drug Trafficking Area [HIDTA], and State and local
task forces. In particular, we continue our close cooperation with
California’s Bureau of Narcotic Enforcement. DEA continues to
pursue methamphetamine manufacturers and traffickers operating
in the northern counties. Parallel to these efforts, we continue the
aggressive targeting of major road chemical supply houses and
pseudoephedrine suppliers operating in northern California. We
continue to target and investigate indoor and outdoor marijuana
growths throughout the northern counties of California. These ef-
forts involve close coordination and cooperation with our State and
local counterparts. Our continued efforts to reduce the threat posed
by cocaine and crack cocaine in northern California involve identi-
fying, targeting and dismantling the transportation cells moving co-
caine throughout the area. We continue to target and investigate
organizations trafficking in black tar heroin or producing or selling
LSD, MDMA and other dangerous drugs.

DEA specifically targets drug-related violence through our Mo-
bile Enforcement Team Program. The MET is a special DEA en-
forcement group trained to assist local communities in fighting
drug-related violence. DEA has advertised the MET program to
local law enforcement officials in each of California’s northern
counties and is prepared to respond to a community’s call for as-
sistance. Already the MET has been deployed to Yuba County as
part of the Operation Reunited that the Sheriff talked about. This
3-month deployment, which concluded on July 2, 1999, resulted in
the arrest of 26 individuals and seizure of 7% pounds of meth-
amphetamine, 25 pounds of processed marijuana and small quan-
tities of cocaine and heroin and nine weapons.
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This concludes my remarks. I would like to thank you for allow-
ing me to testify today and I would certainly be open for any ques-
tions.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Bruce follows:]
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Chairman Mica, Congressman Ose, Members of the Subcommittee; | am
pleased to have the opportunity to appear before you today to discuss the drug
crisis confronting Northern California. This crisis stems primarily from the
region’s sustained growth in methamphetamine production and trafficking, and in
the continuing abuse of this illicit drug. But methamphetamine is not the onfy
illegal drug adversely affecting California’s northern counties. There is the robust
production and trade in marijuana, the continued importation of Mexican
marijuana, a resurgent trafficking in cocaine and crack cocaine, and a persistent
market for black tar heroin.

The consequences of the abuse, production, and trafficking of these drugs
is enormous. Individuals' abuse of any one of these drugs usually creates havoc
within families and within our communities. The production techniques of drug
manufacturers pose immediate risks for their neighbors’ health and to the
environment. The often violent tactics of traffickers endangers the safety of all of
us.

Today, | propose to discuss with the subcommittee the specific threats
posed by each type of drug. The bulk of this discussion, however, focuses on
the most severe drug threat afflicting Northern California: methamphetamine, |
will then address the actions DEA is taking, in cooperation with State, local, and
other federal law enforcement agencies, to eliminate these threats and protect
the citizens of California’s northern counties.
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1. The Drug Situation in Northern California
Methamphetamine

Methamphetamine production, trafficking, and abuse pose the most
serious drug threat in Northern California. Methamphetamine production via
clandestine laboratories and methamphetamine trafficking are largely controlled
by Mexican groups operating large laboratories in both California-and Mexico.
As these organizations produce the bulk of the drug, it is worth noting how they
rose to such a prominent position in the methamphetamine trade.

Traffickers based in Mexico have had a long history of involvement in
polydrug production and smuggling. For years, these powerful and violent
groups produced and smuggled marijuana and heroin into the United States,
dominating the heroin trade in the Southwest and Midwest regions of the nation.
During the early 1990's, the Cali drug mafia reached an accommodation with
trafficking groups based in Mexico who agreed to transport multi-ton quantities of
cocaine into the United States. At first, transporters from Mexico were paid in
cash, but eventually they negotiated to be paid in cocaine, which they distributed
themselves within the United States. This series of changes in the cocaine trade,
along with the arrest of the powerful Cali leaders in 1995 and 1996, greatly
strengthened the organizations in Mexico.

The increased power and sophistication of the Mexican traffickers led
these groups to seek to dominate all phases of the methamphetamine trade.
Because methamphetamine is a synthetic drug created from a mixture of
chemicals, traffickers based in Mexico did not have to rely on traffickers in other
nations to provide products such as coca or finished cocaine for distribution.
These Mexico based groups initiailly had ready access to precursor chemicals on
the international market. There were less restrictive chemical controls in Mexico
and overseas than in the United States, and this allowed the organizations to
produce large quantities of high purity methamphetamine in clandestine
laboratories in both Mexico and California. In recent years, with the growth of
DEA led international efforts to control the flow of bulk ephedrine and pseudo-
ephedrine, Mexican traffickers have had to turn to tableted forms of these
precursors in order to manufacture their product. Now, these organizations
frequently buy their needed precursors from rogue chemical suppliers in the
United States. .

Ready with thousands of pounds of methamphetamine produced in
laboratories in Mexico and California, these methamphetamine organizations
exploited their polydrug distribution networks already in place throughout the
United States. These groups are responsible for the majority of the
methamphetamine available in this country.
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While the vast majority of methamphetamine available in the United States
is produced and trafficked by the Mexican groups that operate large laboratories
both in California and in Mexico, domestic production of methamphetamine by
United States citizens is also a significant problem. The production level of these
laboratories, often makeshift and described as “mom and pop” operations, is
relatively low; however, the large number of such laboratories, and the
environmental and safety hazards each represents, make these types of
methamphetamine laboratories a primary law enforcement concern.

Methamphetamine is a very simple drug fo produce. A usercangoto
retail stores and easily purchase the vast majority of the ingredients necessary fo
manufacture the drug. ltems such as rock salt, battery acid, red phosphorous
road flares, pool acid, and iodine crystals can substitute for some of the
necessary chemicals. Precursor chemicals such as pseudoephedrine can be
extracted from common, over-the-counter cold medications. A clandestine
laboratory operator can use relatively common items such as mason jars, coffee
filters, hot plates, pressure cookers, pillowcases, plastic tubing, gas cans, etc., to
substitute for sophisticated laboratory equipment. Unlike fentanyl, LSD, or other
types of dangerous drugs, it does not take a college-educated chemist to
produce methamphetamine. In fact, less than ten percent of those suspects
arrested for the manufacture of methamphetamine are trained chemists. This
may be one reason there are so many fires, explosions, and injuries in
clandestine iaboratory incidents. :

Although the majority of these laboratories produce relatively smali
amounts of methamphetamine, the proliferation of this type of laboratory has
imposed terrible burdens on law enforcement agencies, The threats posed by
clandestine laboratories are not limited to drug abuse, fire, explosion, noxious
fumes, and booby traps; the hazardous wastes generated by these laboratories
also pose a serious danger to the nation’ s envircnment. Each pound of
methamphetamine produced in a clandestine laboratory generates up to five
pounds of foxic waste. Clandestine laboratory operators routinely dump these
wastes into backyards, open fields, or sewage systems to cover up the evidence
of their illegal operations. Traffickers have indiscriminately created thousands of
toxic waste sites. The poisonous sludge from these sites seeps into streams,
rivers, and drinking water sources. :

The highly toxic and flammable chemicals involved make these
rudimentary laboratories ticking time bombs requiring specialized and expensive
clean-ups. DEA is pleased to have certified thousands of the nation’s state and
local law enforcement officers after providing instruction on how to raid and
dismantle clandestine laboratories, and to have provided funds for cleaning up
these laboratory sites. DEA records indicate that the cost of clandestine
laboratory cleanups range from $500 to $5,000 each, depending on the size of
the laboratory. :
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While methamphetamine is not an entirely new problem in the United
States, about six years ago an upsurge in methamphetamine trafficking and
abuse began taking hold in many regions of the nation, starting here on the West
Coast. DEA statistics indicate that in 1993, DEA seized a total of 218
methamphetamine laboratories. Current DEA statistics indicate that in 1999,
DEA alone seized 1,948 clandestine laboratories and that the fotal number of
laboratories seized by Federal, state and local law enforcement officers
nationwide was over 6,400, (Note that more than 99 percent of all 6,400
clandestine laboratories seized nationwide were producing methamphetamine.)

In just the Eastern District of California, preliminary Western States
Information Network (WSIN) data shows 486 laboratories were seized in 1999.
This total includes nine laboratories seized in Shasta County, 14 in Sacramento
County, 18 in Sutter County, 21 in Yuba County, and 32 in Butte County.

The production capabilities of these laboratories varies considerably. The
larger, Mexico-based trafficking organization laboratories operating in the State
can often produce 20 or more pounds of methamphetamine. Most of the local
clandestine laboratories usually produce less than one pound per process.

Many of the small clandestine laboratories manufacture
methamphetamine using the sodium ammonia or “Nazi” method. The “Nazi”
formula of methamphetamine production uses ephedrine/pseudoephedrine
reduction, as well as sodium or lithium metal, and other dangerous chemicals
such as anhydrous ammonia in the process. Sodium metal poses an extreme
fire hazard, and will ignite upon contact with water. This production technique
has spread throughout the country and accounts for 20 percent of the fotal
methamphetamine faboratories seized by DEA.

A key to the success of methamphetamine manufacturers is of course the
continued supply of pseudoephedrine, other precursor chemicals, and glassware.
Major "rogue” chemical houses located in Northern California have typically
supplied these materials. These companies have been responsible for tens of
millions of dollars in sales of chemicals and glassware to laboratory operators
throughout Northern and Central California. DEA has conducted investigations
that have resulted in successful criminal and civil cases against several of these
suppliers and continues to investigate others.

‘Meanwhile, pseudoephedrine tablets remain readily available in Northern
California. Indications are that small liquor stores, gas stations, and "mom and
pop" grocery stores are one conduit for the movement of pseudoephedrine
tablets. Several family-based organizations, with known ties to
methamphetamine manufacturers and traffickers, own a number of such small
businesses. These families are earning millions of dollars from their “back door”
sales of pseudoephedrine to Mexico-based trafficking organizations and local
methamphetamine producers.
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Methyl Suifone ("MSM”) and Dimethyl Sulfone (“DMSO2") products, sold
by chemical suppliers, veterinary distributors, and feed stores, are used by
methamphetamine manufacturers as a cutting agent in illicit methamphetamine
production. Their recent reliance on these ingredients may reflect difficulties they
are experiencing in securing preferred supplies. One consequence of the use of
these cutting agents has been recent, wide fluctuations in methamphetamine
purities,

DEA's Office of Diversion Control is cautiously optimistic that precursor
chemical controls, combined with aggressive local law enforcement efforts in
chemical interdiction, have produced positive results. Nationally, the average
purity of methamphetamine exhibits seized by DEA has dropped from 60.5
percent in 1995 to 27.2 percent in May 1999.

Recent information suggests that outlaw motorcycle gangs, most notably
the Hells Angels, are producing their own methamphetamine rather-than relying
upon the Mexican organizations. This is primarily due to the fluctuations in purity

of the methamphetamine supplied by the Mexican groups.

Despite the recent, dramatic variations in purity levels, supplies of
methamphetamine have not decreased. Supply (and demand) has surged so
much in recent years that methamphetamine can be said o be the “drug of
choice” among the majority of illicit drug users in Northern California. Currently,
methamphetamine prices range from $4,000 to $8,000 per pound or $500 to
$600 per ounce. Quality still varies widely. Purities generally range from 10 to
100 percent for pound quantities and eight to 47 percent for ounce quantities.

Finished methamphetamine, whether produced in the State or in Mexico,.
is shipped throughout California and the nation. Nationwide, law enforcement
methamphetamine seizures have increased sharply since 1995. DEA’s
Sacramento District Office has taken hundreds of pounds of methamphetamine
off the streets since 1995. Nationwide, DEA has arrested thousands of people
for manufacturing or trafficking methamphetamine. DEA methamphetamine
related arrests for 1999 totaled 8,783. Of those, 742 arrests were made in
Central and Northern California by DEA’s San Francisco Field Division (SFFD).
At the SFFD’s most northern office, the Sacramento District Office, more than 57
percent of all 1999 arrests were related to methamphetamine.

A significant number of methamphetamine seizures and arrests are made
along California’s major highways, particularly the interstate-5 and Interstate-80
cortidors. DEA’s Sacramento Transportation Interdiction Narcotics Group
(STING), a narcotics transportation interdiction unit, focuses on traffickers
exploiting these corridors. This enforcement group has seized more than 412
pounds of methamphetamine, enough for 37.4 million dosage units of the drug, in
just under four years of operation. The STING has also arrested 404 drug
couriers and seized nearly $1.5 million in drug tainted currency.



99

Both this trafficking and the abuse of methamphetamine generate an
intolerable amount of violence within our communities. Many under the influence
of the drug, including those going through withdrawal, have turned violent. Who
can forget the live television footage of a paranoid methamphetamine addict who
stole a tank from a National Guard armory and went on a car crushing rampage
in the San Diego area? Another methamphetamine addict in New Mexico
beheaded his son after experiencing hallucinations in which he believed his son
was Satan. These are the more outlandish examples. Much more common are
the thousands of incidents of domestic and child abuse prompted by one
person’s methamphetamine habit. For instance, advocates for children remind
us that substance abuse, and in particular methamphetamine abuse, puts young
children in danger. Consider the tragic case of Rebecca Meza, the two year old
baby from Sacramento, who was drowned by her mother’s boyfriend, a
methamphetamine addict. Both the boyfriend and the mother (who also used
methamphetamine) were charged with the baby's murder. Then there are also
the theft crimes and violent acts committed by addicts to obtain money to
purchase more of the drug. Finally, there is the violence propagated by
traffickers as they conduct their illicit business. This happens at all leveis of
trafficking, but is most noticeable at the street level. Local, violent gangs often
engage in the street trafficking of methamphetamine. For instance, DEAis
investigating members of several methamphetamine trafficking street gangs
operating in the Sacramento region. These gangs are also being targeted by the
Treasury Department’s Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms for trafficking
in automatic weapons.

In addition to the threat posed by methamphetamine manufactured locally
and in Mexico, there is a more recent potential threat of methamphetamine
manufactured in Asia. DEA is involved in an investigation of an international
drug trafficking organization based in Thailand transporting multi-hundred pound
quantities of herain, methamphetamine, and opium into Canada for further
shipment into the United States. Just recently, a Northern Californian police
department seized methamphetamine tablets with markings matching tablets
seized in Thailand by Thai law enforcement officials. These markings have been
linked to this international organization. The tablets tested approximately 20
percent pure methamphetamine by weight. DEA’s Bangkok Country Office
reports that over the last year, Thai authorities have seized over five tons of
methamphetamine tablets. Sources indicate that Asian frafficking groups may be
in the initial stages of attempting to facilitate the trafficking of methamphetamine
tablets throughout the United States, initially focusing on California’s Central
Valley and other regions experiencing widespread methamphetamine use.

Marijuana

Marijuana cultivation and trafficking is flourishing in Northern California.
The region is ripe with indoor and outdoor grows producing high grade sinsemilla
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and commercial grade marijuana. There is also the continuing influx of
marijuana imported from Mexico.

This production and trafficking of marijuana has been propelled, in part, by
passage in 1996 of California Proposition 215 {"The Compassionate Use Act of
1996"). Many marijuana traffickers have claimed protection from prosecution
under this law, despite the fact that under federal iaw, where marijuana is listed
as a schedule | drug, there is no basis to distinguish "medical” marijuana
trafficking from marijuana trafficking generally. Marijuana trafficking is a violation
of federal law.

The good news is that this legal and political conundrum offers only some
protection to small growers. Generally, federal, state, and local officials do seize
plants and arrest and prosecute individuals where the grows are clearly criminal
in scope and purpese.

The bad news is that this whole situation has been viewed as a “green
light” for many growers and distributors in California who recognize a reduced
risk in cultivating and trafficking marijuana. Consequently, marijuana is more
available than ever throughout all of California. Production is especially
flourishing in Northern California, long the home of many of the State's largest
marijuana grows. Local traffickers are involved in the trade, as are Mexican
nationals who manage fields of marijuana for their Mexico-based trafficking
organizations. Street-level distributors sell the high quality domestic marijuana,
the lower potency Mexican variety, or sometimes imports from Canada.

Indoor and outdoor grows are found throughout Northern California. DEA
helps fund and is a participant inthe Campaign Against Marijuana Planting
{CAMP) program in California. In just 1999, CAMP eradicated over 3,500 indoor
and outdoor marijuana grows, destroyed 908,468 marijuana plants, seized
205,228 pounds of processed marijuana, made 1,667 arrests, and took 1,428
weapons off the sitreets. Many of these grows were located in Northern
Califarnia, including 432 in Humboldt County, 406 in Glenn County, 215 in
Mendocino County, 53 in Tehema County, 53 in Butte County, 50 in El Dorado
County, 43 in Placer County, 33 in Shasta County, 26 in Del Norte County, and
15 in Amador County.

Currently, the price of California grown, seedless cannabis (sinsemilia) is
approximately $2,500 per pound, or $200 to $600 per ounce. Delta-9-
tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) is regarded as the active ingredient in marijuana.
The THC content for this sinsemilla ranges from three to 20 percent, but
generally falls between ten and 20 percent. Supplies of Mexican marijuana
dominate the market in the eastern portion of the State. Here, Mexican
marijuana prices have fallen to as low as $250 to $400 per pound. THC levels
usually reach no more than eight percent.
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DEA continues to investigate significant marijuana trafficking organizations
operating within the State. In the three years from 1997 to 1999, DEA's San
Francisco Field Division seized more than 7,500 pounds of processed marijuana
and tens of thousands of marijuana plants from traffickers. In just 1999, the
Division arrested 126 individuals on marijuana cultivating or trafficking charges.
Most of these seizures and arrests took place in Northern California.

In an effort to deal with the recent upsurge in marijuana trafficking, DEA’s
San Francisco Fleld Division recently created an enforcement group dedicated
exclusively to marijuana investigations. This enforcement group will concentrate
its efforts in California’s northern counties.

Violence initiated by marijuana cultivators and traffickers is a growing
concern. Outdoor cultivation sites are often booby-trapped to ward off
competitors and law enforcement. DEA has noted a rise in the number of
“gardens” that are guarded by individuals possessing firearms. This is especially
true of the outdoor cultivation sites managed by individuals working for the
trafficking groups based in Mexico.

Cocaine

With the soaring popularity of the cheaper methamphetamine, some
experts just a few years ago heralded the demise of cocaine in Northern and
Central California. These predictions were overstated. While methamphetamine
clearly has eclipsed cocaine as the drug of choice, there has been a recent
resurgence in the demand and supply of cocaine and crack cocaine.

Today, cocaine is readily available in much of Northern California.
Traffickers are selling cocaine in kilogram quantities, selling both pure and cut
cocaine. Prices range from $16,000 to $21,000 per kilogram, or $600 to $800
per ounce, at purities of 40 to 85 percent. Crack cocaine is also readily available
throughout the region. Crack sells for $15,500 to $20,000 per kilogram, or $500
to $950 per ounce.

In Northern California, cocaine is trafficked primarily by drug organizations
based in Mexico. There is some direct involvement by Colombia-based groups.
The cocaine available in Sacramento and the northern counties is primarily being
transshipped from Mexico to Northern California via the Los Angeles basin.

Much of this drug traffic moves along California’s parallel Interstate-5 and
Highway 99 corridors. Some cocaine base and crack cocaine is stored at local
distributors’ and street dealers’ residences, businesses, or local storage facilities
along these routes. Some of the cocaine is destined for the Pacific Northwest:
some is headed east, often along Interstate-80, to the Midwest and East Coast.
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For example, DEA Special Agents recently seized approximately four kilograms
of cocaine and arrested two individuals transporting cocaine via a Greyhound
bus. These traffickers were en route from Los Angeles to Tacoma and Seattle,
Washington. ) .

The Sacramento region is infested with numerous multi-kilogram cocaine
trafficking organizations shipping cocaine through the area. DEA’s Sacramento
Transportation Interdiction Narcotics Group (STING), the narcotics transportation
interdiction unit, has seized more than 325 pounds of cocaine in just under four
years of operation. Seizures for the DEA’s Sacramento District Office amount fo
nearly 500 pounds for the time period 1997 to 1999, The Office arrested 178
individuals for cocaine trafficking during those three years.

Like with methamphetamine, the trafficking and the abuse of cocaine and
especially crack cocaine, generate significant spates of viclence within our
communities. Many who abuse the drug have become abusive. Many must
steal to obtain money to purchase the drug. Finally, there is the violence
perpetuated by traffickers as they fight for turf to conduct their iilicit business.
Again, this happens at all levels of trafficking, but is most noticeable at the street
level. Local, violent gangs often engage in the street trafficking of crack cocaine
and cocaine. For instance, DEA, with its state and local law enforcement
partners, is currently investigating members of violent gangs actively involved in
distributing crack cocaine in Northern California.

Heroin

There is a persistent market for Mexican black tar heroin in Northern
California. Black tar is the dominate type of heroin trafficked in the region;
Southeast Asian, Southwest Asian, and Colombian heroin are rarely
encountered.

Black tar heroin is usually trafficked by organizations based in Mexico.
Much of the black tar heroin is thought to originate in Apatzingan, in the State of
Michoacan, Mexica, where heroin processing laboratories are believed to exist.
Sacramento and other Northern California cities are destination and
transshipment points for this heroin as it moves up north from Mexico and
Southern California.

Much of the black tar heroin is transported by passenger vehicles up the
State’s Central Valley via Interstate-5 or Highway 99. Some of this heroin is
destined for the Pacific Northwest. For example, DEA Special Agents stationed
in Sacramento recently seized approximately three pounds of Mexican tar heroin
and arrested two individuals fransporting the heroin from Los Angeles to
- Portland, Oregon. Many of the dealers trafficking in heroin also deal in other
drugs, notably methamphetamine.
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In the past, black tar heroin couriers typically carried only ounce quantities
of heroin. More recently, couriers have been found to be in possession of more
than pound quantities of the drug. DEA’s Sacramento Transportation Interdiction
Narcotics Group has seized more than 33 pounds of black tar heroir in just under
four years of operation. Seizures for the DEA’s Sacramento District Office
amount to nearly 60 pounds for the period 1997 to 1899. The Office arrested 47
individuals for heroin frafficking during those three years.

The price for an ounce of black tar heroin ranges from $600 to $1,800, at
purity levels ranging from six to 80 percent.

Like with cocaine and methamphetamine, the abuse and trafficking of
heroin has generated violence within our communities. Some who abuse the
drug must steal to obtain their next fix. Oftentimes this involves an assault or
other violence. There is also the violence perpetuated by traffickers. Again, this
happens at all levels of rafficking, but is most noticeable as pushers and gangs
vie for their piece of the street market.

In addition to the threat posed by black tar heroin {rafficking, there is an
emerging concemn over the import of opium from Southeast Asia. Between
January 1998 and July 1999, more than one ton of opium in or destined for
Northern California was seized. The majority of these seizures were made from
parcels originating in Laos or Thailand and sent to California addresses in
Redding, Madera, West Sacramento, and other Northern California cities. This
appears to have been a well organized operation, likely executed by several
central players. The primary traffickers appear to be U.8. citizens or residents of
ethnic Thai, Lac, Hmong, or Mien heritage.

Other Dangerous Drugs

Other drugs threaten the livelihoods and lives of people residing in the
northern counties. Supplies of L8D are available in Northern California. The
increasing popularity of this drug among youth remains a significant concern.
The drug appears to remain popular because of its relatively low cost, the ease
of concealment, and the false perception (parficularly among youth) that its use is
not dangerous. There is also abuse of MDMA (or “Ecstasy”) and Gamma-
Hydroxy Butyrate (GHB), especially at "Rave" parties. Psilocybin mushrooms
and other types of illicit drugs occasionally surge in popularity,

2. DEA’s Efforts to Curb Drug Trafficking in Northern California

DEA's goal is to disrupt and ultimately dismantle the major drug trafficking
organizations operating in Northern California. 'We will focus our energies

10
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foremost on the burgeoning plague posed by methamphetamine, while
continuing to target marijuana, cocaine, and heroin trafficking organizations. In
pursuing this goal, DEA will continue to work closely with other federal, state and
local law enforcement agencies through the Organized Crime Drug Enforcement
Task Force (OCDETF), the Central Valley High Intensity Drug Trafficking Area
(HIDTA), and state and local task forces. In particular, we will continue our close
cooperation with California’s Bureau of Narcotic Enforcement (BNE).

Our paramount concern is-the blight posed by methamphetamine
production and trafficking. DEA wiil continue to pursue methamphetamine
manufacturers and traffickers operating in the narthern counties. Parallel to
these efforts, the Sacramento District Office’s Clandestine Labaratory Task Force
and the Diversion Group will continue the aggressive targsting of major rogue
chemical supply houses and pseudoephedrine suppliers operating in Northern
California.

We are encouraged by the recent, unprecedented $225,000 civil penalty
and permanent injunction stipulated judgement against CW. Brower, Inc., a major
Central Valley distributor of pseudoephedrine, and its owner. This case is the
first in the country to impose a lifetime ban on distribution of chemicals and
equipment, and is also the largest civil penaity case ever against a distributor
who sold pseudoephedrine to the public.

In cooperation with the Eastern District of California United States
Attorney’s Office, DEA will continue our feadership role in the multi-agency
Methamphetamine Strategy Committee. All of our methamphetamine efforts are
coordinated as part of the National Methamphetamine Strategy and a statewide
strategy formulated by DEA, BNE, the U.S. Attorney's Offices, and other federal,
state, and local agencies. We will continue to be active members of the
California Precursor Chemical Committee.

DEA will continue to target and investigate indoor-and outdoor grows
throughout the northern counties of California. The new enforcement group
dedicated to marijuana investigations will spearhead these investigations. These
efforts will involve close coordination and cooperation with our state and local
partners through the Campaign Against Marijuana Planting (CAMP) and other
programs.

DEA's continuing efforts to reduce the threat posed by cocaine and crack
cocaine in Northern California involves identifying, targeting, and dismantling the
transportation cells moving cocaine throughout the territory. DEA will continue to
use its narcotics transportation interdiction unit, the Sacramento Transportation
Interdiction Narcotics Group, along with other investigative assets to identify and
target these cocaine trafficking organizations. ‘

11
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DEA will continue to target and investigate organizations trafficking black
tar heroin or producing or selling LSD, MDMA, or other dangerous drugs.

DEA specifically targets drug related violence through our Mobile
Enforcement Team (MET) Program. The MET is a special DEA enforcement
group trained to assist local communities in fighting drug related violence. DEA
has advertised the MET program to locai law enforcement officials in each of
California’s northern counties and is prepared to respond to a community’s call
for assistance. Already, the MET has been deployed to Yuba County. This three
month deployment, which concluded on July 2, 1999, resulted in the arrest of 26
individuals, the seizure of seven and one-half pounds of methamphetamine, 25
pounds of processed marijuana, smail quantities of cocaine and heroin, and nine
weapons.

12
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Mr. MicA. Thank you.

And we will suspend questions until we have heard from our
final witness, which is Mr. Paul Seave. He is the U.S. attorney in
the Eastern District of California. Welcome. We recognize you.

STATEMENT OF PAUL SEAVE, U.S. ATTORNEY, EASTERN
DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

Mr. SEAVE. We are the 10th largest by size; we are the 8th larg-
est by population. And perhaps surprisingly, we have the 17th
worst crime rate among the four judicial districts. In California, we
have the worst crime rate among the four in the State.

I would like to briefly outline the methamphetamine problem
which others have mentioned, and then highlight two of the var-
ious strategies that we are pursuing to respond to the meth prob-
lem here.

Meth poses the primary drug threat in California and almost
every State west of the Mississippi. Historically, as has been men-
tioned, meth use was found primarily in California produced by
outlaw motorcycle gangs within the State. Approximately 6 years
ago, however, poly drug organizations in Mexico moved into this
market. They possessed the resources to finance and staff meth-
amphetamine laboratories that could produce quantities far in ex-
cess of the multi-gram and pound laboratories of the past. These
super labs can manufacture 10 pounds, 50 pounds and even 100
pounds of methamphetamine per production session. It is esti-
mated that well over half, perhaps as much as 75 percent of the
methamphetamine used nationally is manufactured in California.
These super labs are located primarily in the southern half of this
district and the Los Angeles area.

Not surprisingly, California is now referred to by law enforce-
ment across the Nation as the source country for methamphet-
amine. California’s methamphetamine is primarily manufactured
with chemicals purchased domestically from American businesses.
The main precursor chemical is pseudoephedrine. This chemical,
which is also a main ingredient in over-the-counter allergy and cold
tablets is imported from Europe, India and China by large East
Coast companies, manufactured into pills and then sold to whole-
salers across the United States. These wholesalers in turn sell to
retailers such as small convenience and liquor stores, and these re-
tailers sell cases of these pills to the operators of the methamphet-
amine laboratories. The wholesalers also mail cases of these pills
directly to meth traffickers.

Alarmingly, the quantity of pseudoephedrine imported into the
United States has nearly tripled between 1990 and 1996. Meaning
that unless the citizens of this country are tripling the incidence
of colds and allergies, we have a pretty good idea that all the
pseudoephedrine is going to meth labs and to meth users in the
United States.

I would like to highlight two aspects of our anti-meth strategy.
The first has been to focus on the businesses that distribute
pseudoephedrine and other chemicals to the manufacturers of
meth. Criminal prosecution of these businesses requires proof of in-
tent. For example, that the defendant knew or had reasonable
cause to believe that the chemicals would be used to manufacture
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methamphetamine. Prosecuting these businesses civilly requires a
lesser quantum of proof, such as that the defendant distributed the
chemicals with reckless disregard for the illegal uses to which they
would be put, or that the defendant failed to report a suspicious
transaction, or that the defendant failed to document the pur-
chaser’s identity. It is important to remember that such enforce-
ment actions, criminal or civil, can be difficult because those who
sell these legal chemicals for illegal purposes go to great lengths to
enhance their appearance as legitimate business people. Notwith-
standing these difficulties, experience has convinced us that pros-
ecuting a chemical trafficker reduces methamphetamine production
and distribution to a far greater degree than the traditional pros-
ecution of those operating clandestine labs. Indeed, the price of
pills containing pseudoephedrine has skyrocketed since we imple-
mented this strategy and the purity level of meth has plummeted.

And I might just mention that right now in Federal court in this
district, there are two trials going on. These are the two most sig-
nificant cases that we have charged to date in this area.

A second aspect of our strategy has been to enhance our capacity
to collect drug-related intelligence from the more than 100 police
agencies in this district, to analyze that information, and to make
that information and analysis available to all agencies. For exam-
ple, it is critical that law enforcement comprehensively collect dis-
carded pill bottles from meth labs and dump sites, determine the
distributors of those bottles, and notify the distributors so that they
can take preventive measures or face future enforcement action.
This is a resource intensive and complex project requiring the par-
ticipation and coordination of numerous agencies. We are well on
our way to implementing that strategy.

In conclusion, methamphetamine, unlike most other illegal
drugs, is produced primarily within our borders and primarily
within our State. This means that the so-called legitimate busi-
nesses that supply the chemicals needed by meth manufacturers
are within the reach of U.S. law enforcement. We are now focusing
on these businesses and thus far we have met with some success.
Again, thank you for allowing me to address you, and I look for-
ward to any questions you may have.

Mr. MicA. Thank you. And we will start with some questions.

First, Mr. Scott, did you have to leave early?

Mr. ScortT. I'll have to depart here soon.

Mr. MicA. OK. Well hopefully we will be through by that time.
I just wanted to make certain that we didn’t detain you. I have
some questions. First of all, on the expansion of the HIDTA, you
have a current request in for what? $2.5 million for the existing
HIDTA?

Mr. RuzzZAMENTI. The existing HIDTA, currently the budget will
be $1.487 million for 2000. We have not put in our 2001 request
yet. I have been advised by ONDCP though that next year’s fund-
ing will be level funding and not to anticipate any more than we
got this year unless there is another enhancement, in which case
we could get more than the $1.4.

Mr. MiIcA. And you are saying it takes somewhere in the range
of $2.5 million to operate just the HIDTA that you have now ade-
quately?
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Mr. RuzzAMENTI. That is ONDCP’s estimate.

Mr. MicA. Right. I mean for your side of it. Are you requesting
$1.4 and getting $1.4, or are you requesting more?

Mr. RuzzaMENTI. Well, I would anticipate that what—logistically
the way we would do this is we will put in the request because we
have been mandated by ONDCP to request level funding of $1.4.
Anﬁl then I will do a supplemental requesting that additional $1
million.

Mr. MicA. Describe for me how you are spending the money that
you are getting. Is there administrative costs and is it distributed
to the different agencies? How is it broken down?

Mr. RuzzAMENTI. Currently, we have three enforcement initia-
tives. One in Bakersfield, one in Fresno and one in Modesto. And
they are all enforcement methamphetamine task forces that are in-
volved in complex methamphetamine

Mr. MicA. Are they getting money?

Mr. RuzZAMENTI. They are getting money.

Mr. MicA. How much of the $1.4?

Mr. RuzZAMENTI. They get right now roughly $200,000 and some
each. It varies from——

Mr. Mica. OK. That times three is $600,000 or $700,000.

Mr. RUZZAMENTI. It is about $750,000.

Mr. MicA. OK. Where is the balance going?

Mr. RuzzaMENTI. Then we have the intelligence task force in
Sacramento.

Mr. MicA. How much?

Mr. RUZZAMENTI. It is getting about the same, about $250,000.

Mr. MicA. OK. We are up to $1 million. The balance?

Mr. RuzzaMENTI. And then the balance, we are setting up an in-
telligence center in Fresno which will coordinate the intelligence
amongst the HIDTA activities going on in the other initiatives.
That is being set up and that again is about another $250,000 for
this year’s funding. And then the rest is administrative and oper-
ational funding.

Mr. MicA. Are there any amounts of money going to the individ-
ual sheriff's departments for employing additional personnel?

Mr. RuzzZaMENTI. No, not at this time. We have funding going to
the sheriff’s departments to pay for overtime.

Mr. MicA. Well, you’ve heard that Sheriff Denney says that he
just doesn’t want to send more folks to another task force and
meetings and deplete what he has now. If we expand this, we are
going to need additional money and we don’t want to divide this
up to a lesser amount. Sheriff Shadinger has spoken about his only
help is the Burn Grant.

Mr. SHADINGER. The Burn Grant is how we operate. There is no
general fund money in small counties. That is the problem.

Mr. Mica. OK.

Mr. SHADINGER. And if I could just make a comment?

Mr. MicA. Go ahead.

Mr. SHADINGER. In talking with a couple of Central Valley sher-
iffs that are already participating in the Central Valley HIDTA,
they are at a point where they know it is going to cost them money
now out of their budget.

Mr. MicA. To participate in that.
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Mr. SHADINGER. The $1.4 is not adequate. If I didn’t make it
clear before, I don’t want to encroach upon that $1.4. We need ad-
ditional money for it to be expanded.

Mr. MicA. Mr. Bruce, you described and I have heard described
today that a lot of the trafficking in meth and other substances is
coming out of Mexico. What are we doing to stop this stuff before
it reaches our borders?

Mr. BRUCE. Again, a lot of that addresses our situation now in
terms of resources. Because over the last few years, between the
governments Southwest Border Initiative and the Caribbean Initia-
tive, a great many of our resources at DEA have been dedicated to
those initiatives. And I think we are

Mr. Mica. Have you remained level in funding and personnel or
increased? Give me a snapshot over the last 4 or 5 years?

Mr. BRUCE. Well, DEA has gotten substantial——

Mr. MicA. Your resources here.

Mr. BRUCE. Here in the division?

Mr. MicA. Yes.

Mr. BRUCE. Virtually been flat. Some increases, very small in-
creases.

Mr. MicA. So we are going tomorrow to San Diego and do a bor-
der hearing followup to this hearing. So I will be anxious to see
where the resources are. Finally, Mr. Seave, what priority do you
place as far as your district here on the drug enforcement prosecu-
tion? And what are we doing at the Federal level to curtail the
problem that we could be doing better? I believe we have the role,
first of all, of stopping the stuff before it ever gets to the border
and then tough prosecution. Is prosecution a high priority and
what aren’t we doing?

Mr. SEAVE. Yes. Prosecution of meth in particular is probably the
top priority of our office. I know we prosecute more meth cases
than any other U.S. attorneys offices and we get the highest sen-
tences.

Mr. Mica. What could we do to do a better job at the Federal
level to help bring the situation under control?

Mr. SEAVE. As far as resources go, I would harken back to what
everyone on the panel has said. We need more DEA agents in this
district, and particularly in northern California. This district rel-
ative to the rest of the country is significantly underserved if you
measure the agents by agents per population or agents per number
of cases brought and so forth. So as far as resources go, at the Fed-
eral level that is what I would like to see.

From a tactical level, what we are starting to do again is to go
after the people who sell these chemicals.

Mr. MicA. Are the laws adequate in that regard? Federal law,
particularly with some of the precursors or chemicals used in pro-
duction of methamphetamine?

Mr. SEAVE. I believe that the laws are adequate. What we need
more resources or more effort focused on, is tracking the chemicals
when they hit the border or when they hit the East Coast and
where they go from there—how you track them and where are they
going—so we can more effectively focus our enforcement efforts.
Stopping chemicals and drugs coming across the border is very,
very difficult. But the beauty so-called of meth is that it is being
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produced here. And that is why going after the chemical people
strikes me as the most effective strategy. I mean, they are here.
And if we can track them more effectively than we do now, and we
are trying to do as good a job as we can, we can drive up the price
even more than we have now.

Mr. MicA. Thank you. Mr. Ose.

Mr. OsE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. If I may diverge for a mo-
ment. I want to make sure I recognize one gentleman who has al-
ready left, but also one who has joined us. Sheriff Blanas from Sac-
ramento County joined us for a few minutes and unfortunately he
had to go on. Also the District Attorney of Yolo County is here, Mr.
Dave Henderson. Dave, thanks for joining us.

I wanted to highlight for the record that when the issue of the
Central Valley HIDTA came up, up and down my particular dis-
trict and I am sure in Wally’s, there was an immediate response
from my sheriffs as to we would like to be included. And the ques-
tion became one of funding. And the thing I wanted to highlight
was that without exception from north to south, every one of my
sheriffs said if all we have got is enough money to set up one in
the nine counties, what became the Central Valley HIDTA, we
need to do that. We need to not let perfect be the enemy of the
good. And without exception from north to south, even those who
aren’t here, spoke out with let’s get the Central Valley HIDTA set
up. So I want to particularly pay my respects to the gentlemen
here because they were very vocal about that as well as their col-
leagues.

But I am interested specifically as to what the House of Rep-
resentatives in its fiscal capacity can do to assist with creating or
expanding the current Central Valley HIDTA to address the issue.
And my rationale is as follows. As the Central Valley HIDTA comes
into existence and becomes more and more effective, those who
would otherwise traffick in methamphetamines or other things are
going to go to an area where there is less attention being paid,
which naturally would lead them further north on I-5 or 99 into
my area. When they get here, I want to be ready. I want to deal
with it now, but I don’t want to open the door if you will.

So my question again gets back to the fiscal reality we face. And
that is how do we in Congress provide—Mr. Bruce, how do we pro-
vide you the resources to address this? And my specific question is,
I think, as I understand it the current HIDTA, according to the
gentleman McCaffrey, requires $2.5 million to operate and be
staffed effectively. Is that accurate?

Mr. RUZZAMENTI. Yes.

Mr. OsE. If we were to expand that current HIDTA, what would
you need in terms of fiscal support from the Federal Government
over and above the $2.5?

Mr. RUZZAMENTI. If we in fact got $2.5 for fiscal year 2001, we
could do some limited expansion with that. In other words, we
could probably incorporate another initiative if we got a full $2.5.

Mr. OsE. In addition to the three you have at this time?

Mr. RuzzAMENTI. In addition. Realistically, it won’t be anything
extravagant. But we could probably support another initiative if we
got the full $2.5 million funding. If you are talking about all the
northern counties, then that would be significantly more appropria-
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tions. I would think just roughly you are probably looking at least
$5 million.

Mr. OSE. From the Federal Government?

Mr. RUZZAMENTI. Yes.

Mr. Ose. OK. Mr. Bruce, do you agree with that?

Mr. BRUCE. Yes, I do. One thing—and you get into the conversa-
tions of adding on initiatives to the already formed HIDTA as op-
posed to—I know that came up earlier as opposed to a totally sepa-
rate HIDTA. With that, of course, you have all the same commen-
surate administrative set-up and expenses and things, which take
a substantial amount of funding also. But my understanding is—
and I came into the process rather late when the Central Valley
HIDTA was being formed—that from the initial aspects of it as you
mentioned was that they would be all-inclusive throughout the
eastern district at the point it could be. But funding and resources
are always the bottom line. Whether it is deputies in Sutter County
or whether it is DEA agents or whether it is funding to put initia-
tives together. It all gets down to resources, and it is tough. I
mean, the competition right now is very, very tough. Whether it is
for Burn Grants or whether it is the competition I am in with 20
other domestic divisions and the foreign offices for agent resources
in my organization. It is a tough thing.

Mr. OsE. If I may, Mr. Chairman. If I understand your point ear-
lier, the $1.487 million that you have got now, you've got some
going to setting up an intelligence center and some to actual intel-
ligence in the field, three initiatives and then administrative costs.
If we expanded the HIDTA, we would not need a new intelligence
center. So that is not going to be a mirror image. So we wouldn’t
have that. We would arguably need the intelligence resources in
the field, so we might still have that quarter remaining. The ad-
ministrative costs might go up some, but not on a dollar-for-dollar
mirror. Is there administrative capacity to run an expanded
HIDTA in the Central Valley?

Mr. RUzzAMENTI. I wish I could tell you yes. Right now, we are
just setting up. So basically the entire administration of the
HIDTA is sitting here.

Mr. OSE. You are doing fine.

Mr. RuzzAMENTI. I just hired an administrative assistant who
starts to work today. So we have got that working. And we just
hired a fiscal person who just started work about a week ago. So
we are building that sort of structure. With the increase in counties
and the increase in the funding for the projects that we have going
on, that is somewhat labor intensive as far as making sure the
money is spent appropriately and audited appropriately and those
kinds of functions. So there would be additional administrative
costs, but I don’t think they would be excessive. Right now, each
initiative compartmentalized, we are looking at about $250,000,
and all that covers—this doesn’t cover it all—overtime for the po-
lice officers and the sheriffs department and some moneys for pur-
chasing evidence and paying informants, but very minimal, and
that is about it. That really is the bulk of where the money is
going. So it is somewhat of a shoestring operation.

Mr. OsEk. I appreciate your comments and I know my good friend
has questions as to who makes the decision as to whether or not
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to expand the HIDTA, assuming Congress provides the resources.
But I do not want to get away from your point, Sheriff Denney,
about providing the fiscal support rather than local resources. We
will come back to this, Mr. Chairman, if you will allow a second
round of questions. With that, I will give it back.

Mr. MicA. Thank you. I yield now to the gentleman from Indi-
ana, Mr. Souder.

Mr. SOUDER. First I wanted to say to Sheriff Denney, you have
the most interesting job title I have heard of—sheriff, coroner and
public administrator. I assume if you come to someone’s door, they
certainly hope you are coming as a public administrator.

Sheriff Parker, I had a question. In your data, you start off with
the methamphetamine seizures, but in fact you seize almost twice
that in marijuana as well as other drugs. Is the percentage of meth
increasing? Is that why you stressed that more? Why is there so
much discussion? Because in the other statistics we heard as well,
marijuana is still a greater problem than methamphetamine.

Mr. PARKER. I talked about meth because TAGMET mainly deals
with the meth problem. I didn’t even mention the amount of mari-
juana that both Glenn County and Tehema County Sheriffs De-
partment seized.

Mr. SOUDER. Well, you have in your written statement, at least,
that TAGMET agents seized 27.65 pounds of methamphetamine
and 47.65 pounds of marijuana. Even the TAGMET interdicted
twice as much marijuana.

Mr. PARKER. Yes, marijuana is a big problem in the North State.
And like I said, we have our own marijuana eradication team.

Mr. SOUDER. In addition to the TAGMET?

Mr. PARKER. Oh, yes. And so does Glenn County.

Mr. SOUDER. And is the marijuana staying the same level prob-
lem vis-a-vis methamphetamines or do you see the ratio shifting?

Mr. PARKER. Actually, I see marijuana has increased in the last
few years, and unfortunately part of that problem is probably the
teen, which has to be addressed sometime. But still we have a
major problem with methamphetamine, and it is not just being
shipped in by I-5. We have a lot of labs in our own county that
is producing it. It is a major problem.

Mr. SOUDER. Then on behalf of Indiana, I want to say that your
problem in California has unfortunately spread to the rest of the
country by implying it is a health issue, when we could probably
find a health subcomponent of tobacco and we could probably find
a health subcomponent of alcohol and we could find a health sub-
component of a number of things. By putting the term medicinal
in front of marijuana, we have really weakened our ability to com-
municate messages in the schools and elsewhere.

Mr. Scott, in your testimony, you said that from the Shasta
Interagency Narcotics Task Force that meth arrests accounted for
76 percent of arrests and that 72 percent of the kids on probation
tested positive for meth. Would marijuana have similar figures? In
your county is it a different mix?

Mr. ScorT. Well, with respect to the arrests, our sheriffs depart-
ment has the marijuana eradication team which handles the bulk
of the large growths and things of that nature. I don’t want to say
exclusively on methamphetamine, but in terms of cocaine, heroin
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and methamphetamine, there is no comparison. There is simply no
comparison between the amount of methamphetamine that it han-
dles in relation to the other “hard drugs”.

Mr. SOUDER. Mr. Ruzzamenti, if the No. 1 problem is marijuana,
why is your HIDTA only focused on methamphetamine?

Mr. RuzzaMENTI. Well, the Central Valley HIDTA is focused on
methamphetamine because that is by far and away the No. 1 prob-
lem in the nine counties that are overseen by the Central Valley
HIDTA.

Mr. SOUDER. You are saying that more people use
methamphetamines than marijuana or more arrests in those nine
counties?

Mr. RUZZAMENTI. It is a much more insidious drug as far as the
violence incurred and as far as the organization structure of the or-
ganizations that are marketing it and transporting it through the
areas. It has a more significant impact on the sheriffs departments,
both manpower and time as far as lab clean-up sites and environ-
mental hazards. It is the most significant drug in those counties
from a law enforcement standpoint.

Mr. SOUDER. Could you explain that a little more? In other
words, the potency of the meth as opposed to the potency of the
marijuana, cocaine and heroin?

Mr. RuzzaMENTI. Well, it is just a totally separate drug. Meth-
amphetamine is not only being used, but the resulting problem like
the lady was talking about endangered children. That is a problem
for the family. It is just impacting the areas in a number of dif-
ferent fashions. And that is not saying that these areas don’t have
problems with marijuana and they don’t have problems with her-
oin, because they do. But the most significant problem is meth-
amphetamine, and that is what the HIDTA is targeted to go after.
We have limited resources and we had to—decisions had to be
made and that was the decision to take it in that direction.

Mr. SOUDER. Did you say this is the only HIDTA that is tar-
geted?

Mr. RuzzAMENTI. No. The new HIDTAs that came about in fiscal
year 1999, of those I think two of them were methamphetamine
specific. And then the other ones were general in nature.

Mr. SOUDER. If you expanded this HIDTA, would you—do you
know which counties you would propose including?

Mr. RuzzAMENTI. No. We would have to sit down with each of the
sheriffs and the law enforcement administrators in the counties.
Sit down with them and see what their problems were and how we
could best——

Mr. SOUDER. I believe you made an allusion before to the fact
that the way you chose the counties you have in it were based on
the percentage of methamphetamine usage. In other words,
wouldn’t that criteria have to be there if you expanded your
HIDTA?

Mr. RuzzAMENTI. Not specific usage but the laboratories.

Mr. SOUDER. The labs.

Mr. RuzzaMENTI. The major labs are in those nine counties, as
far as the labs that are the super labs, if you will, that are produc-
ing the 100 pounds of methamphetamine at a time or 50 pounds
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of methamphetamine at a time. These kinds of super labs are pri-
marily in and around Fresno and in that area.

Mr. SOUDER. And that is the kind of criteria you would apply as
you added counties?

Mr. RuzzaMENTI. If it was to continue to be methamphetamine
specific, I think you would have to be consistent with that kind of
criteria. You would have to look at the counties consistently and
what is their methamphetamine problem.

Mr. SOUDER. And if it wasn’t methamphetamine specific, you
would have to go up to the $2.5 million base. Part of the reason
you have the $1.487 is because you are specific and not a broad
based HIDTA?

Mr. RuzzAMENTI. That is correct.

Mr. SOUDER. And so then you would have to start with a dif-
ferent base before you added the other counties.

Mr. RuzZAMENTI. Yes. Technically, I don’t know how ONDCP
would do that.

Mr. SOUDER. But you haven’t had any discussions at this point
with ONDCP about how to do that?

Mr. RuUzzaMmENTI. I have had preliminary discussions with
ONDCP as far as trying to up the ante on this thing to $2.5 mil-
lion. And in those preliminary discussions, we have indicated that
there were counties to the northern part of the State that are inter-
ested in joining the HIDTA. And that if additional funds were
available that new initiatives in the northern counties would be a
possibility.

Mr. SOUDER. Thank you. I know my time is up. Mr. Bruce, I
wanted to thank you for the specifics in your testimony. It was very
helpful and hopefully we can followup.

Mr. MicA. Thank you, gentlemen. I will recognize Mr. Herger.

Mr. HERGER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Just as a followup to
this. Mr. Ruzzamenti, if it might be possible in the next couple of
weeks, I believe the chairman indicated that we would have the
record open for questions. And it would help us very much on the
committee and as Members of Congress as far as budgeting is con-
cerned if it might be possible to perhaps give us an outline or a
skeletal budget of what you feel it might take to include Congress-
man Ose’s and my districts or the northern part of the State. It
would be very helpful to us in making recommendations.

Again, I want to thank everyone who is here. The fact that we
have so many sheriffs and so many law enforcement people and
district attorneys not only on the panel but a number who in fact
have shown up and are here in the audience this morning from
throughout our area certainly indicates how incredibly important
this issue is to us.

We are having some questions on perhaps the difference between
methamphetamine and what it does than that of marijuana, which
is also a major concern. District Attorney Scott, if I could ask you,
if I would, if you would relate. I know you have set up a pilot pro-
gram or a program that you have initiated on methamphetamine.
What have been some of your experiences on the clients, if you
will—those that you have run into as far as their disposition, those
who are on methamphetamines.
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Mr. ScotT. I think the principle thing which distinguishes meth-
amphetamine from certainly marijuana and the other drugs is the
level of violence which accompanies use of the drug. One of the sta-
tistics I included in my written presentation was that for a 4-year
period of time in Shasta County, 40 percent of our murders in-
volved some use of methamphetamine. I think that is a startling
statistic when you stop and think about it.

The second aspect of it was spoken to by Ms. Webber-Brown this
morning with respect to the drug becomes all encompassing. It lit-
erally takes over the life of the person who becomes addicted to it.
So that literally their children don’t matter to them as much as the
drug does. And those two things really stand out to me in my expe-
riences with methamphetamine. It is a startling thing to stand in
court at an arraignment of a person who has been arrested for a
methamphetamine related offense and to literally see the shell of
a human being. A person who is emaciated, sores on their body,
scratching and itching constantly, no concept of where they are or
what is going on. It really is the devil’s drug. That is what people
call it. The users call it that and it is a very appropriate title.

Mr. HERGER. So it is horrendous, as all these illegal drugs are.
Methamphetamine particularly we are seeing causing problems.
That is quite startling I think of all the murders in Shasta County
that almost half are methamphetamine related. So it certainly, I
think, would indicate a reason why we, if anything, could use a
specific program that has grown so much here in our area. How
much would an expanded HIDTA program help us in northern
California in your County of Shasta and the adjoining counties that
you are familiar with if we were to be able to do that?

Mr. ScotT. I think it would be a tremendous help. I think I
speak for most of the counties, if not all, when I say that we are
literally tapped out in terms of the use of local and State resources
to battle the methamphetamine problem. We have all applied for
grants from the State and we have all gotten grants from the State
and we have gotten the grants that we can from the Federal Gov-
ernment. And this is really the next step in our ability to do some-
thing about the problem. We have got to have a coordinated re-
sponse between all levels of government, not just the locals and the
State governments, but the feds, the State and the local govern-
ment.

One of the key things, and there are several, is the I-5 corridor.
It has been addressed here before, but one of the essential prob-
lems we have is that we literally are stopping on a daily basis drug
traffickers who are ferrying drugs to the northwest from the Bay
area and lower Central Valley and Los Angeles. We bear the cost
of the investigation, prosecution and incarceration for those persons
who are sent to State prison, when it is truly an interstate problem
that we technically under the Constitution don’t have responsibility
for. And so the expansion of the HIDTA, along with the opening of
a branch regional office of the DEA, preferably in the north state,
Redding, would really go a long ways toward tying division of the
responsibility for that interstate drug trafficking to the feds as well
as the State and locals, and really be the next step, as I said, in
what we are trying to do. We all come from communities that are
seriously devoted to doing something about this problem, and we
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need the help from the feds. Because we have taken it as far as
we can and the next level has to come from your end.

Mr. HERGER. Thank you very much for pointing that out. I know
that had been pointed out earlier. But the fact that so much of the
problem we have is really that Interstate 5 is a major corridor be-
tween Mexico, actually international, through Oregon and Wash-
ington into Canada, as well as 99, which passes up through
Marysville and Yuba City, and these corridors do tend to attract
those who would be involved in this.

And I just have to restate again the importance. I want to thank
you. I mentioned earlier just speaking with Sheriff Charlie Byrd,
who is sitting in the back. And every sheriff I talk to or law en-
forcement within our counties, this is such a major problem and
really just crying out for assistance and help to combat this. So,
again, thank you very much for your testimony. And Mr. Chairman
and members, thank you very much.

Mr. MicA. Thank you, Mr. Herger. Additional questions, Mr.
Ose?

Mr. OsE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to come back to the
two questions I have. First, and this falls to you primarily. I notice
in Mr. Ruzzamenti’s testimony that you are the chair of the Execu-
tive Committee for the Central Valley HIDTA. What I am trying
to determine is to which executive or where in the executive branch
will the decision be made as to whether or not to expand the exist-
ing Central Valley HIDTA?

Mr. SEAVE. Within ONDCP.

Mr. OSE. It would be made by General McCaffrey or some
other:

Mr. SEAVE. Someone working for General McCaffrey. That is as-
suming the funding is there.

Mr. OsE. Correct, on that assumption. Is the Executive Commit-
tee of which you are the chair of play a role in that?

Mr. SEAVE. We play a role in so far as we submit our requests
for here are some initiatives that we have and we need additional
funding. But I can assure you that every HIDTA is doing the same
thing. So the decision, as far as I can tell, comes from McCaffrey
and his staff.

Mr. Ose. OK. From your experience, could you share with us
some of the specific qualifications or requirements that our coun-
ties must establish in order to make an acceptable case for expand-
ing the current Central Valley HIDTA?

Mr. SEAVE. One of the factors that McCaffrey and his staff look
at is is this just a local problem or is this a problem that goes be-
yond the regional area and beyond the State? Is there a national
impact? As far as that goes, of course you have heard about I-5.
So this is more than simply a local problem. As a number of people
have mentioned, we anticipate that as we have success in driving
the labs out of the southern part of this district, they are going to
move to the northern part of the district. Just as they are moving
now from the Los Angeles area up to this area. I guess they have
been in business a lot longer than we have and they are having
some success. So I think that is one of the major factors that they
look at.
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Mr. OsE. Two final questions. I asked Mr. Ruzzamenti and Mr.
Bruce, I will get to you. The $2.5 million for the current Central
Valley HIDTA, are you comfortable with that for operations on an
annual basis?

Mr. SEAVE. Yes.

Mr. OseE. What number for an expanded HIDTA that might in-
clude Congressman Herger’s and my districts should we keep in
mind?

Mr. SEAVE. I think Mr. Ruzzamenti mentioned $5 million. But
equally important is the lack of DEA agents in the northern part
of the State. I think they go hand-in-hand.

Mr. OSE. Would that be part of the $5 million or would that be
on top of the $5 million?

Mr. SEAVE. That is apart from the $5 million.

Mr. OsE. And that would be how much for the DEA establish-
ment?

Mr. SEAVE. I would have to ask DEA for that.

Mr. OSE. Mr. Bruce.

Mr. BRUCE. I am not sure exactly what the formula is now per
agent cost. But that of course would be a whole separate appropria-
tion through DEA and DEA’s funding for the agents. My under-
standing on that process, the last 2 years anyway, is that our agent
increases—I have heard the number 44 this year for 2000. Those
were all congressionally mandated. So even as an agency, I don’t
think we had any choices there in where those agents went. They
were congressionally mandated for certain programs. So there is a
number of ways Congress deals with these things. Either straight
appropriation to increase the number of agents for the agency to
handle it, or congressionally mandating where those agents are
placed by virtue of giving the increases.

Mr. OSE. Generally speaking, is that $125,000 an agent or
$60,000 an agent or $200,000 an agent?

Mr. BRUCE. I would think $125,000 probably. Because you are
talking about not only obviously salary, but you are talking about
opening an office. Although we have had, even when I was in Sac-
ramento for 4 years in the late 1980’s or early 1990’s, at that point
we had invitations for agents in Redding. And I know a couple of
agencies would be more than happy to let us squat in their facili-
ties even if we had to. I would say, in talking about cars and guns
and everything that goes to equip an agent, $125,000 per agent is
probably a pretty good figure.

Mr. OSE. And that would just be the Federal share, and that
would not affect perhaps the associated costs for the local agency
interacting with DEA? That would just be the Federal per agent
number?

Mr. BRUCE. Ordinarily the way this goes—what we just did in
Modesto this last year—ordinarily what DEA does initially is open
what they call a posted duty, which are two agents. Two agents in
a posted duty. And that is the initial step. Many of those posted
duties, like in Medford, OR, for instance, which is just across the
line in Oregon, went from a posted duty and subsequently became
a resident office, which of course gets a larger facility and more
manpower. But the first step would be a posted duty probably with
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two agents assigned to—the most reasonable location, at this point
would be Redding.

Mr. Ost. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. MicA. Do you have some questions, Mr. Souder?

Mr. SOUDER. I had a couple of quick questions on methamphet-
amine itself, probably for Mr. Bruce or Mr. Ruzzamenti but any-
body else. Is this a drug that is more heavily used by adults than
kids at this point in your region? Or are the adults who are doing
the labs selling it to the kids?

Mr. BRUCE. I think from our experience, the age of methamphet-
amine abuse just gets younger and younger constantly. We are see-
ing it down into the primary grades now.

Mr. SOUDER. Is it a drug that somebody would start with mari-
juana and switch over or is it a separate track? Usually you hear
tobacco, marijuana, cocaine, heroin. How does methamphetamine
fit into this track?

Mr. BRUCE. I think it is a matter of opportunity for a lot of kids,
especially given peer pressure and the situation. I think just the
availability creates—I think we saw that in the Midwest over the
last few years. The fact of availability and an illicit substance be-
fc‘oming available. People are going to take advantage of it and traf-
ic in it.

Mr. SOUDER. But users move back and forth between it.

Mr. BRUCE. Oh, certainly.

Mr. SOUDER. In other words, it is not like it is a separate track.
Once you move into looking for artificial stimulants, you could
move in any different direction?

Mr. BRUCE. That is certainly the way I see it over 34-some years
in this business. We sometimes facetiously talk about the drug du
jour. But the situation is so dynamic and that is why I kind of pre-
sented a little bit on several of the drugs. There is no question that
methamphetamine is a major problem at this point. This too shall
change.

Mr. SOUDER. It is storming the Center Plains area, Kansas City
and St. Louis. We are still over in cocaine and heroin when you
move into the Detroit, Chicago and Indiana circle. I mean, we have
more murders related to cocaine than what I have heard here from
methamphetamine. I am from a city that is not so much larger
than anything here.

One last thing. I noticed in your data that the California mari-
juana, the THC, you estimate twice the potency of imported Mexi-
can because it is being watered down or what?

Mr. BRUCE. No. Just the way it is produced and grown.

Mr. SOUDER. So it is not like the ditch weed we would see in In-
diana?

Mr. BrUCE. Right. Highly cultivated marijuana uses a cincemia
plant, which is virtually a sterile plant. So everything goes to the
concentration of production of THC. The potencies now are prob-
ably four or five times what they were in the 1960’s or 1970’s when
both of us came on the job.

Mr. SOUDER. So we are not talking like the hippie days of the
late 1960’s when I was in college.

Mr. BRUCE. No, not at all. I am not going to say you were.

Mr. SOUDER. Not me. I have always been a square.
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Mr. BRUCE. The price was not $5,000 or $6,000 a pound either.

Mr. SOUDER. I not only didn’t inhale, I didn’t smoke. I yield back.

Mr. MicA. Thank you, Mr. Herger. I would like to take this op-
portunity to thank each of the panelists and witnesses we have had
today that are on the front line of this battle. We particularly ap-
preciate and salute your efforts. We honestly try to do the best we
can in Washington in trying to address these problems and see how
we can work in a cooperative effort. As Mr. Scott said—he is gone
now, but it does take a concerted local, State and Federal coopera-
tive effort. Much of the war on drugs as we know it was closed
down between 1993 and 1995. I inherited the responsibility from
the current Speaker, Mr. Hastert, who is a great ally and was real-
ly an initiator in getting us back to meet our Federal national re-
sponsibility to bring this situation under control. I have worked so
closely with Mr. Souder, who has been on the subcommittee with
me for some years and now joined by Mr. Ose, who has been a tire-
less supporter of our efforts, which we appreciate. Because it takes
218 votes to do this in the House of Representatives, I am pleased
with Mr. Herger’s interest in expanding the HIDTA and his sup-
port for our efforts along the way. It is very difficult in trying to
get attention focused appropriately and balanced.

I might say that I did have a chance on Friday to visit the West
Coast JATF, Joint Agency Task Force, which operates out of the
San Francisco Bay area. And they did point out that the West
Coast has been neglected in this effort, and we need to focus
through this visit and through the hearing we are doing here today
and then in southern California tomorrow on the situation here,
which appears to be very serious. You have a unique problem that
certainly warrants national attention and cooperation.

So there being no further business, Mr. Ose has requested that
the record be left open for a period of 2 weeks. And without objec-
tion, that is so ordered. We will be asking additional questions and
we can proceed for those—and I know this is a limited forum given
the constrained time requirements. In fact, our staff will be leaving
in just a few minutes to prepare for the next hearing in San Diego.
But we do welcome additional comments for the record and will
leave it open. You can contact Mr. Ose, and he will see that it is
made part of the complete record. And everything that has been
said here today and submitted will be part of a permanent record
and used by the committee and Congress hopefully in its future de-
cisionmaking in a wise fashion.
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There being no further business to come before the Criminal Jus-
tice, Drug Policy and Human Resources Subcommittee at this time,
this meeting is adjourned.

[Whereupon, the subcommittee was adjourned.]

[Additional information submitted for the hearing record follows:]
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SISKIYOU COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT

CHARLES "CHARLIE® BYRD 311 Lane Strest
Sheriff-Coroner Yreka, CA 96097-2042
{530) 842-8300

March 10, 2000 MAR T 3 000

Congressman Wally Herger

2433 Rayburn House Office Building
U. S. House of Representatives
‘Washington, D.C. 20515

Dear Congressman Herger:

As we discussed in Woodland, California on Monday, March 6, 2000, there is a need for a North
California High Intensity Drug Trafficking Area. It is imperative that Northern California be kept under
one tent when it comes to a HID.T.A. description as we all have either a methamphetamine
consumption or a production problem, or both.

As you know, Siskiyou County is the largest geographic county in Northern California and the fifth
largest in California. In the past we have had a problem with large bulky laboratories in Siskiyou County
but like any other industry, labs are now more sophisticated, compact, and mobile; therefore, they have
been spotted more in the metropolitan areas.

If we are successful in receiving a Northern California HID.T.A. designation, it should not be an
extension of the Central California H.LD.T.A. It should stand on its own and not have a checker board
effect by designating certain counties in Northern California as HID.T.A.s and others not receiving the
designation. This effect would just move the methamphetamine problem into other counties.

I say it is time for the Federal government to try and get in front of the problem and designate all

counties north of Sacramento as HI.D.T.A. recipients. Lwould request that you enter my letter into the
Congressional Record,

cc: Siskiyou County Board of Supervisors
0. J. “Bud” Hawkins, Law Enforcement Liaison
for Attorney General Bill Lockyer



